Public Document Pack
AGENDA

21 July 2020
Dear Member,
A meeting of the PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY will be held
remotely on Tuesday, 28th July, 2020 at 10.00 am when your attendance is
requested.
Yours sincerely
Julian Atkins
Chief Executive

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair
invites you to speak.
Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your
microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off.

AGENDA
ENC1

Apologies for Absence

ENC2

Chairman's Announcements

ENC3

Declarations of Interest
To receive any declarations of interest from members relating to items
on the agenda. Members’ attention is drawn to the requirement to
record their declarations verbally, specifying the nature of the interest.
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure
that you inform the Chair BEFORE leaving the meeting so
that this can be recorded in the minutes

ENC4

Minutes of last meeting (Pages 1 - 6)
To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National
Park Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on the
22nd May 2020.

Planning, Access and Rights of Way - 28 July 2020

1

ENC5

Development Control Reports for Decision
To receive a report on Non-delegated Applications

Item 1 20/18312/FUL - Site Of Former Gunpowder Works, Pontneddfechan (Pages 7 46)
Item 2 19/18163/REM - Land Off The B4246, Govilon, Abergavenny (Pages 47 - 74)
Item 3 19/17509/FUL - Glaslyn Nursing Home (Pages 75 - 102)
ENC6

Development Control Related Matters for Noting

Item 1 Delegated Report (Pages 103 - 114)
Item 2 Agricultural Notifications report (Pages 115 - 116)
Item 3 Fringe applications report (Pages 117 - 128)
Item 4 Planning Obligation Report (Pages 129 - 130)
Item 5 Commuted Sums Report (Pages 131 - 134)
Item 6 Enforcement figures June 2020 (Pages 135 - 138)
Item 7 Development Management Statistics (Pages 139 - 140)
Item 8 Development Control Related Matter For Noting (Pages 141 - 146)
ENC7

Enforcement Reports
Access to Information
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the
following item of business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to
them of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part
4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Item 1 20200728 Exemption Certificate - Enforcement Delegated Decision Report for
EA (Pages 147 - 148)
Item 2 Enforcement Report - closed Cases (Pages 149 - 170)
Item 3 Delegated Decision Report - ENF2002101ODP2 Enforcement (Pages 171 - 174)
Planning, Access and Rights of Way - 28 July 2020

2

Planning, Access and Rights of Way - 28 July 2020

3

This page is intentionally left blank

ENC4
MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING,
ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y
FFYNNON, CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY 22ND MAY 2020
PRESENT:
Powys
Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr Phil Pritchard and Cllr Ratcliffe
Monmouthshire
Cllr A Webb
Carmarthenshire
Cllr A James
Merthyr Tydfil
Cllr M Colbran
Torfaen County Borough
Cllr S Evans
Blaenau Gwent
Cllr J Hill
Rhondda Cynon Taff
Cllr G Thomas
Members appointed by the Welsh Government
Mr Julian Stedman, Mr Christopher Coppock, Canon Aled Edwards, Ms Liz Davis, Mrs Sue Holden
and Mr James Marsden
1

Apologies for Absence
Apologies were received from Cllr S McNicholas due to connectivity issues. Gllr G
Ratcliffe also advised he would have to leave the meeting at approximately 10:30am to
attend a prior engagement.

2

Chairman's Announcements

Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way

Page1 1

22 May 2020

The Chair welcomed two new members to the Authority, Ms Liz Davies and Canon Aled
Edwards, he also welcomed Ms Sue Holden as a new member to the Committee and
welcomed back Cllr Mrs Ann Webb.
He reminded those in the meeting and watching via the live stream that it is not a
requirement that we live stream these meetings but the Authority wishing to remain
transparent in its process have agreed to attempt to live stream all NPA and PAROW
meetings. If there are technical issues, a recording will later be uploaded.
He expressed thanks to all staff, including Planning and Enforcement staff for their efforts
to run as ‘normal’. Adding that he was grateful to agents and applicants alike for their
patience during this time.
The Chair asked Ms Tracy Nettleton to add to this and update all with regard to site
visits. Ms Nettleton advised with the exception of site visits we have been running the
planning service pretty much as before. She added that with the new guidance from the
Planning Inspectorate and Welsh Government we will now be undertaking site visits
following strict risk assessments using a traffic light system of how to move forward. She
stated we will be updating the website accordingly and advising Town and Community
Councils and Agents in due course.
3

Declarations of Interest
Name
Cllr G Thomas
Cllr J Hill
Cllr M Jones
Cllr P Pritchard
Cllr G Thomas

4

Enc
7
7
7
7
8

Item
1
1
3
3
1

Nature of Interest
Personal
Personal
Personal
Personal
Personal

Minutes
The Chairman was authorised to sign the amended Minutes of the Brecon Beacons
National Park Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on 11th
February 2020 as a correct record, noting that Cllr J Hill had given his apologies for the
meeting but this was not noted.
The Chairman was authorised to sign the Minutes of the Site Visit to application
19/18154/REM held on site on 10th March 2020 as a correct record.

5

Minutes of the Local Access Forum of 13th November 2019
Following an update from Mr Richard Ball, Access Officer, the minutes were noted.

6

Development Control Reports for Decision
There were no items in this section of the agenda.

7

Development Control Related Matters for Noting
Item 1

Delegated Applications Report

Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way

2

Page 2

22 May 2020

Cllr G Thomas declared a personal interest in an item contained in this report.
Cllr J Hill also declared a personal interest in an item contained in this report.
The report was noted.
Item 2

Agricultural Notifications Report
The report was noted.

Item 3

Fringe Notifications
Cllrs M Jones and P Pritchard declared a personal interest in items contained
within the report.
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave a brief update
to Members.
The report was noted.
At this point a brief break took place.

Item 4

Planning Obligations Report
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a
brief update to Members.
The report was noted.

Item 5

Appeals Summary Report
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a
brief update.
The report was noted.

Item 6

Commuted Sums Report
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a
brief update.
The report was noted.

Item 7

Enforcement Figures
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a
brief update.
The report was noted.

Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way

3

Page 3

22 May 2020

Item 8

Development Management Statistics Report
Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a
brief update.
The report was noted.

8

Enforcement Reports
Access to Information
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the following item of business on the
grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in
Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the
information.
Item 1

Enforcement Delegated Reports
Cllr G Thomas declared a personal interest in an item contained in this report.
The contents of the report were noted.
Cllr M Colbran left the meeting for a prior engagement.

Item 2

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Item 3

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Item 4

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Item 5

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Item 6

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Item 7

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way

4

Page 4

22 May 2020

Item 8

Enforcement Report
The contents of the report were noted.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way

Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way

5

Page 5

22 May 2020

This page is intentionally left blank

ENC5Item 1

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
28th July 2020

Application Number:

20/18312/FUL

Date Validated:

4 February 2020

Site Address:

Site Of Former Gunpowder
Works

Decision Due
Date:

28 July 2020

Pontneddfechan

Grid Ref:

E: 291787 N:208448

Proposal:

Installation of
interpretation and
visitor experience
improvements.

Case Officer:

Ffion Bevan

Community:

Ystradfellte

Reason(s) Application
Reported to Committee:

Authority Application

RECOMMENDATION:

Approval

Page 7

Page 1 of 40

1.

Description of Development

Full Planning Permission is sought for the installation of interpretation and visitor experience
improvements at the former Gunpowder works in Pontneddfechan.
This application is being report to PAROW because it has been submitted by the National Park
Authority. The interpretation will be positioned on land owned by the National Park Authority and
National Resources Wales, of which the relevant ownership certificate has been completed.
This application is a re–submission of a previous application which was withdrawn, to undertake
further community consultation on the project. The proposed infrastructure at the Pontneddfechan
village hall, which was previously submitted has been removed from this scheme.
The proposed installation is located at 16 different sites within the designated area, each of which are
described as follows:
Location 1:

a) Just beyond the gated entrance to BBNPA land. A proposed steel welcome feature,
constructed of 8mm CNC cut steel with a total height of 3000mm and width of
1200mm. The structure will be mounted into the ground.
b) A new enhanced entrance gate constructed of steel. It would have a total height of
830mm and a total width of 1560mm. It would be constructed approximately 150mm
above ground level.

Location 2:

a) A proposed Welcome lectern is proposed adjacent to the new fence near the
Turbine and pump house. It would be constructed of 8mm CNC cut steel.
b) On the exterior of the turbine and pump house it is proposed to display am Dibond
interpretative panel with a height of 380mm and a width of 500mm. It would be fixed
flush to the wooden fence post.
c) A name plate is also proposed on the exterior of the turbine and pump house,
constructed from 6mm CNC cut steel. It would have a height of 120mm and a width
of 500mm. It would be positioned approximately 1500mm from the ground.
d) A steel character silhouette will be positioned inside the turbine and pump house,
constructed from 6mm CNC cur steel to a height of 1850mm and a total width of
750mm. It would be positioned at ground level.

Location 3:

This area is described as faces in rock, and an interpretive lectern is proposed here.
It would be constructed of 8mm CNC cut steel. It would have total height of 700mm
and tilted at a 35 degrees from vertical. It would have a total width of 3000mm and
would be mounted into the ground.

Location 4:

A steel and wooden silhouette bench is proposed by craggy wall between the press
house and first tunnel entrance. The silhouette frame would have a total height of
1800mm and the seat height would be 500mm. It would be mounted into the ground.

Location 5:

An Interpretive Lectern is proposed by the tunnel entrance. It would be constructed
of 8mm CNC cut steel. It would have total height of 700mm and tilted at a 35 degrees
from vertical. It would have a total width of 3000mm and would be mounted into the
ground.

Location 6:

A name plate with a dibond panel is proposed on the old corning house. It would be
constructed of a printed dibond panel on a steel backing. It would have a total height

Page 8

Page 2 of 40

of 500mm and total width of 500mm. It would be positioned approximately 1200 from
ground level.
Location 7:

An Interpretive Lectern is proposed by the site entrance over the bridge. It would be
constructed of 8mm CNC cut steel. It would have total height of 700mm and tilted at
a 35 degrees from vertical. It would have a total width of 3000mm and would be
mounted into the ground.

Location 8:

a) A name plate with a dibond panel is proposed on the new corning house. It would
be constructed of a printed dibond panel on a steel backing. It would have a total
height of 500mm and total width of 500mm. It would be positioned approximately
1200 from ground level.
b) Also on the new corning house a steel character silhouette is proposed. It would
be constructed of 6mm CNT cut steel with a height of 1800mm and a total width of
5200mm. It would be positioned at ground level.

Location 9:

A name plate is proposed at the waterwheel and turbine house. It would be
constructed of 6mm CNC cut steel to a height of 120mm and 500mm in width. It
would be positioned approximately 1500mm above ground level.

Location 10:

a) A name plate with a dibond panel is proposed at the Expense magazine. It would
be constructed of a printed dibond panel on a steel backing. It would have a total
height of 500mm and total width of 500mm. It would be positioned approximately
1200 from ground level.
b) Also at the Expense magazine, a steel character silhouette is proposed. It would be
constructed of 6mm CNT cut steel with a height of 1860mm and a total width of
750mm. It would be positioned at ground level.

Location 11:

A name plate is proposed at the turbine house. It would be constructed of 6mm CNC
cut steel to a height of 120mm and 500mm in width. It would be positioned
approximately 300mm above ground level.

Location 12:

A name plate is proposed at the leat buttress. It would be constructed of 6mm CNC
cut steel to a height of 120mm and 500mm in width. It would be positioned
approximately 1500mm above ground level.

Location 13:

A name plate is proposed at the Stable. It would be constructed of 6mm CNC cut
steel to a height of 120mm and 500mm in width. It would be positioned approximately
1500mm above ground level.

Location 14:

A name plate with a dibond panel is proposed on the new dusting house. It would be
constructed of a printed dibond panel on a steel backing. It would have a total height
of 500mm and total width of 500mm. It would be positioned approximately 1200 from
ground level.

Location 15:

a) A name plate with a dibond panel is proposed on the Stove house. It would be
constructed of a printed dibond panel on a steel backing. It would have a total height
of 500mm and total width of 500mm. It would be positioned approximately 1200 from
ground level.
b) Also at the Stove house a steel character silhouette is proposed. It would be
constructed of 6mm CNT cut steel with a height of 1850mm and a total width of
750mm. It would be positioned at ground level.

Location 16:

At the end of the track, next to the sluice, a small dibond panel on wooden post is

Page 9

Page 3 of 40

proposed. It would measure 300mm in height and 150mm in width. It would be
positioned flush with the post at a 30 degree angle from vertical. The post would be
sunk into the ground.
2.

Site and Context

The site is a nineteenth-century gunpowder works established in 1857 by the Vale of Neath Powder
Co, and which produced gunpowder for blasting in mines and quarries until 1931. The site comprises
a widely dispersed complex distributed over 1.6 kilometres of the spectacular Mellte gorge. All stages
of the gunpowder manufactory process from preparation to dispatch are represented, with the mills,
corning, dusting, glazing and drying houses connected by tramways and leats. Much of the historic
complex is designated as a scheduled ancient monument (BR230).
The site is to the north-east of Pontneddfechan, along the Afon Mellte valley. Most of the site lies
within the Dyffrynoedd Nedd a Mellte a Moel Penderyn Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Special Area of Conservation (SAC). These designations are predominantly
for their broad-leaf woodlands and assemblage of lower plants (mosses, liverworts and lichens).
The site has vehicular access from the village of Pontneddfachan over private land (which is for site
maintenance) and also has a separate pedestrian access from the south which enters the site over a
footbridge adjoining the vehicular access from the village. A public car park is located at Dinas Rock.
This application forms part of a wider HLF funding programme to restore the Gunpowderworks. It
can be confirmed, that works to the structures on site, some of which have been completed, do not
require planning consent.
3. Project background
The former Glyn Neath Gunpowder works consists of the “rare and well-preserved remains of a
nineteenth-century gunpowder works, one of only two to have existed in Wales”. It has been
designated by Cadw as a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) because it is of “National Importance
for its potential to enhance and illustrate our knowledge and understanding of the development of the
gunpowder industry”.
The National Park Authority (NPA), with CADW advice, undertook stabilisation works in 2000 to try
to ensure the existing remains were preserved. However, this was only able to be a temporary
measure and the asset has begun to deteriorate.
The surrounding woodland, Coedydd Nedd a Mellte, is a “very large and diverse example of old sessile
oak wood”. It is “biologically rich, with many woodland plant communities represented and rich
bryophyte and lichen assemblages”. It is designated Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and a Special
Area of Conservation (SAC) and is under threat with non-native species planting impacting on the
buildings and the biodiversity.
The Gunpowder works reflect the history of industry both locally and nationally and are of special
industrial heritage interest. This fascinating story was not accessible to people and inappropriate use
of the site demonstrates that its value had become disconnected from the community to which it was
once so intimately bound.
As landowners the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is responsible for the site and legally
charged with its protection. In 2016 it brought together a number of specialist partners together to
identify a long term solution for the Gunpowder works. These partners included the NPA, CADW,
the Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historical Monuments of Wales (RCAHMW) and Clwyd
Powys Archaeological Trust.

Page 10

Page 4 of 40

The National Park Authority were successful in a bid to the National Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF)
and match funding was also contributed by other organisations.
The Gunpowder works project therefore aimed to:







Stabilise and conserve the built heritage features of the site.
Engage people with the site creating a sense of pride.
Reconnect residents from the surrounding community with the site.
Significantly enhance the site’s natural heritage.
Create a range of skill building opportunities for existing staff, volunteers and the local
communities.
Create a long term management solution

A requirement of the funding was an activity programme designed to promote understanding, valuing
and sharing of the heritage so people will once again celebrate the site and its historic legacy will be
intellectually accessible to everyone.
The project acknowledged the visitor pressure in the area from the outset and hence the target
audience for this project were identified as:




3.

Local and wider community who already visit the site
Young people in education (from local/catchment education institutions)
Outdoor activity providers
Business community

Relevant Planning History

App Ref

Description

19/17623/ADV

Gunpowder works interpretation Withdrawn
works. Village Hall infrastructure,
Steel lettering on exterior, Posters x
4, Steel and wooden silhouette
benches x 2, Welcome banner x2,
Welcome panel and large site map on
exterior of village hall, Interpretive
lecterns x 5, Nameplates x 5,
Nameplates with dibond panel
combo
x 5, Solo dibond
interpretative panel x 1, Steel
character silhouettes x 3, Steel horse
character x 1, Wooden post with
small dibond panel
Installation of interpretation and Withdrawn
visitor experience improvements.
Footbridge
Approved

19/17680/FUL
07/00744/FUL
4.

Decision

Date
29th July 2019

9th October
2019
28th August
2007

Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

4.1 Brecon

Beacons

National

Park

Authority

Page 11

Local

Development

Plan

and

Page 5 of 40

Supplementary Planning Guidance
Policy no.
CYDLP1
SP3
1
3
4
6
7
8
59
4.2

Policy
Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside
Environmental Protection
Appropriate Development in the National Park
Site of European Importance
Sites of National Importance
Biodiversity and Development
Protected and Important Wild Species
Trees and Development
Impacts of Traffic

National Planning Policy and Guidance

Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10 Edition (2018)
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017)
5.

Summary of Consultation responses

Powys
County
Council
Highways

The County Council as Highway Authority for the County Unclassified Highway, U0676
Wish the following recommendations/Observations be applied
Recommendations/Observations
Thank you for consulting the highway authority (HA) on this application.
The previously withdrawn application generated much interest amongst neighbouring
residents, a number of whom, made representations to the HA. Concerns were raised
over a perceived lack of adequate highway infrastructure within the vicinity of the site and
a perceived lack of parking for the existing attraction. The lack of adequate onsite parking
appears to routinely result in overspill parking away from the site, onto the existing
residential streets. Clearly such actions are likely to cause inconvenience to the residents
and increase danger to all highway users including pedestrians. Future development of the
site, that would likely lead to an increase in visitor numbers, would therefore need to
adequately address such issues.
Whilst these concerns are duly noted, the HA is satisfied that this particular application,
would not cause any direct detrimental impact on the existing highway network and as
such, offer no objection to the proposal.

NP
Strategy
And Policy

It is unclear that either a public right of way or permissive footpath provides access to the
permissive footpath within the site (on the north / west side of the Afon Mellte) and the
observations of the Authority's Rights of Way Officers should be considered.
If the site is accessible, all attempts should be made to enable anybody wishing to visit the
site to do so. The Brecknock Access Group may helpfully be consulted.

Page 12

Page 6 of 40

NP Rights
Of Way
Officer

Thank you for your consultation letter.

Natural
Resources
Wales/Cyfo
eth
Naturiol
Cymru

We have no objection to the proposed development as submitted and provide the
following advice.

I have no comments to make on the proposed development.

Our Flood Risk Map, which is updated on a quarterly basis confirms the application site lies
entirely within Zone C1 of the Development Advice Maps (DAM) as contained in TAN15
and within the 1% (1 in 100 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual probability tidal flood
outlines of the Afon Mellte.
Given the scale and nature of the proposed development (and in the absence of a flood
consequences assessment) we consider the proposals could be acceptable, subject to the
developer being made aware of the potential flood risks and advised to install
floodproofing measures as part of the development.

NP
Planning
Ecologist

The applicants have submitted an Ecological Method Statement which is acceptable in
principle, but requires a few corrections and additional information.
There is no ecological objection to approval of this application subject to the imposition of
a planning condition to secure the submission and implementation of an amended
Ecological Method Statement (EMS).
The BBNPA will need to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the proposals
and will need confirmation that NRW have no objection to approval of the application.

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at:

Planning Application link
6.

Third Party Representations

The application was advertised by way of a site notice and direct neighbour notification.
36 letters of objections were received from neighbouring properties raising objections and concerns. The
representations are summarised as follows:
Concerns and objections
-

The application is clearly aimed at visitors to the Gunpowderowrks site and to suggest it’s not is
incorrect.
The Gunpowderworks are just ruins
Pontneddfechan is at breaking point due to the number of visitors to the waterfalls and Dinas Rock.
The village cannot sustain the existing level of traffic let alone another project bringing in a different type
of visitor.
No consideration to the local residents – ruins are more important than people
Very little car parking
No public toilets
Vehicular Access to the site from the village is private and no public rights of way over it.
Existing problems with visitors and access to properties.
The proposal does not conforms to the Environmental Capacity approach to Sustainable Development

Page 13

Page 7 of 40

7

in the Local Development Plan and Planning Policy Wales.
Increased visitor numbers
Lack of service facilities
Existing uneasy relationship between visitors and residents, which would be exacerbated.
Unacceptable impact on the social and cultural identity of the small, rather aged, community of this part
of Pontneddfechan.
The proposal fails to pay heed to the vitality of this small and fragile community.
High volume of traffic.
Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the planning system
contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves the social, economic,
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the Well-being of Future Generations
(Wales) Act 2015.
The Authority has taken into account the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and
consider that this decision is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives, as required by section
8 of the WBFG Act.
The provision of on-site interpretation contributes to the National Park Authority’s priority action to
‘Maximise opportunities for all people in Wales to access the health and well-being benefits of the
natural environment and landscape features of National Parks’.
The research of content and production will support the following five ways to Health and Wellbeing
as set out in ‘National Park Wales: Together for Health and Well-being’






Opportunities for people to connect through volunteering, partnership working with other
organisations
Opportunities to be active for learning and participation.
Create resources that encourage people to take notice, pause and savour the moment.
Opportunities to keep learning, increasing knowledge and understanding of local area.
Opportunities for people to give knowledge, stories and skills.

8 Planning Obligations:
N/A

9 Assessment
9.1 Strategic and Spatial Choices:
The application is considered against Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) and the first stage of
consideration is to assess the proposed development against the Strategic and Spatial Choices issues
and the national sustainable placemaking outcomes.
9.1.1

Good design

The proposed interpretation are located at 16 different areas within the historic area of the

Page 14

Page 8 of 40

historic gunpowder works. The proposal has been carefully designed to blend in to the context of the
area and are of a scale that does not overpower or affect the special character of the structures.
Careful consideration has been given to the type of materials to be used and the amount of
interpretation is minimal. There is also a range of interpretation designs and formats which include a
lectern style, dibond, name plates, steel character silhouettes and a bench.
Each individual interpretation is relevant to the setting and is not prominent within the wider landscape
of the National Park, although visible to the path user.
It is considered that the design including the proposed materials and colour is appropriate to its setting
and the size and scale is considered appropriate.

9.1.2 Promoting healthier places
The purpose of the development is to preserve the historic landscape and the wider environment. This
would undoubtedly promote the National Park’s countryside through its historic context and promote
the use of open spaces for education and cultural experiences. This in turn would promote a healthier
lifestyle.
9.1.3

The Welsh Language

The interpretation will be in Welsh and English, promoting the Welsh language to visitors to the area.
9.1.4

Sustainable Management of Natural Resources

The site is to the north-east of Pontneddfechan, along the Afon Mellte valley. Most of the site lies
within the Dyffrynoedd Nedd a Mellte a Moel Penderyn Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Special Area of Conservation (SAC).
The installation of the five proposed lectern panels, the entrance feature and the bench will require
some excavation at the edge of the existing paths. Although impacts on woodland habitat should be
limited, there is nearby woodland as well as the watercourse (which is part of the SAC); it is
recommended that an Ecological Method Statement (EMS) is prepared for these works, in order to
ensure that ecological impacts are appropriately minimised or mitigated, including the adoption of
appropriate pollution prevention measures. The installation works should be undertaken during
daylight hours and no external lighting should be used.
9.1.5

Placemaking in Rural Areas

The site is located in a countryside location outside of any defined settlement where LDP Policy CYD
LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside includes within its definition of forms of
development that will be permitted in such locations subject to all other relevant LDP Policies,
proposals for tourist attractions or recreational activity which by evidenced necessity require a
countryside location as essential to their function (criterion 5).
The policy clarifies such development will be required to contribute positively to their countryside
setting and enhance the quality of the landscape without adverse impact on the wildlife, natural beauty,
cultural heritage, environmental assets or biodiversity of the area.

Page 15

Page 9 of 40

The policy also requires such proposals to demonstrate how they respond to the identified issues set
out at 4.9.2 of the LDP (which advocates strict control in such locations) and how the scheme will
contribute to achieving the Countryside 15 year Future Vision.
Protection of the countryside is the National Park’s first statutory purpose and therefore it’s essential
that development in countryside locations is strictly controlled to manage adverse impacts on the
natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park.
It is considered that the proposed development complies with this by protecting the cultural heritage
of the area by providing interpretation on the historic structures, which have been renovated and
protected for future generations. This is done without adverse impact on the natural beauty or wildlife.
It is however recognised that the countryside is also a living and working landscape and issues raised
from the local community is further discussed within this report, along with all other relevant material
planning considerations.

9.2

Detailed Impact Assessment:

This stage sets out the further factors to be considered. They are assessed against the PPW headings,
which are shown in italics below, however only those relevant are discussed and these are as follows:
Landscape and Visual Amenity, Biodiversity, Transport, Neighbour Amenity, Recreation and Tourism,
Flooding, Impact on Trees, Public Rights of Way, Heritage, Archaeology and impact on the Scheduled
Ancient Monument.
9.21

Distinctive and natural places

9.2.1.1Landscape and Visual Amenity
Policy 1 of the LDP: Appropriate Development in the National Park
All proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park must comply
with the following criteria, where they are relevant to the proposal:
i)
the scale, form, design, layout, density, intensity of use and use of materials will be
appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality and character of
the Park’s Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment; …..
Give the proposed size, scale, proposed materials and location of the interpretation, there are no
concerns in relation to the proposal on the wider landscape and the visual amenity of the immediate
area.
As such the proposal would comply with policy 1 of the LDP (2013)
9.2.1.2 Biodiversity
The LDP includes the following policies regarding ecological issues and safeguarding biodiversity are
as follows:
Policy SP3 'Environmental Protection' (LDP 2013)
Policy 1'Appropriate Development in the National Park (LDP 2013)
Policy 3 ‘Sites of European Importance (LDP 2013)
Policy 4 ‘Sites of National Importance (LDP 2013)
Policy 6 'Biodiversity and Development' (LDP 2013)
Policy 7 'Protected and important Wild Species' (LDP 2013)

Page 16

Page 10 of 40

Representation has been received from the National Park’s Ecologist and Natural Resources Wales
(NRW) raising no objection to the proposal.
The site is to the north-east of Pontneddfechan, along the Afon Mellte valley. Most of the site lies
within the Dyffrynoedd Nedd a Mellte a Moel Penderyn Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and
Coedydd Nedd a Mellte Special Area of Conservation (SAC). These designations are predominantly
for their broad-leaf woodlands and assemblage of lower plants (mosses, liverworts and lichens).
Most of the proposed interpretation infrastructure are quite small-scale and there is also no ecological
objection to the installation of panels, name-plates and character silhouettes onto the structures that
have been recently restored.
The installation of the five proposed lectern panels, the entrance feature and the bench will require
some excavation at the edge of the existing paths. Although impacts on woodland habitat should be
limited, there is nearby woodland as well as the watercourse (which is part of the SAC); it is
recommended that an Ecological Method Statement (EMS) is prepared for these works, in order to
ensure that ecological impacts are appropriately minimised or mitigated, including the adoption of
appropriate pollution prevention measures. The installation works should be undertaken during
daylight hours and no external lighting should be used.
During the course of the application, the applicants have submitted an Ecological Method Statement
which addresses the key principles necessary to safeguard the SSSI and SAC. The main concerns are
regarding the installation of the features which require ground works, principally the lecterns, the
bench and the entrance feature. Most of these structures are adjacent to the Tram-road and on
previously-disturbed ground. There is concern regarding the installation of the features that require
the mixing of concrete, but it is noted that the lecterns will utilise pre-cast concrete, which implies
that no on-site mixing is required. The submitted Method Statement will require further detail,
however the National Park’s Ecologist is satisfied that this can be conditioned.
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) have previously raised no concerns regarding impacts on the SSSI
or SAC as a result of the previous proposals; and have again raised no objection to the approval of
this application. The BBNPA will also need to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the
proposals.
It is assumed that no external lighting is required; a planning condition can be imposed to ensure this.
Policy 1 of the Local Development Plan and Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 require
the BBNPA to seek to maintain and enhance biodiversity. There are normally opportunities to
accommodate biodiversity enhancement measures within development proposals. However, this
application is small-scale in nature and is being done in association with a larger project to save the
historic structures. The larger project has already delivered the installation of a number of bat boxes
on trees in the vicinity of the historic structures as well as woodland management. It is therefore
considered that additional enhancement features are not required in association with this application.
9.2.1.3 Flooding
Natural Resources Wales were consulted on the application and raised an objection to the proposal.
The Flood Risk Map, which is updated on a quarterly basis confirms the application site lies entirely
within Zone C1 of the Development Advice Maps (DAM) as contained in TAN15 and within the 1%
(1 in 100 year) and 0.1% (1 in 1000 year) annual probability tidal flood outlines of the Afon Mellte.
Given the scale and nature of the proposed development (and in the absence of a flood consequences
assessment) we consider the proposals could be acceptable, subject to the developer being made

Page 17

Page 11 of 40

aware of the potential flood risks and advised to install floodproofing measures as part of the
development.
As such, no concerns are raised in relation to flooding issue on site.
9.2.1.4 Trees
Policy 8 of the LDP refers to the trees and representation has been received from the National Park's
Tree Consultant raising no objection to the proposal, providing that the works is carried out in
accordance with the Aboricultural Method Statement (V2).
As such, the proposal would comply with the above policy.
9.2.1.5 Archaeology
Policy SP3 (f) states that all proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the
National Park must demonstrate that the proposed development does not have an unacceptable
impact on, nor detract from, or prevent the enjoyment of … archaeological features'.
The application affects the site of a nineteenth-century gunpowder works established in 1857 by the
Vale of Neath Powder Co, and which produced gunpowder for blasting in mines and quarries until
1931. The site comprises a widely dispersed complex distributed over 1.6 kilometres of the spectacular
Mellte gorge. All stages of the gunpowder manufactory process from preparation to dispatch are
represented, with the mills, corning, dusting, glazing and drying houses connected by tramways and
leats. Much of the historic complex is designated as a scheduled ancient monument (BR230).
The entrance features, two interpretative lectern panels and the steel silhouette bench are proposed
for location within unscheduled areas of the application boundary. All fixings on structures are to be
inserted into masonry joints. Lecterns will be erected on 150mm deep concrete footings.






Location 1: The entrance features at approximately 291526, 208205 are located at the site
of an exiting gateway, and will enhance the site of an existing gate. Archaeological impact is
considered unlikely.
Location 3: The ‘meet the Bryophyte’ lectern is located in an unscheduled area of the site
adjacent to the access track at 291643, 208227, and is considered unlikely to have any
archaeological impact.
Location 4: Steel and wooden silhouette bench at approximately 291700 208300 is located
at the side of the Access track. Archaeological impact is considered unlikely.
Location 5: The proposed location of the lectern at the tramway tunnel entrance is located
in an unscheduled area of the site, on left hand side of track at approximately 291698,
208335. This area of the site has substantial areas of stone fill. The minimal surface area and
shallow nature of any excavation required in association with the installation of the lecterns
the footings (15cm depth) is considered to make archaeological impact unlikely.

The proposed locations have been selected to avoid impact to archaeological remains, and will
necessitate minimal ground disturbance during construction. Archaeological impacts are considered
unlikely.
9.2.1.6 Scheduled Monuments
Planning Policy Wales (2018) explains that it’s important that the planning system looks to protect,

Page 18

Page 12 of 40

conserve and enhance the significance of historic assets. This will include consideration of the setting of
an historic asset which might extend beyond its curtilage. Any change that impacts on an historic asset
or its setting should be managed in a sensitive and sustainable way.
The majority of the site and application area constitutes a designated Scheduled Monument, and
Scheduled Monument consent will be required.
Cadw were consulted on the application and raised no objection to the proposal.
The proposals include a range of signage and cast-iron characters… …The 10 conserved structures
will all have steel backed name plates attached to them, whilst interpretation panels will be fixed to
the Old and New Corning Houses, the Dusting House, Expense Magazine and stove House. Larger
steel installations (human and horse figures) will be fixed to the Expense Magazine, New Corning
House, Stove House and Turbine and Pump House. All fixings are to be into masonry joints. Several
interpretative steel lecterns will be set away from the structures, based upon 150mm deep concrete
trays, none of which are likely to affect any significant archaeological levels.
A short document is supplied covering the impact of the scheme on the various designated and
undesignated structures. This does not address impacts on the heritage values (evidential, historical,
aesthetic, communal) of the monument but makes the valid point that it will enhance these by providing
interpretation of these now somewhat abstract structures and maintain community links to the
monument into the future at a time when local memories or knowledge of the site are now second
or third hand. The scheme is in my view aesthetically in keeping with the industrial character of the
monument and all locations and methods of installation have been established on site with Cadw.
9.2.1.6 Heritage Impact
Policy 1: Appropriate Development in the National Park
All proposals for development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park must comply
with the following criteria, where they are relevant to the proposal:
i)
the scale, form, design, layout, density, intensity of use and use of materials will be appropriate
to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality and character of the Park’s Natural
Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment; …..
The National Park’s Heritage Officer was consulted on the application and raised no objection.
This proposal is supported as it will help to increase understanding of the industrial heritage of the
site for visitors and local residents.
The rusted finish of the steel elements should integrate successfully with the stonework of the buildings
and the surrounding landscape. The supporting documents show that any Information boards attached
to buildings will be fixed into the mortar joints. This is the right approach to take and it is important
that the contractors carrying out the work comply with instructions.
As such, the proposal would comply with the above policy.
9.2.2 Active and Social Places
9.3.2.1 Transport
Planning Policy Wales states that the Welsh Government is committed to reducing reliance on the
private car and supporting a model shift to walking, cycling and public transport. Delivering this objective
will make an important contribution to decarbonisation, improving air quality, increasing physical

Page 19

Page 13 of 40

activity, improving the health of the nation and realising the goals of the Well-being of Future
Generations Act. (para 4.1.8).
Policy 59 of the LDP refers to the impact of traffic and states that development will be permitted
where appropriate access can be achieved. Criterion (c) states that access will be considered to be
inappropriate where there is an unacceptable impact on road safety.
Powys County Council Highways Authority were consulted on the application and raised no
objection.
The application has generated much interest amongst neighbouring residents, a number of whom,
made representations to the Highway Authority directly. Concerns were raised over a perceived lack
of adequate highway infrastructure within the vicinity of the site and a perceived lack of parking for
the existing attraction. The lack of adequate onsite parking appears to routinely result in overspill
parking away from the site, onto the existing residential streets. Clearly such actions are likely to cause
inconvenience to the residents and increase danger to all highway users including pedestrians. Future
development of the site, that would likely lead to an increase in visitor numbers, would therefore need
to adequately address such issues.
Whilst these concerns are duly noted, the Highway Authority is satisfied that this particular application,
would not cause any direct detrimental impact on the existing highway network and as such, offer no
objection to the proposal.
Traffic and parking problems have been one of the main cause of concern and objection from the local
community and the problem is appreciated by the National Park Authority. In response to a long
standing problem within the community, a Traffic Management Study and feedback was undertaken in
2018, and the BBNPA has worked with the Local Authorities, private landowners and local police
forces to devise a series of interventions to reduce the impact of traffic in the area. These include:








Traffic Regulation Orders & Yellow lines: Traffic orders have been negotiated and installed in
several locations throughout the area to aid the flow of local traffic at peak times and prevent
congestion and blockages at pinch points and in the narrow road network
A residents parking scheme was discussed as part of the consultation process but did not gain
enough local support at the time, the potential for this is open and can be revisited if desired
Temporary car parks: Several overflow car parks have been negotiated with private land
owners and have been operational during peak times, taking the bulk of vehicles without
designated spaces and reducing the instance of fly parking
Directional signage: BBNPA have worked with Powys Highways to develop and install
directional signage around the narrow road infrastructure that reduces the instance of cars
meeting where there are limited passing places
A scheme at Comin y Rhos was due to go to public consultation in March 2020 and has been
postponed until it is safe to reconvene. BBNPA commissioned Powys Highways to design a
scheme which physically restrict drivers from parking on Comin y Rhos and in parallel with
the traffic orders already completed.
Bollards: At the request of local residents, BBNPA has asked Powys Highways to install
bollards at Coed-y-Rhaidyr where coaches sometimes park over double yellow lines,
obstructing the footpath. Powys Highways have these works programmed into their work
schedule and will notify BBNPA prior to their installation.

Mitigation work has been undertaken by the applicant to assists with the general traffic concerns raised
by the local residents prior and during the course of this application.
Given the nature of the proposed development in line with the comments made by the Local Highway
Authority, no objection is raised on highway grounds.

Page 20

Page 14 of 40

9.3.2.2 Public Access and Rights of Way
Public access to the site, and to the permissive footpath within it, is currently achieved by the public
using a track which is not recorded on the Powys County Council Definitive Map and Statement. The
route has been in use for many years but its status is being challenged at the present time. The National
Park Authority’s Public Rights of Way Officer was consulted on the application and no concerns were
raised.
The track to the site, running from the village of Pontneddfachan over private land to the site, also
provides vehicular access for site maintenance. The site can be further accessed on foot along a
separate unregistered footpath from the south which enters the site over a footbridge adjoining the
vehicular access from the village. However this path is uneven and in poor condition in places. A public
car park is located at Dinas Rock.
Although the access from the village is uncertain at the time of considering this application, the
acceptability of the interpretation of the historic structures of the Gunpowder Works which form the
Scheduled Ancient Monument is not compromised by this ongoing issue. The proposed interpretation
would not have a direct impact on public rights of way matters and is considered acceptable.
9.3.2.3.Neighbouring Amenity
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, November 2018), which states
‘Placemaking in development decisions happens at all levels and involves considerations at a global
scale, including climate change, down to the very local level, such as considering the amenity impact
on neigbouring properties and people’. (2.7, PPW, 2018).
As outline above, 36 letters of objection were received from the neighbouring properties and the
wider community. A number of concerns were raised in relation to traffic and parking problems which
have been addressed above, however the main concern is the impact on the amenity of neighbouring
properties and the impact this development would have on the local community and especially the
village of Pontneddfechan.
The area is under considerable pressure with visitors to the area and concerns are raised in relation
to how sustainable this proposal would be.
Paragraph 2.4. of the Local Development Plan refer for the Environment Capacity Approach to
Sustainable development and the concept is used to propose that there is a limit to the amount of
development which a given area can accommodate over time, determined by its “environmental”
characteristics. The capacity is determined by a range of characteristics which make up the
environment assets such as biodiversity, landscape quality, water quality, air quality, transport
infrastructure, but also less tangible concepts such as settlement character and quality of life. If
development within an area exceeds a particular level of adverse impact on these environmental
resources and will be of such detriment then it would not be sustainable and should not be permitted.
The installation of new signage does not reflect a desire to promote the heritage as a tourist
destination or to increase visitors to the area. The application is to update existing signage that
currently exits on site in light of the conservations works and the local history research that has been
undertaken. It also reflects the ideas and aspirations that were contributed during two community
consultation events that were held at the outset of the project. In June 2018 these ideas had been
worked into a full proposal which were presented at an open day in the village hall.

Page 21

Page 15 of 40

Learning about the history of a place is a good way to bring communities together through a shared
understanding of the unique cultural identity heritage places give to an area. It is the National Park’s
ambition that this will be the case here at Pontneddfechan. The onsite interpretation will enable this
legacy to continue and enable those that visit in the future to understand the buildings; the story of
those who worked there and the legacy of the industry and its importance to the community.
The National Park Authority recognises the challenges faced by the community with the influx of
visitors to the area. As a result the BBNPA has worked to form an area wide partnership with a
purpose to support sustainable communities and seek benefits that can be enjoyed by all,
environmentally, socially, economically.
The Gunpowder project supports the Single Integrated Plans for Rhondda Cynon Taff and Neath Port
Talbot County Borough Councils which aims to improve the lives of their residents through greater
access to the environment, improving health and well-being through outdoor recreation and increase
sense of pride through connection with heritage.
The National Park Authority has also prioritised a variety of projects in dialogue with the community
and its representatives that seek to address these issues. Examples of this are:






Promotion of the area has historically been an issue with potential increase in visitor numbers.
Due to this BBNPA and its partners do not actively promote the area as a visitor destination,
declining all requests for identifiable filming and promotion
Visit Wales and Welsh Government representatives are involved in the development of a draft
communications strategy for the area, set to be agreed by all relevant public sector bodies,
focussed on positive and responsible behavioural messaging.
BBNPA is in the process of developing a webpage and social media feed that will identify the
status of car parking spaces so that people are better able to make positive decisions about
their visit prior to setting out
BBNPA has commissioned transport consultants to look at the viability of a shuttle-bus/ park
and ride approach that would reduce the amount of journeys into the area by private motor
vehicle. This was in response to community feedback.
NRW and BBNPA have developed an agreement with South Wales Outdoor Activity
Providers Group which specifies a code of behaviour for its members and clients to adhere
to, so that they may gain permission to use the river gorges of the Mellte and Sychryd. The
agreement is subject to regular reviews and is adjusted to take in any behavioural issues that
are identified by local people, is most recent update being November 2019.

Working with Pontneddfechan and Ystradfellte Community Council over the last year, the National
Parks Authority supported an application to Pen y Cwmoedd wind farm fund to carry out a feasibility
study into how best to derive greater benefit for local communities from the opportunities presented
by high visitor footfall. This was matched through a second application to the BBNPA’s Sustainable
Development Fund with the intention to explore the viability of a Community Interest Company, its
structure and potential remit. This application and project came about following the work the National
Park had done with local people over the last couple of years and the understanding that local people
were getting all of the negative impacts of high visitor numbers but little of the benefit, this project
alongside other interventions seeks to address that.
It is considered that on balance, the proposal can be considered sustainable as it would provide the
community with an understanding of their cultural heritage and to preserve its legacy for future
generations. It is acknowledged that the traffic, parking and anti-social behaviour is a problem and the
National Park has and is continuing to work with the community in partnership with other
organisations to mitigate the impact caused by visitor pressure on the area.

Page 22

Page 16 of 40

This is a long standing issue within the community and given that the gunpowder works are already
accessible to the public with some existing interpretation on site, it is considered that the proposed
interpretation would increase the number of visitors to the area and have such a detrimental impact
as to warrant a refusal of the application.
10 Conclusion
This application has been considered against the adopted policies of the Brecon Beacons National Park
Authority Local Development Plan (2013). In making a recommendation on this application, I have taken
into consideration National Policies within Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, 2018), Technical Advice
Notes (TAN) 5 and 24 and Policies CYD LP1, SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7, 8 and 59 of the Development Plan and
the comments made by the consultees and other interested parties.
National Park Purpose and Duty
The proposed development would contribute to the National Park’s purposes by contributing to the
opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park. It also
helps to conserve the natural beauty of the Park by good design.
Sustainable Development
The proposal delivers a positive impact on the environmental well-being of Wales, without adversely
impacting on the other pillars of sustainability. The application is therefore recommended for approval
as it delivers sustainable development and meets current needs without hindering those of future
generations.
Recommendation: Approve
1
2

3
4
5

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years
from the date of this permission.
The development shall be carried out in all respects strictly in accordance with the
approved plans (drawing nos. Site Location Plan, Infrastructure Map, Proposed
fixings 1 – Lecterns, Proposed fixings 2 – Lecterns options, Proposed fixings 3 –
Character Silhouette) unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
The proposed infrastructure shall be constructed and installed in accordance with
the submitted Infrastructure Details in line with the approved Infrastructure map.
The proposed works shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted
Arboricultural Method Statement (V2).
Prior to commencement of the development works, an Ecological Method
Statement (EMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The works shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the approved
EMS.

Reasons:
1
2
3
4

Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of a satisfactory form of
development.
To ensure adherence to the approved details in the interests of a satisfactory form of
development.
In the interest of tree protection in accordance with Policy 8 of the Local
Development Plan (2013)

Page 23

Page 17 of 40

5

To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5
and Policies SP3, 1, 3, 4, 6, 7 and 12 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the
BBNP
To comply with the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales)
Act 2016

Informative
1.

All nesting birds , their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence to:
 intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird
 intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or being
built
 intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
 intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest building,
or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such a bird. The
maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest or egg - is a fine of
up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both.
The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building where that work involves
the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild bird while the nest is in use or being
built, (usually between late February and late August). If a nest is discovered while work is being
undertaken, all work must stop and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales.

2. Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for advice in the
event that protected species are discovered during the course of the development. To proceed
without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an offence under the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and/or the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended) being committed. NRW can be contacted at:
NRW, Cantref Court, Brecon Road, Abergavenny, NP7 7AX
Tel: 0300 065 3000
3. Scheduled Ancient Monument Consent will be required for the installation of the Interpretation
structures.

Page 24

Page 18 of 40

Site Location Plan

Page 25
Pontneddfechan

Page 19 of 40

Page 26
Page 20 of 40

Page 27
Page 21 of 40

Page 28
Page 22 of 40

Page 29
Page 23 of 40

Page 30
Page 24 of 40

Page 31
Page 25 of 40

Page 32
Page 26 of 40

Page 33
Page 27 of 40

Page 34
Page 28 of 40

Page 35
Page 29 of 40

Page 36
Page 30 of 40

Page 37
Page 31 of 40

Page 38
Page 32 of 40

Page 39
Page 33 of 40

Page 40
Page 34 of 40

Page 41
Page 35 of 40

Page 42
Page 36 of 40

Page 43
Page 37 of 40

Page 44
Page 38 of 40

Page 45
Page 39 of 40

Page 46
Page 40 of 40

ENC5Item 2

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
Application Number:

19/18163/REM

Date Validated:

20 December 2019

Site Address:

Land Off The B4246,
Govilon,
Abergavenny

Decision Due Date:

31 March 2020

Grid Ref:

E: 327068 N:213963

Proposal:
Reserved Matters Application for the development
of 51 homes including 17 affordable units on land
located off the B4246, Landscaping and Public Open
Space to include appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale. (18/16964/OUT)

Case Officer:

Lisa Hughes

Community:

Llanfoist Fawr

Reason(s) Application
Reported to Committee:

The application is being reported to committee because of the large number of
third party objections.

RECOMMENDATION:

PERMIT subject to the conditions set out in paragraph 11 of this
report

Page 1 of 28

Page 47

1.
1.1

Site and Context
The site is located on land to the north east of Govilon and north of the B4246. It lies
within the community of Llanfoist Fawr.

1.2

The site measures approximately 1.92 ha and consists of an open field which is bordered
mainly by hedges. The site is improved grassland which has been grazed pasture land. Two
large popular trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order, Ref G2, W1 are located on
the outside of the southern part of the western boundary. Existing drainage ditches run
along the northern and eastern boundary of the site and outfall under the A465 to the
north.

1.3

In terms of ecology, the site consists of improved grassland bordered by hedgerows which
have wildlife corridors with potential for amphibians, reptiles, small mammals. The
hedgerow trees and large Black Popular trees have the potential to support bat roosts.

1.4

Immediately adjacent to the northern boundary lies the A465 and there is a concrete ramp
within the site which leads to a cattle underpass under the A465 to fields beyond. The
southern boundary adjoins the B4246 which runs between Llanfoist and Govilon, from
which there is a gated agricultural access into the site. This section of the road falls within
the 30mph speed restriction.

1.5

The site is crossed by foul and surface water sewers. The foul sewer is a 150mm public
sewer which has a 3m easement and crosses west – east through the centre of the site.
The 225mm surface water sewer lies adjacent to the B4246 and is believed to be a highway
asset. The site is not located within an area at risk of flooding within the Welsh
Government’s Development Advice Maps. There are no buildings on the site, but there is
a low voltage overhead electricity line crossing the site.

1.6

The nearest residential property to the site is presently known as The Lodge, located
immediately adjacent to the southwestern corner of the site. The properties known as Ty
Clyd and Ty Clyd Close are located to the west of the site and to the east of the site lie
detached properties, accessed directly from the B4246, including The Grange, Ty Newydd,
Unicorns Rest and The Croft. The nearest properties to the south of the site lie within a
cul de sac known as Elms Bungalow.

1.7

Public Footpath ref 53/169/1 crosses through the middle of the site in a north to south
direction and its alignment denotes the eastern boundary of the residential allocation within
the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan (2013), (LDP).

1.8

The topography of the site is gently sloping to the north from about 84m above ordnance
datum (AOD) on the B4246 in the south to around 78m AOD on the northern boundary
abutting the A465 trunk road.

1.9

The site is located on the lower slopes of the southern side of the Usk Valley. Land to the
south rises steeply up the summit of the Blorenge at 561m AOD and land to the north
beyond the A465 falls gently to the course of the River Usk, which is 50m AOD in the
vicinity of Boat Farm. To the west, the residential edge of Govilon is between 80 and 90m
AOD and land to the east is between 80 and 87m AOD.

Page 2 of 28

Page 48

1.10

Within the LDP, the western part of the site is subject to an allocation for residential
development, Reference CS39/69/70/88/89/99. This part of the site is located within the
development settlement boundary of Govilon which is identified as a Level 3 Settlement
within the LDP under Policy LP1. The remainder of the site to the east is unallocated and
therefore located in open countryside.

1.11

Within the terms of Policy 28 of the LDP (Affordable Housing Contributions), the site lies
within the Crickhowell Submarket area. Within the Landscape and Development SPG, the
site is located within the Landscape Character Area 11 Eastern Usk Valley.

1.12

The site lies off the Coalfield Area.

2.

Planning History
App Ref
18/16964/OUT

Description
Proposed Residential Development
and Associated Highway Access on
land off the B4246, Govilon

Decision
Application
Permitted
Agreement)

3.

Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

3.1

Local Planning Policy and Guidance

Date
19th
(S106 2019

Dec

3.1.1 The development plan for the area is the Brecon Beacons National Park Local
Development Plan 2007-2022 (hereafter LDP) which was adopted by resolution of the National
Park Authority on the 17th December 2013. The following policies and guidance are considered
relevant to the decision or have been raised in representations:SP1
Policy 1
SP3
Policy 3
Policy 4
Policy 5
Policy 6
Policy 7
Policy 8
S LP1
S LP2
S LP3
ELP1
SP5
SP6
SP10
SP11
SP16
Policy 49

National Park Policy
Appropriate Development in the National Park
Environmental Protection - Strategic Policy
Sites of European Importance
Sites of National Importance
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation
Biodiversity and Development
Protected and Important Wild Species
Trees and Development
Definition of Settlements
Settlements Appropriate Development
Mitigating Impact
Community Sustainability Edge of Settlement Exceptions
Housing
Affordable Housing
Sustainable Distribution of Development
Sustainable Design
Sustainable Infrastructure
Rights of Way and Long Distance Routes

Page 3 of 28

Page 49

SP17
Policy 59
SP18
Policy 60
Policy 61

Sustainable Transport
Impacts of Traffic
Sustainable Use of Land
Provision for Cycling and Walking
Dwelling Density

Supplementary Planning Guidance
Landscape and Development 2014
Biodiversity and Development 2016
3.1.2

The majority of the site (1.04ha) is located on housing allocation CS 39/69/70/88/89/90
within the Settlement of Govilon, as defined by the LDP Proposals Map.

3.1.3

Govilon is one of a number of Level 3A Settlements which have been defined within the
settlement hierarchy of the LDP with the environmental capacity to accommodate
appropriately scaled development and “to provide for general needs growth to support
community vitality and viability in a sustainable locations.” a village

3.1.4

Policy S LP2 states that “proposals for development within Settlements will be required to
contribute positively to their setting and enhance the quality of the landscape without
adverse impact on the wildlife, natural beauty, cultural heritage, environmental assets or
biodiversity of the settlement.”

3.1.5

Policy S LP2 sets out the forms of appropriate development which are acceptable within
Level 3 Settlements. This includes at criteria 1 “proposals that strengthen and enhance the
mix, of dwelling and tenure options within the Settlement, including provision of Affordable
Housing in accordance with the identified need within the community”.

3.1.6

For designated Settlements the forms of development set out in Policy S LP2 have been
identified as key to implementation of the Settlement 15 year vision.

3.1.7

The remainder of the site (0.88ha) lies in the countryside, but adjoining the settlement
boundary. Policy E LP1 Community Sustainability Edge of Settlement Exceptions - permits
development proposals at edge of Settlement locations which includes at criteria 1
“Proposals for 100% affordable housing developments (see Policy 29). Policy 29 Enabling
Affordable Housing Exception Sites - permits development for Affordable Housing where
controls are in place “to restrict their occupancy in perpetuity to people with a proven
local need for accommodation that cannot be met in any other way.”

3.2

National Planning Policy and Guidance

3.2.1

National planning policy and guidance which is considered as particularly relevant to the
determination of this application is as follows:
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (December 2018) (PPW)
Technical Advice Note 1: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015) (TAN1)
Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) (TAN2)

Page 4 of 28

Page 50

Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) (TAN5)
Technical Advice Note 11: Noise (2009) (TAN11)
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016) (TAN12)
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007) (TAN18)
4.
4.1

Description of Development
The approval of reserved matters is sought in respect of Outline permission reference
18/16964/OUT which was permitted on the 19th December 2019. The reserved matters
application was valid on the 20th December 2019, which was before the two year expiry of
the outline permission.

4.2

Access was a matter that was considered at outline permission stage and as such matters
for consideration as part of this reserved matters application are: appearance; landscaping;
layout and scale.

4.3

The approval of reserved matters relates to the construction of 51 units on site, 17 of
which are affordable housing. The outline permission is accompanied by a S106 legal
agreement which details the provision of the affordable units, education contribution,
provision of Public Open Space and maintenance, off site play area contribution and
highways works including the provision of road up to the western boundary to allocated
site LDP Ref CS 39/69/70/88/89/90.

4.4

Condition 4 of the outline required detailed estate road drawings to be considered at RM
stage, conditions 10 and 11 require noise mitigation schemes for internal and external areas
and Condition 24 requires that the reserved matter application accords with the following
principles:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)

direct pedestrian and vehicular access to the areas of public open space;
development relating positively to the internal access road;
streets designed to give pedestrians priority;
development to front onto areas of public open space;
all units designed and built to a high standard, limiting external materials and external
features representative of the local area;
(vi) development providing a focal point and a mixture of unit sizes and types, including a
proportion of some terraced properties and properties that are not detached houses;
(vii) the design of corner buildings to provide interest and surveillance;
(vii) development at a density comparable with the Illustrative layout Ref 1748 IL02 Rev A
for 51 houses);
(viii) planting within the site using native species to compliment the retained woodland and
hedgerow areas;
(ix) a significant landscape woodland buffer adjacent to the northern boundary (A465); and
(x) use of traditional boundary treatments adjacent to the internal access road and public
highway.
4.5

Drainage is a matter that has been reserved to be determined through approval of details
through discharge of condition prior to the commencement of development.

4.6

Layout
The layout follows the principles established at the outline stage and have been amended

Page 5 of 28

Page 51

through the REM application process.
4.7

Direct pedestrian and vehicular access is provided to the area of Public Open Space (POS)
to the north of the site. The proposal, as set out at outline facilitates a future link to the
remaining part of the allocation suitable for both cyclists and pedestrians to provide easier
access to other parts of the village including areas of POS and local facilities (without having
to use the B4246).

4.8

A short-terraced row will provide more enclosure and sense of place around the central
nodal point. All units will positively front the internal access road.

4.9

The internal street hierarchy is designed and laid out in accordance with design principles
reflected in Manual for Streets. A continuous footway will be provided from the B4246,
through the development and connecting to the remainder of the allocated site. This
footpath will connect to the area of POS and underpass. A contrasting material is proposed
within the area edging the POS to emphasise a transition into a different space.

4.10

All properties will directly front the proposed area of POS.

4.11

A mixture of unit sizes is proposed, including 8 apartments; 10 terraced properties, 10
semi-detached properties and 23 detached properties. A focal point has been created
within the centre of the site, where the access road branches into two. A change in
character will occur at this point to help frame the space. This will be created by a change
in the orientation and positioning of buildings, the formalisation of boundary treatments
and material selection.

4.12

Key corners will be punctuated with corner turner buildings to provide interest and include
habitable rooms on front and key side elevations to provide visual surveillance.

4.13

The development is at a density comparable with the illustrative layout reference at outline.
This proposed development will achieve 51 units. The overall scale is two-storey with a
mix of detached, semi-detached, terraced and flat/apartment properties. The proposed
development will accord with the min / max width, depth and height of the proposed house
types stated on the illustrative layout plan (Ref: 1748 IL-01 Rev B).

4.14

The site will incorporate a range of complimentary native species, and the layout
incorporates a significant woodland landscape belt and wildlife corridor along the northern
boundary, providing a landscape buffer to the A465. The proposed landscaping accords
with Condition 20, including the proposed tree and hedgerow retention and structural
planting indicated on Landscape Plan drawing. While condition 20 referenced replacements
for two poplar trees proposed to be felled, it has transpired that the trees are not on the
development site, are owned by a third party and not proposed to be felled in association
with the scheme under consideration.

4.15

Traditional boundary treatments (hedgerow and recon-stone wall) are proposed adjacent
to the internal access road and public highway to ensure that the development reflects local
distinctiveness and makes a positive contribution to the area’s character and appearance.

4.16

Houses and Finishes
17 affordable units made up of 8 x 1 bed flats in two separate blocks of four containing 2

Page 6 of 28

Page 52

ground floor and 2 first floor in each, 1 x 2 bed bungalow, 5 x 2 bed two-storey houses
(pair of semi-detached and a terrace of three) and 3 x 3 bed two-storey houses in a terrace
of three are proposed at a rate of 30% affordable housing within the allocated portion of
the site and of40% of affordable housing on that outside of the defined allocation.
4.17

The remaining 34 units are made up of 4 x 2 bed (terrace of four), 17 x 3 bed and 13 x 4
bed two storey houses in a mixture of semi-detached and detached.

4.18

The building sizes are within the parameters set out at outline stage, being as follows:
Width
Depth
Height

4.19

Min
4.5m
8m
7.5m

Max
11m
11m
8.5m

The mixture of dwelling types proposed incorporates a limited range of building finishes
and simple architectural detailing to key elevations. The proposed building finishes palette
is summarised below:
Render with brick plinth
• Webber Pral. M. Through Colour Mortar, Spray Roughcast Finish. Colour White
• Webber Pral. M. Through Colour Mortar, Spray Roughcast Finish. Colour Ref: Cream
• Brick plinth course in Ibstock Welbeck Autumn Antique with a blue band course
Full Stone with Brick Plinth
• Forticrete Reconstituted Shearstone with Cottage Face Finish. Colour – Pentstone.
Mortar – Natural Sand/Cement with Bucket Handle Finish
• Brick plinth course in Ibstock Welbeck Autumn Antique with a blue band course
Roof tiles
• Marley Duo Edgemere Interlocking Slate tile in Smooth Grey
Proposed window/door materials
• “Grey UPVC or GRP”

4.20

Documents for consideration:
Bin Store
House Type List Styles
Street Scenes
Design Compliance Statement
Enclosure Details
House Type Drawings
House Type Drawings
Garages
Highways General Arrangement
Landscape Planting Plan
Bird and Bat Box Location Plan
External Works
House Finishes

BIN 01
SS01
Rev A
HT1 to HT13 Rev A
HT14 to HT26 Rev A
3090-WSP-DR-C-102 Rev P03
426 02 Rev B
BBL 01 Rev A
EW 01 Rev C
HF 01 Rev B

19/12/2019
19/12/2019
11/03/2020
11/03/2020
11/03/2020
11/03/2020
11/03/2020
19/03/2020
29/04/2020
29/04/2020
29/04/2020
05/06/2020
29/04/2020

Page 7 of 28

Page 53

Site Layout
Noise Impact Assessment
5.

TP 01 Rev C
20040433R01A

05/06/2020
09/06/2020

Summary of Consultation responses
Consultee
Received
NP Tree Consultant
29 April 2020
No Objection subject to Conditions
Comments shown in Annex 1, Paragraph C of this response
It would therefore be advised that the same tree and landscape conditions issued to
18/16964/OUT (Conditions 16 and 17) are applied to this application - 19/18163/REM where approval is granted.
NP Planning Ecologist
29 April 2020
A revised landscaping plan has been received, which addresses the concerns previously
raised and the recommended amendments. There is no ecological objection to the approval
of the Reserved Matters. The landscaping scheme also satisfies the requirements of planning
condition 20.Planning conditions 18, 19 and 21 are not satisfied, but only need to be
discharged prior to the commencement of the development.
NP Strategy and Policy
2 January 2020
Consideration must be given as to whether the proposal represents good design in the
context of the National Park (See Policy LDP 1), Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018)
and Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016). Furthermore, care should be taken to ensure
the proposal enables the development of the remainder of LDP allocation ref:
CS39/69/70/88/89/99 without undue impediment.
NP Heritage Officer Building Conservation
27 January 2020
The building conservation comments dated 11.01.2019to the outline application ref.
18/16964/OUT stated that the proposed housing development would have no impact on
designated historic assets due to distance, intervening landscape, or existing housing.
There are undesignated assets in the surrounding area with Ty Clyd House located to the
west of the site boundary. The house is included on the Historic Environment Record (HER)
and the National Monument's Record (NMR) for Wales. The HER states the following: 'A
house of 'special architectural interest' with listing under consideration. Described as a
'sheltered house' and 'much improved' in 1906 by the then owner.' The record was compiled
in 1998 and it appears that ultimately the decision was taken not to list the house. The NMR
provides a record about the garden to Ty Clyd House: 'This garden is depicted on the Second
Edition Ordnance Survey 25-inch map of Brecknockshire XLII, sheet 14. Its main elements on
that map include carriage drive, greenhouse, river and woodland'. The house and its garden
and the gatehouse make an attractive contribution to Govilon's historic character, although
there has been encroachment in the surrounding area by 20th century housing.
The
woodland within the garden boundary provides a landscape buffer and therefore the
development of the site to the north east and east is not likely to significantly compromise
the historic interest of Ty Clyd House or its garden if the woodland is retained. However,
the gate house and driveway to Ty Clyd are close to the southwest boundary of the site and
inevitably there will be some impact on its setting, especially viewed from the public highway.
At the outline application stage it was recommended that the applicant undertook a context

Page 8 of 28

Page 54

appraisal of the wider area, identifying the elements of Govilon's built environment that make
a positive contribution to the village's character and appearance. The applicant submitted a
Settlement Appraisal of Govilon which has responded to the point raised within the built
heritage comments dated 11.01.2019. In response to the submission of the document, the
built heritage comments stated that it would be a useful document to take the scheme forward
and elements identified as making a positive contribution to the area's character and
appearance would need to be reflected in the layout and design of the final scheme. The
Design and Access Statement (DAS) for this Reserved Matters application makes a few brief
references to topics found in the Settlement Appraisal. The DAS needs to be supplemented,
referring to the Settlement Appraisal and showing how its findings are being used in the design
of the scheme.
Ahead of the meeting with the developers, the following bullet points highlight some of the
issues that need addressing in addition to an amended DAS:
o
The building line should follow the curvature of the street. The 'saw tooth' effect of
House nos. 24 - 26 is particularly awkward.
o
House nos. 22 and 23 need to address the corner junction, forming a focal point for
the development on the approach along the main access.
o
Rearrange some groups to create pockets of courtyard development with courtyard
parking - for example the affordable housing group (26 - 35), and Plots 10 - 14.
o
Incorporate more coherent runs of boundary to the back edge of the pavement.
o
Omit Plot 51 and reconsider orientation and design of House 52.
o
Re-orientate House nos. 36 to front the footpath; consider how House 21 can
provide overlooking to street and open space.
o
Consider how the integration of the bungalow with the 2-storey housing can be
improved.
o
Consider how more use could be made of shared roads.
o
It would also be helpful for the applicant to provide some street scenes and maybe
the locations can be agreed at the office meeting.

Monmouthshire County Council Highways
5 May 2020
Thank you for your email in connection with the above planning application.
I have reviewed the revised drawings and are satisfied that they now meet with our
requirements in respect of access to the adjacent site and turning provision for refuse vehicles
at the turning heads. Based on this there are no further concerns.
Regarding conditions we are satisfied that the highway conditions in the outline application
will suffice. I’m not sure whether these need to be replicated in the REM?
Monmouthshire County Council Affordable Housing
20 Feb 2020
The affordable units meet the preferred mix - 8 X 1BF, 5 X 2BH, 3 X 3BH & 1 X 2BB and
after consultation with the nominated RSL, I can confirm appear to be DQR compliant
Monmouthshire County Council Land Drainage
27 May 2020
In response to Highway and Drainage Technical Note submitted 5 May 2020 – ref VC8770_00-REPC03-R2A:
I have reviewed the document sent through by WSP. As an in principle drainage strategy I am

Page 9 of 28

Page 55

comfortable with the proposed layout being able to provide the storage volumes as outlined
in the document.
I would however like to see more inclusion of permeable paving on individual driveways to
provide some water quality improvements, I understand there may be a small change to the
layout and would like this requirement included. The details of the permeable paving/surfacing
and storage can be delivered as part of the later discharge of the drainage condition but I
would like it noted at this stage that there will be a requirement to install permeable driveways
and storage under each individual driveway (except within DCWW Easements).
Monmouthshire County Council Land Drainage
28 April 2020
There are concerns from local residents about flood risk locally to the site including issues
with existing drainage of the site. In response to the application I would need to see at least
the following before we can support the submitted layout:
1) an outline drainage strategy and plan submitted to support the use of the layout
proposed. This strategy would need to show the existing drainage issues on the site, how
these will be managed within the layout and that the proposed layout will not exacerbate
any of these known issues. It would also need to demonstrate that storage area within the
site is capable of reducing runoff to current greenfield rates and includes allowances of 30%
for climate change and 10% for urban creep.
2) The applicant would need to submit an outline/detailed drainage design to show how
the layout proposed is supported by drainage infrastructure in line with the LD04
requirement and previous comments on the site requiring a SuDS based drainage system. I
am not sure how they are proposing to drain that site given existing constraints.
Llanfoist Fawr Community Council
15 April 2020
In line with your guidance, in the absence of formal Community Council meetings, this
consultation response has been collated from Members responses by circulatory email.
Members acknowledge that concerns raised through this Community Council's response to
previous consultation (dated 16th January 2020) have largely been addressed by a
combination of revised plans and the content of the Design Commission Statement dated
11th March 2020. On this basis, approval in principle is recommended. However, Members
remain very unhappy with the proposed main access to the site from the B4246 via a "T"
junction. Members consider that previous objections to this solution remain valid and
include:
 Local experience of excess traffic speed through this section of the B4246.
 Access positioning is close to a blind bend.
 Width of the B4246 at these points is insufficient for two large vehicles to pass safely.
Monmouthshire County Council Environmental Health
3 June 2020
I have carefully considered this application with particular regard to:
-

Outline planning permission granted for application 18/16964/OU, dated19th
December 2019.

-

The subsequent Noise Impact Assessment provided by Acoustics & Noise Limited,
Job No. 20040433, dated 11th May 2020, undertaken with regard to the noise
related conditions 10 and 11 of the afore mentioned permission.

Page 10 of 28

Page 56

Condition 10 relates to how road traffic noise impacts on internal noise levels and
requires all habitable rooms to achieve an internal noise level of 35 dBA Leq 16 hour during
the day and 30 dBA Leq 8 hour at night.
The report recommendations provides that this can be achieved subject to windows to a
substantial number of the dwellings being in the closed position, with the glazing meeting
the minimum sound reduction performance detailed in Table 2, with standard double glazing
sufficing for many of these.
It will not be desirable for these windows to be sealed shut but equally future occupiers
should not be placed in a position of choosing whether to open the windows to fully
ventilate but then experience the road traffic noise. The report does not propose a
ventilation scheme but provides that any scheme should satisfy the requirements of
Approved Document F. Trickle vents will provide background ventilation only and in some
properties where a number of windows are recommended to be kept closed this may not
be sufficient to provide adequate summer cooling.
I therefore recommend that if the application is approved it is subject to conditions:


Prior to first occupation of the residential accommodation mitigation measures to
the façade glazing shall be undertaken in accordance with the recommendations of
Noise Impact Assessment provided by Acoustics & Noise Limited, Job No.
20040433, dated 11th May 2020, or an alternative scheme submitted and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the development commencing.



Prior to first occupation of the residential accommodation subject to façade glazing
mitigation measures as detailed in Noise Impact Assessment provided by Acoustics
& Noise Limited, Job No. 20040433, dated 11th May 2020 (table 2), a mechanical
ventilation strategy to be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Condition 11 relates to how road traffic noise impacts on outdoor living areas and
requires it not to exceed 50 dBA Leq 16 hour.
As provided in the report the basis for this noise level are The World Health
Organisation Guidelines for Community Noise 1999 which provides the following
guideline levels for outdoor living areas:
- 50dB LAeq 16hrs - onset of moderate annoyance day + evening
- 55dB LAeq 16hrs - onset of serious annoyance day + evening
The report models the traffic noise from 2 proposed schemes.
Scheme 1 meets the specified noise level but I assume this will not be desirable to either the
developer or the Planning Authority as it includes ‘An additional noise barrier should be located
within the landscape buffer at the northern boundary of the site. This barrier will need to be of a
minimum height of 5.3m’.
Scheme 2 models the noise levels with a number of mitigation measures proposed. The
result is that:

Page 11 of 28

Page 57

- For 21 gardens noise levels are in excess of 50dB LAeq 16hrs but for 15 of these
the level is met for part of the garden area. There are 6 properties to the north
west of the site, closest to the A465, that do not have any part of the garden
meeting 50dB LAeq 16hrs
- All garden areas meet the higher guideline level of 55dB LAeq 16hrs.
Naturally we generally seek the lower level in Monmouthshire but there are arguments for
relaxing the noise limit level in Condition 11 to 55dB LAeq 16hrs for the 21 properties in
part, of which 6 in total, as presented in the report.
I am satisfied that the report has properly considered options for meeting the lower limit
level and on this basis I have no objection if the planning authority determines the higher
level is acceptable in terms of the dwellings outlined in terms of scheme 2.
Finally, it is important to note that the modelling in the report is based on the layout of the
proposed development detailed in drawing 1748-TP-01 Rev B, subject to modifications
proposed in 6.2 of the report. In this regard I recommend that any approval is subject to the
following condition:


Prior to first occupation of the residential accommodation mitigation measures to
the proposed fences/brick walls shall be undertaken in accordance with the
recommendations of Noise Impact Assessment provided by Acoustics & Noise
Limited, Job No. 20040433, dated 11th May 2020, or an alternative scheme
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the
development commencing.

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on this application, please do not hesitate to
contact me if you wish to discuss any aspect further.
Welsh Government Transport Department
No response received
National Park Public Rights of Way
17 January 2020
Thank you for your consultation letter of the 23 December 2019. I have no comments to
make regarding the reserved matters.
Natural Resources Wales
8 April 2020
Thank you for consulting Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru / Natural Resources Wales about the
above, which we received on 20.03.2020. We have no objection to the proposed
development as submitted and provide the following advice. We provide the following
advice in relation to landscape.
Landscape
We note the use of close boarded fencing in the street scene which we note is particularly
visible, as shown in Street- scene Sections C-C & D-D. We advise the use of close boarded
fencing is avoided if possible or kept to a minimum. The use of stone or rendered walls
would be more appropriate.
We note that a Landscape and Ecological Management Plan for the site has not been
submitted. We would advise that this is required to ensure the successful long term

Page 12 of 28

Page 58

management of the boundary trees and hedgerows and woodland buffer as well as the
overall landscape proposals for the site.
Other Matters
Our comments above only relate specifically to matters included on our checklist,
Development Planning Advisory Service: Consultation Topics (September 2018), which is
published on our website. We have not considered potential effects on other matters and
do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to affect other interests. We
advise the applicant that, in addition to planning permission, it is their responsibility to
ensure they secure all other permits/consents/licences relevant to their development.
Please refer to our website for further details. If you have any queries on the above, please
do not hesitate to contact us.

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at:
https://planningonline.beacons-npa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN
6.
6.1

Third Party Representations
The application was publicised by way of a site notice, direct neighbour notification and a
press notice. The following comments have been received:i.

Outline planning application and approval is flawed. (There were changes to the red line,
consultations weren’t all carried out at the same time, perceived problems with the
S106, haven’t had confirmation that the access road has capacity for 110 dwellings)

ii.

Red line on REM is different to that approved on outline permission.

iii.

The poplar trees, now confirmed not to be on Lanmoor land and not proposed to be
felled as part of the development are incompatible with housing development. Also,
houses are proposed within the root protection zones.

iv.

Hedge proposed to be planted in stream

v.

Access to allocated land to the west not provided as promised.

vi.

No gateway provided for access to the allocated land to the west

vii.

The recommendations of Highways and Flood Management have not been implemented
and there has been no correspondence from BBNPA about the concerns raised by
Highways and Flood Management and there are serious drainage issues relating to this
site. Essential that surface/spring water is addressed at the detailed planning stage

viii.

Consultation process has been compromised - The whole consultation process has
been inadequate and flawed: very few households consulted initially, only 4 households
consulted on the revised application until we complained, objections incorrectly classed
as neutral, and failure to follow up on issues raised by consulted agencies

ix.

T-Junction at B4246 is not suitable and a roundabout is required

Page 13 of 28

Page 59

x.

Access needs to have capacity for up to 110 dwellings (i.e. to include adjacent allocated
land)

7.

Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act places a duty on public bodies to carry
out sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social, economic,
environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The National Park must act in accordance
with the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the needs of the present
are met without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.
As part of this duty public bodies must set and publish objectives which are designed to
maximise its contribution to achieving each of the well-being goals. The 7 goals are:
- A prosperous Wales
- A resilient Wales
- A healthier Wales
- A more equal Wales
- A Wales of cohesive communities
- A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
- A globally responsible Wales

7.1

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the
planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and improves
the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

7.2

The recommendations made by the Strategy and Policy Team are made in line with the
Strategic and individual policies within the adopted Local Development Plan. It is considered
that the Local Development Plan has been prepared to ensure the sustainable development
of the National Park, particularly in relation to Environmental protection, sustainable
distribution of development, housing, economic well-being, sustainable tourism, sustainable
communities, sustainable infrastructure and various other considerations.

8.
8.1

Planning Obligations:
No legal agreement is required. The outline permission is accompanied by a S106 legal
agreement which details the provision of the affordable units, education contribution,
provision of Public Open Space and maintenance, off site play area contribution and
highways works including the provision of road up to the western boundary to allocated
site LDP Ref CS 39/69/70/88/89/90.

9.
9.1

Assessment:
The first stage in assessing a development proposal is to establish the proposal against the
Key Gateway Test –Strategic and Spatial Choices issues, set out in PPW. These issues are
Placemaking (Good Design, Promoting Healthier Places, The Welsh Language, Sustainable
Management of Natural Resources, Placemaking in Rural Areas) and Strategic Placemaking
(Spatial Strategy and Search Sequence, Accessibility, New Settlements, Previously
Developed Land, The Best and Versatile Agricultural Land, Development in the
Countryside, Supporting Infrastructure, Managing Settlement Form). Only the topics
relevant to the reserved matters of Layout, Appearance, Landscaping and scale of
development are assessed below.

Page 14 of 28

Page 60

9.1.1
9.1.1.1

Good design
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018) (PPW) Para 3.4 advises that ‘meeting
the objectives of good design should be the aim of all those involved in the development
process’, which is illustrated by Figure 7 in the Good Design Wheel. PPW states that “Good
design is fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work and
socialise. Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between
all elements of the natural and built environment and between people and places. To
achieve sustainable development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social,
economic, environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used,
how buildings and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction, operation,
management, and its relationship with the surroundings area.”. Guidance on good design
and place making is further expanded on in Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016).

9.1.1.2

The layout largely follows the illustrative scheme at Outline. Changes have been made
through the evolution of this REM application to take account of LPA queries on matter of
design and are summarised as follows:
• Redline title boundary indicated more boldly, confirming the access road adjacent to the
western boundary is taken up to the boundary.
• Reorientation of Plot no. 1 and 2 at site entrance to ensure the building line follows the
curvature of the street.
• Revision to the building line and street layout along the street leading west towards the
future development parcel to follow the curvature of the street and avoid a ‘saw tooth’
arrangement.
• Reorientation of plots 22 and 23 to better address the corner junction and approach
along the main access.
• Introduction of low walling to better define pockets of courtyard development for Plots
10 – 14; Plots 27 – 35; and Plots 45 to 49.
• Revised boundary enclosures/treatments to incorporate more coherent runs of boundary
to the back edge of the pavement.
• Omission of previous plot 49 located within area effected by Poplar trees.
• Re-orientation and design of plots 50 and 51 (previously plots 51 and 52)
• Re-orientation of plot no. 36 to better address the corner.
• Re-orientation of plot no. 26 (affordable bungalow) to better address the street and
create a focal point at the end of a future important vista.
• The application of contrasting highway materials to better define key junctions and
indicate a transition into a different type of space, and aid legibility and wayfinding.
• Infill planting added and a revised soft landscape plan prepared (426.02A).
• Plot substitution (no. 1 and 41) to address concerns over the inclusion of gable fronted
properties at the site access point. The gable is now located to the rear of the house, not
to the front elevation.
• Expansion of the House Type Schedule to include the proposed roofing material “Marley
Duo Edgemere Interlocking Slate Tile in Smooth Grey” and the type and colour of the
proposed window/door materials “Grey UPVC or GRP”.
• Production of street scenes along the main entrance road into the site; the public open
space; and the central street.

9.1.1.3

Queries over the affordable housing layout and overlooking of the POS area have been
addressed as follows:

Page 15 of 28

Page 61

• Consideration was given to grouping the affordable housing to create a courtyard
development however are acceptable in their current format. Plots 3-9 were designed to
resemble a row of terraces. Plots 28-35 reflect the design that has always been proposed
for this part of the site and is shown clearly on the “Illustrative Layout” I the Outline
DAS, however low stone walling has been introduced to the point of access to the private
drive/courtyard serving plots 10-14, 27-35, 45-48.
• The location of the single affordable bungalow unit has been adjusted to ensure it better
addresses the street. On completion of the remaining part of the allocation to the west,
the bungalow will create a focal point along this key east west street and aid legibility. The
requirement to provide a single bungalow on site is always going to mean that it is singled
out as a “different” type of property. To better integrated it we have centrally located it
rather than hide it away. A good quality building set within a generous plot is proposed
(see house type 231B).
9.1.1.4

The layout has been amended since it was first submitted to take out a footway and kerb
at the end of the access road where it abuts the allocated site to the west, thereby taking
the roadway and pavement right up to the boundary

9.1.1.5

The layout is considered to efficiently use the land while incorporating a highways layout
that secures access to the adjacent allocated site, and pedestrian access to the POS and
underpass to the north. The layout and design of the dwellings ensures natural surveillance
contributing to community safety.

9.1.2
9.1.2.1

Promoting Healthier Places
PPW seeks to promote healthier places through the planning system. It notes that: the built
and natural environment is a key determinant of health and well-being. The planning system
has an important role in shaping the social, economic, environmental and cultural factors
which determine health and which promote or impact on well-being in line with the
Healthier Wales goal.

9.1.2.2

LDP Policy SP3 Environmental Protection - Strategic Policy requires all proposals for
development or change of use of land or buildings in the National Park to demonstrate that
the proposed development does not have an unacceptable impact on, nor detract from, or
prevent the enjoyment of; a) the special qualities of the National Park as identified in the
National Park Management Plan.

9.1.2.3

TAN 12 recognises the importance of the scale of development in relation to surroundings
and how the mass and height of developments can impact on privacy, sunlight and
microclimate. PPW at paragraph 3.21 states “The planning system must consider the
impacts of new development on existing communities and maximise health protection and
well-being and safeguard amenity.”

9.1.2.4

The site is in near proximity to existing residential development which could be impacted
by the proposed development. In particular Ty Clyd Lodge and other properties along the
B4246 are the nearest properties. The layout proposed limits the impact of development
on residential amenity by achieving distances to and relationship between the site and
neighbouring dwellings that are sufficient.

Page 16 of 28

Page 62

9.1.2.5

The site lies just south of the A465 Trunk Road. A Noise Report accompanied the Outline
Planning Permission and although raising no objection to the development in terms of the
impact of road traffic noise from the A465 on the development, conditions 10 and 11
requires further detailed work to be carried out to achieve acceptable noise levels
internally and externally. This is assessed in more detail in section 9.2.

9.1.3

The Welsh Language
The proposal is for the development of a housing allocation and adjacent land and the
development proposed is in line with the scale of housing identified in the LDP. The Welsh
language impact of the allocation was considered through the sustainability appraisal for the
plan and determined to be acceptable with no mitigation identified. It is considered that
the proposal will not have an adverse impact on Welsh language use in accordance with
Policy 52 of the LDP.

9.1.4

Sustainable Management of Natural Resources
PPW Para 3.30 advises that 'the objective of SMNR is to maintain and enhance the resilience
of ecosystems and the benefits they provide.' The impact of the proposal on ecosystems,
ecological networks, green infrastructure and related considerations to ensure that the
proposal supports the objective of the sustainable management of natural resources are
considered below.
The layout has been largely informed by the constraints identified in the accompanying
technical documents as well as the required drainage easement through the site, the need
to retain the existing footpath link to the underpass of the A465 and the need for surface
water attenuation. As such the proposed density of 26.5 dwellings per hectare is considered
to be acceptable and is an appropriate density complementary to the existing development
in the surrounding area.

9.1.5
9.1.5.1

Strategic Planning/ Development Plan context/ Principle of Development
The principle of the development was established at the granting of outline planning
permission. The detailed plans put forward now accord with the affordable housing
requirements and housing density and within the parameters established at outline stage.

9.2

Detailed Impact Assessment:
This stage sets out the further factors to be considered. They are assessed against the PPW
headings, which are shown in italics below, however only those relevant are discussed and
these are as follows: Landscape and Visual Amenity, Biodiversity, Water and Flood Risk,
Air Quality and Soundscape, Neighbour Amenity, Housing and Transport/Housing

9.2.1

Distinctive and Natural places
This theme includes the following issues:- Environment, Green Infrastructure, Landscape,
Biodiversity and Ecological Networks, Water and Flood Risk, Air Quality and Soundscape, Lighting
and De-risking.

9.2.1.1

Landscape and Visual Amenity
The scheme for landscaping of the site has evolved through the REM process:

9.2.1.1.1 A section of native-species hedgerow is proposed to the east of the two poplar trees but
the proposed two new oak trees have now been removed from the scheme; the planting
of an oak tree further to the east, in the grassed area, is appropriate. This area will be
managed as a wildflower meadow, albeit with species suited to partial shade. The three

Page 17 of 28

Page 63

magnolia trees, the hornbeam hedgerow along the roadside boundary and the ornamental
hawthorn at the northern corner have all been removed from the proposals as requested.
The planting of dogwood along the south-western boundary of the tunnel footpath has
been amended to a mixed, native-species hedgerow, which is welcomed.
9.2.1.1.2 The proposed trees at the entrance to the site have been re-instated, which is also
welcomed. Cultivars of field maple (Acer campestre) are proposed, which is an acceptable
compromise.
9.2.1.1.3 There are a limited number of street trees and what is proposed is largely non-native,
ornamental planting and not particularly reflective of its location in the National Park.
However, it is understood that there is limited space for street trees due to the proximity
of the houses to the road; the pipeline easement is also a constraint to tree planting across
part of the site.
9.2.1.1.4 The scheme proposed meets the requirements of condition 20 of the REM, though a formal
discharge of condition application will be required. Condition 21 requires submission of a
Landscape and Ecological Enhancement and Management Plan (LEEMP) which will include
detailed management prescriptions and timetables etc.
9.2.1.1.5 There are no proposed houses within the root protection zones of the TPO’d poplars on
the western boundary of the site and while there is a roadway to serve two houses, it is
not part of the main internal access road. No objection has been raised by the NP Tree
Officer, and should concerns over construction arise they can be dealt with during
discharge of condition 16 of the outline permission regarding tree protection.
9.2.1.1.6 The landscape plan show hedgerow to be planted along the stream line in the south east
corner of the site. In reality it will not be planted within the stream itself and assessment
will be carried out at the time of planting to determine exactly where the planting will go.
9.2.1.2

Biodiversity and Ecological Networks
The LEEMP discussed above and which is required to be discharged through condition
required the provision of at least fifty features for bat roosting and bird nesting and reptile
habitat creation. Condition 18 requires that an Ecological Method Statement is submitted
prior to any vegetation clearance and condition 19 requires an external lighting scheme to
be approved before development commences.

9.2.1.3

Water and Flood Risk
Concerns have been raised from third parties with regard to how the surface water
drainage of the site will be achieved. Monmouthshire County Council Land Drainage have
reviewed the Highway and Drainage Technical Note submitted during this application
process and have commented that as an in principle drainage strategy the proposed layout
is capable of being able to provide the storage volumes as outlined in the document. There
is however a desire to see more inclusion of permeable paving on individual driveways to
provide some water quality improvements. The details of the permeable paving/surfacing
and storage can be delivered as part of the later discharge of the drainage condition of the
outline permission but there will be a requirement to install permeable driveways and
storage under each individual driveway (except within DCWW Easements).
Development prior to the approval of a scheme would be unauthorised.

Page 18 of 28

Page 64

9.2.1.4 Air Quality and Soundscape
9.2.1.4.1 Condition 10 of the Outline permission states: ‘Pursuant to the approval of the reserved matters
relating to layout and appearance, a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority to provide that all habitable rooms exposed to external road traffic noise
in excess of 55 dBA Leq 16 hour [free field] during the day [07.00 to 23.00 hours] or 45 dBA
Leq 8 hour [free field] at night [23.00 to 07.00 hours] shall be subject to sound insulation
measures to ensure that all such rooms achieve an internal noise level of 35 dBA Leq 16 hour
during the day and 30 dBA Leq 8 hour at night. The submitted scheme shall ensure that habitable
rooms subject to sound insulation measures shall be able to be effectively ventilated without
opening windows.
No dwelling shall be occupied until the approved sound insulation and ventilation measures have
been installed to that property in accordance with the approved details’.
9.2.1.4.2 The noise impact assessment submitted concludes that this can be achieved subject to
windows to a substantial number of the dwellings being in the closed position, with the
glazing meeting the minimum sound reduction performance detailed in Table 2, with
standard double glazing sufficing for many of these.
9.2.1.4.3 It will not be desirable for these windows to be sealed shut but equally future occupiers
should not be placed in a position of choosing whether to open the windows to fully
ventilate but then experience the road traffic noise. The report does not propose a
ventilation scheme but provides that any scheme should satisfy the requirements of
Approved Document F. Trickle vents will provide background ventilation only and in some
properties where a number of windows are recommended to be kept closed this may not
be sufficient to provide adequate summer cooling. Therefore a condition requiring the
approval of a mechanical ventilation strategy is proposed.
9.2.1.4.4 Condition 11 of the outline permission states:
Pursuant to the approval of the reserved matters relating to layout and appearance, a
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to
provide that the maximum day time noise level in outdoor living areas exposed to external
road traffic noise shall not exceed 50 dBA Leq 16 hour [free field]. The scheme of noise
mitigation as approved shall be constructed in its entirety prior to the first occupation of
any dwelling and shall be retained thereafter in perpetuity.
The basis for the noise level set in the condition are The World Health Organisation
Guidelines for Community Noise 1999 which provides the following guideline levels for
outdoor living areas:
- 50dB LAeq 16hrs - onset of moderate annoyance day + evening
- 55dB Laeq 16hrs - onset of serious annoyance day + evening
9.2.1.4.5 The noise impact assessment submitted models the traffic noise with two alternative
schemes, the first of which achieves would require a noise barrier to a minimum height of
5.3m within the landscape buffer at the northern boundary of the site and the increase in
height to a number of walls and fences, including to a height of 4.7m to the rear of plots 30
to 35.
9.2.1.4.6 The second scheme puts forward a number of less obtrusive measures requiring locally
increased heights in boundary walls and fences and results in noise levels in excess of 50dB

Page 19 of 28

Page 65

LAeq 16hrs for 21 gardens, but for 15 of these plots the level is met for part of the garden
area. There are 6 properties to the north west of the site, closest to the A465, that do not
have any part of the garden meeting 50dB Laeq 16hrs however all garden areas meet the
higher guideline level of 55dB Laeq 16hrs.
9.2.1.4.7 Monmouthshire County Council Environmental Heath are satisfied that the report has
properly considered options for meeting the lower limit.
9.2.1.4.8 It is considered that a barrier of significant height in close proximity to the dwellings may
prove unacceptable from an overbearing and visual impact and conflict with other design
goals set out in PPW which include creating sustainable places which are attractive,
sociable, accessible, active, secure, welcoming, healthy and friendly’. Therefore while the
measures in Scheme 2 do not fully meet the requirements of condition 11 it is considered
a balance has been struck which limits the adverse effect that may occur at the upper level
of 55dB to a limited number of properties.
9.2.1.4.9 The Outline Permission requires that a Construction Environmental Management plan to
minimise the creation and impact of noise, vibration, dust from site preparation,
groundworks and construction phases of the development is submitted for approval prior
to commencement of development. This would normally include working hours but to
assist in enforcement of such, a condition is proposed to restrict construction and
demolition operations, (including deliveries) to between the hours of 08.00 to 18.00
Monday to Friday and 08.00 to 13.00 on Saturday with no operation on Sunday or public
holidays. It is considered that subject to submission of an appropriate CEMP and the hours
of operation potential detrimental impact on neighbouring properties can be mitigated to
an acceptable level.
9.2.2

Active and Social Places
This theme includes the following issues:- Transport, Housing, Retail and Commercial
Development, Community Facilities, Recreational Spaces

9.2.2.1

Neighbour Amenity
Para. 2.7 of PPW states that placemaking in development decisions happens at all levels and
involves considerations at a global scale, including climate change, down to the very local level, such
as considering the amenity impact on neighbouring properties and people. There is no noise
associated with this kind of development and the farm is on its own with no near
neighbours. There will be no impact from the proposal on neighbour amenity.

9.2.2.1.1 The site is in near proximity to existing residential development which could be impacted
by the proposed development. In particular Ty Clyd Lodge and other properties along the
B4246 are the nearest properties. The layout proposed limits the impact of development
on residential amenity by achieving distances to and relationship between the site and
neighbouring dwellings that are sufficient. Construction disturbance is considered under
soundscape above.
9.2.2.1.2 The layout is considered to efficiently use the land while incorporating a highways layout
that would secure access to the adjacent allocated site, and pedestrian access to the POS
and underpass to the north. The layout and design of the dwellings ensures natural
surveillance contributing to community safety.

Page 20 of 28

Page 66

9.2.2.3

Housing
The Local Authority have been consulted and confirm the affordable units meet the
preferred mix - 8 X 1BF, 5 X 2BH, 3 X 3BH & 1 X 2BB and after consultation with the
nominated Registered Social Landlord, appear to be DQR compliant

9.2.2.4

Transport / Housing – sustainable transport issues (Sustainable Transport Hierarchy)
The layout proposed secures access to the adjacent allocated site, and pedestrian access
to the POS and underpass to the north.

9.3

Response to Llanfoist
representations

9.3.1

The Community Council has objected to the application and maintain objection on the
basis that they are very unhappy with the proposed access to the site from B4246 via ‘T’
Junction due to local experience of excess traffic speed, access positioning close to a blind
bend and the width of the B4246 at these points being insufficient for two large vehicles to
pass safely. The access was approved at outline stage and is not for consideration here,
however Monmouthshire County Council who are the Highway Authority for the B4246
and will be seeking to adopt the estate road on completion are satisfied with arrangements.

9.3.2

Third party objections to the application raise a number of issues, principally the need to
secure access to the remainder of the allocated site, to which the plans do now show field
gates at the end of the road which was proposed to have been a fence originally. The main
material considerations in assessing the application have been identified through the report
and considered, including the related matters raised by neighbours and third parties. A
number of the comments made are not relevant to this reserved matters application. Means
of access from the highway was determined at outline stage. Monmouthshire CC Highways
have confirmed to the principle objector that the scale and size of access was scrutinised
and technically reviewed at the LDP allocation stage; that the transport statement submitted
with the OUT indicates access and estate roads will be designed to accommodate residential
development of 100-110 dwellings and that through the S78 Highways Act agreement
required in the S106 access will be subject to detailed design in accordance with current
design standards, will be technically audited, safety audited and in doing so will be capable of
accommodating the intended development traffic. Perceived problems with the outline
permission and the Section 106 and consultation process are not for consideration here.
Other matters raised by third parties and neighbours have been considered and taken into
account when reaching a recommendation on the proposal.

10

Conclusion

Fawr

Community

Council

and

third

party

It is considered that the details regarding appearance, landscape, layout and scale are
acceptable and meet with the requirements of the policies listed above.
11

Recommendation: Permit
Conditions:
1. The development hereby granted approval of reserved matters shall be begun before
the expiration of two years from the date of this approval, or before the expiration of
five years from the date of the outline planning permission, whichever is longer.

Page 21 of 28

Page 67

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

The development shall be carried out in all respects strictly in accordance with the
approved plans (drawing no. Bin Store (BIN 01) received 19 December 2019;
Enclosure Details Rev A, House Type Drawings HT1 to HT13 Rev A , House Type
Drawings HT14 to HT26 Rev A received 11 March 202; ‘Garages’ and ‘Finishes
schedule’ received 19 March 2020; Landscape Planting Plan (426 02 Rev B), Highways
General Arrangement (3090-WSP-DR-C-102 Rev P03), Bird and Bat Box Locations
(BBL 01 Rev A), House Finishes (HF 01 Rev B) and received 29 April 2020); External
Works (EW 01 Rev C) and Site Layout (TP 01 Rev C), received 5 June 2020 unless
otherwise approved by formal application to the Authority.
Prior to first occupation of the residential accommodation referenced with red and/or
blue facades on in NM-01 ‘Noise Mitigation’ and within Table 2 of the Noise Impact
Assessment, mitigation measures to the façade glazing shall be undertaken in
accordance with the recommendations of Noise Impact Assessment provided by
Acoustics & Noise Limited, Job No. 20040433R01A, dated 9 June 2020, or an
alternative scheme submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the development commencing.
Prior to first occupation of the residential accommodation subject to façade glazing
mitigation measures as detailed in Noise Impact Assessment provided by Acoustics &
Noise Limited, Job No. 20040433R01A, dated 9 June 2020 (Table 2), and with red and
blue facades on in NM-01 ‘Noise Mitigation’, a mechanical ventilation strategy to be
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
The scheme of noise mitigation as recommended in the Noise Impact Assessment
provided by Acoustics & Noise Limited, Job No. 20040433R01A, dated 9 June 2020
and plan NM-01 ‘Noise Mitigation’ shall be constructed prior to the first occupation
of that dwelling to which it relates and shall be retained thereafter in perpetuity
During the construction phase no machinery shall be operated, no process shall be
carried out and no deliveries taken at or despatched from the site outside the
following times: Monday-Friday 8.00 am-6.00pm, Saturday 8.00 am-1.00 pm nor at any
time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.

Reasons
1. To ensure compliance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2. To ensure adherence to the approved plans in the interests of a satisfactory form of
development.
3. In the interests of residential amenity.
4. In the interests of residential amenity.
5. In the interests of residential amenity.
6. To protect the amenity of local residents.
Informatives:
1
o
o
o
o

All nesting birds, their nests, eggs and young are protected by law and it is an offence
to:
Intentionally kill, injure or take any wild bird
Intentionally take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird whilst it is in use or
being built
Intentionally take or destroy the egg of any wild bird
Intentionally (or recklessly) disturb any wild bird listed on Schedule1 while it is nest

Page 22 of 28

Page 68

2

3

4

5

building, or at a nest containing eggs or young, or disturb the dependent young of such
a bird. The maximum penalty that can be imposed - in respect of a single bird, nest
or egg - is a fine of up to 5,000 pounds, six months imprisonment or both.
The applicant is therefore reminded that it is an offence under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) to remove or work on any hedge, tree or building
where that work involves the taking, damaging or destruction of any nest of any wild
bird while the nest is in use or being built, (usually between late February and late
August). If a nest is discovered while work is being undertaken, all work must stop
and advice sought from Natural Resources Wales.
Work should halt immediately and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) contacted for
advice in the event that protected species are discovered during the course of the
development. To proceed without seeking the advice of NRW may result in an
offence under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 and/or the
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) being committed. NRW can be
contacted at:
NRW, Cantref Court, Brecon Road, Abergavenny, NP7 7AX Tel: 0300 065 3000
The applicant may need to apply to Dwr Cymru / Welsh Water for any connection
to the public sewer under S106 of the Water industry Act 1991. If the connection to
the public sewer network is either via a lateral drain (i.e. a drain which extends beyond
the connecting property boundary) or via a new sewer (i.e. serves more than one
property), it is now a mandatory requirement to first enter into a Section 104
Adoption Agreement (Water Industry Act 1991). The design of the sewers and lateral
drains must also conform to the Welsh Ministers Standards for Gravity Foul Sewers
and Lateral Drains, and conform with the publication "Sewers for Adoption"- 7th
Edition. Further information can be obtained via the Developer Services pages of
www.dwrcymru.com
The applicant is also advised that some public sewers and lateral drains may not be
recorded on our maps of public sewers because they were originally privately owned
and were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water Industry (Schemes
for Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. Under the Water Industry Act
1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus at all times.
The Welsh Government (Transport) as highway authority for the A465 trunk road
have requested that the following matters are brought to the applicants attention:There shall be no interference with the trunk road highway infrastructure
including the boundary fence and existing trunk road soft estate.
All surface water should be disposed of appropriately and not discharged to the
trunk road.
Should any noise mitigation measures be deemed necessary, these shall be for
the applicant to incorporate into the design at their cost.
Monmouthshire County Council Environmental Health Officer advises that the
following matters should be followed in relation to adopting good design principles
that reduce emissions and contribute to better air quality management.
o Do not create a new "street canyon", or a building configuration that inhibits
effective pollution dispersion;
o Deliver a sustainable development;
o Be designed to minimise public exposure to pollution sources, e.g. by locating
habitable rooms away from busy roads, or directing combustion generated pollutants
through well sited vents or chimney stacks;
o Provide at least 1 Electric Vehicle (EV) "rapid charge" point per 10 residential
dwellings. Where on-site parking is provided for residential dwellings, EV charging

Page 23 of 28

Page 69

6
7

points for each parking space should be made.
o Where development generates significant additional traffic, provision of a detailed
travel plan (with provision to measure its implementation and effect) which sets out
measures to encourage sustainable means of transport (public, cycling and walking) via
subsidised or free-ticketing, improved links to bus stops, improved infrastructure and
layouts to improve accessibility and safety.
o All gas-fired boilers to meet a minimum standard of <40mgNOx/kWh.
o All gas-fired CHP plant to meet a minimum emissions standard of:
Spark ignition engine: 250 mgNOx/Nm3;
Compression ignition engine23 : 400 mgNOx/Nm3;
Gas turbine: 50 mgNOx/Nm3.
o A presumption should be to use natural gas-fired installations. Where biomass is
proposed within an urban area it is to meet minimum emissions standards of:
Solid biomass boiler: 275 mgNOx/Nm3 and 25 mgPM/Nm3.
The Highway Authority will require the developer to enter into a legally binding
agreements to secure the proper design and implementation of the proposed works
to the existing highway and highway drainage including an appropriate bond.
A public footpath crosses the site. Planning permission does not give the applicant the
right to interfere, obstruct or divert a Public Right of Way. A development, insofar as
it affects a Public Right of Way, should not be started prior to the issue of a Public
Path Order and the right of way must be kept open and unaltered for public use, unless
or until the necessary public path order has come into effect.

Page 24 of 28

Page 70

Site Layout Plan - TP 01 Rev C. NB Not to scale

Heads of the Valleys Road

Page 71
Page 25 of 28

Street Scenes - SS01. NB Not to scale

Page 72
Page 26 of 28

House Finishes - HF 01 REV B. NB Not to scale

Heads of the Valleys Road

Page 73
Page 27 of 28

Landscape Planting Plan - 426 02 Rev B. NB Not to scale

Page 74
Page 28 of 28

ENC5Item 3

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE
Application Number:

19/17509/FUL

Date Validated:

8 Jan 2020

Site Address:

Glaslyn Court Nursing Home

Decision Due
Date:

29 July 2020

Crickhowell Road
Gilwern
Monmouthshire
NP7 0EH
Grid Ref:

E: 324046 N:215317

Proposal:

Side Extension 2
Storey with dormers
to front roof.

Case Officer:

Davina Powell

Community:

Llanelly

Reason(s) Application
Reported to Committee:

The proposal, due to the floor area of the extension, is a Major development
proposal requiring determination by Committee

RECOMMENDATION:

Refusal

Page 1 of 28

Page 75

1.

Site and Context

1.1

The site of development takes in the Glaslyn Court Nursing Home which is situated a
short distance outside the settlement of Gilwern off the A4077 Crickhowell Road as it
heads towards Llangattock.

1.2

Glaslyn Court appears to have been originally constructed as a country residence and
formed a prominent estate on the southern banks of the River Usk. The overall
grounds extend to around 3.75 hectares. There are formal grounds to the property
with open lawns and specimen trees to the east creating an appearance of a parkland
setting. The property is partially screened by groups of trees and shrubs. The site is
visible from the nearby public highway, but set back approximately 80m with views
broken up by trees along the road.

1.3

Glaslyn Court is a residential nursing home. The applicant’s agent indicates that it
opened as a care home in 1983 and currently has 82 bed spaces. The premises consist
of the original residential property, a large three storey extension (granted consent in
2005/2006), single storey extensions and outbuildings. Conservatory extensions have
been recently removed on the southern elevation. The property is not listed or within a
conservation area. The original property has an attractive and architecturally interesting
front elevation. This elevation and the south eastern side elevation are particularly
prominent from the driveway to the property and face towards the public highway.
External finishes of the main property are a mixture of natural stone wall construction
with brick detailing and flat arches over windows. There is a more elaborate bath stone
bay window to the right of the main entrance. Most of the additions to the main
building have been finished with roughcast render. Roof pitches of the main building
have been reflected in the previous additions.

2.

Description of Development

2.1

It is proposed to erect a “U” shaped extension with a central courtyard on the south
east elevation of the existing building (elevation seen on approach to the property from
the driveway). The extension is two and half storey and is intended to provide an
additional 28 bedrooms for the care home. The front elevation of the extension will
include four dormer windows in the roof space and it is proposed to be raise part of
the roof of the adjacent existing Glaslyn care home by circa 0.8m to match the roof
height of the proposed new extension. Ancillary storage is also accommodated in the
roof space of the proposed extension and an administration space is shown to be
provided in the loft space of the raised roof of the existing care home. Three new
dormer windows are now proposed in the front elevation of the existing care home.

2.2

The front elevation will extend by around 27.3m in length (based on the noted
annotation of the drawing - although please note there appears to be slight discrepancy
in the annotations on the drawing and measurements taken of this drawing. The
measurements indicate a length of 26.4 metres). The extension is set forward from the
front elevation of the existing building by 2.3m (based on measurements of the
drawing). A new main entrance is then proposed on the extension. The proposed
external finishing materials are natural stone cladding with stone quoins, stone cast
mullion window surrounds, with double glazed aluminium powder coated windows with

Page 2 of 28

Page 76

leaded lights. 15 additional car parking spaces are proposed.
2.3

The proposal includes a proposed new Package Treatment Plant (to deal with foul
drainage) which will connect to an existing Package Treatment Plant pipe.

2.4

The proposed development was amended during the course of the planning application.
The roof of the existing care home was not previously proposed to be raised.
Previously the proposal was for 1 less bedroom (29 as opposed to the 28 bedrooms
now shown). The roof height of the proposed extension was 1m higher than the
existing care home, its length was previously 27m long and the width was 26.9m, which
projected forward of the building façade by 5.3m (instead of the 2.3m which now
currently appears to be proposed [based on measurements taken from the drawing]).
The roof space of the extension was previously shown to accommodate ancillary office
space and staff facilities (whilst now it is proposed to accommodate some bedrooms as
well as ancillary space. Ancillary administration space now shown within the raised roof
of the existing care home.

3.

Planning History

App Ref

Description

Decision

Date

06/00135/CON

Amendments to planning permission
M20563

Application
Permitted

28th Jul 2006

M20563

Proposed extension to rear of
existing building.

Application
Permitted

19th Jul 2005

M18290

Retention of conservatory

Application
Permitted

8th May 2002

4.

Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

4.1

Local Planning Policy and Guidance

4.1.1

The development plan for the area is the Brecon Beacons National Park Local
Development Plan 2007-2022 (hereafter LDP) which was adopted by resolution of the
National Park Authority on the 17th December 2013. The following policies are
considered relevant to the decision or have been raised in representations.

Policy no.
SP1
Policy 1
SP3
Policy 3
Policy 4
Policy 5
Policy 6
Policy 7

Policy
National Park Policy
Appropriate Development in the National Park
Environmental Protection - Strategic Policy
Sites of European Importance
Sites of National Importance
Sites of Importance for Nature Conversation
Biodiversity and Development
Protected and Important Wild Species

Page 3 of 28

Page 77

Policy 8
Policy CYD LP1
Policy 21

Trees and Development

Policy 50
Policy 51
Policy 53
SP16
Policy 56

Retention of Existing Community Facilities
Development of New or Extended Community Facilities
Planning Obligations
Sustainable Infrastructure
Water and Sewage Supply for New Development

Policy 58
SP17
Policy 59
Policy 60
SP18

Sustainable Drainage Systems
Sustainable Transport
Impacts of Traffic
Provision for Cycling and Walking
Sustainable Use of Land

SP 10
SP11

Policy 57

Enabling Appropriate Development
Historic Landscapes

Sustainable Design
Sustainable Distribution of Development

Use of Non Mains Sewerage Solutions

4.1.2

The proposal is located in an area of open countryside as defined by the LDP Proposals
Map. The LDP defines countryside locations as areas unsuitable to accommodate future
development in accordance with the Environmental Capacity of the National Park. The
LDP defines a 15 year vision for the future of the Countryside which emphasises the
importance of supporting the countryside as a living and working landscape,
internationally recognised for its outstanding natural beauty and cultural traditions.

4.1.3

As such, in these areas, there is a presumption against development with the exception
given to those development forms where there is a defined essential need for a
countryside location. Strategy policy CYD LP1 sets out the forms of development that
are considered acceptable within these parameters. Care homes are listed as
Community Facilities within the LDP in paragraph 8.1.0.3.

4.1.4

Criterion 2 of CYD LP1 enables proposals that strengthen and enhance of community
facilities and services serving the area.

4.2

National Planning Policy and Guidance

4.2.1

National planning policy and guidance which is considered as particularly relevant to the
determination of this application is as follows:

Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (December 2018) (PPW)
Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) (TAN5)
Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016) (TAN12)
Technical Advice Note 18: Transport (2007) (TAN18)
Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development (2014) (TAN23)

Page 4 of 28

Page 78

Technical Advice Note 24: The Historic Environment (2017) (TAN24)
5.

Summary of Consultation responses

Consultee

Comments

Llanelly Community
Council

No comments to date.

Monmouthshire
County Council
Highways

No objection. Additional parking - 43 in total - is acceptable to cater for the
extension and unchanged access to A4077 is acceptable. Comments on the need
for appropriate drainage for the additional parking area; note the need for
additional disabled spaces; note minor errors on plans.

Dwr Cymru Welsh
Water - Developer
Services

Standard comment to highlight that some public sewers and lateral drains may not
be recorded on maps of public sewers because they were originally privately
owned and were transferred into public ownership by nature of the Water
Industry (Schemes for Adoption of Private Sewers) Regulations 2011. In order to
assist us in dealing with the proposal we request the applicant contacts us on 0800
917 2652 to establish the location and status of the sewer. Under the Water
Industry Act 1991 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its apparatus
at all times.

Monmouthshire
County Council
Environmental Health

No objection to the scheme but in order to protect the amenity of the existing
nearby dwellings a planning condition is recommended requiring the submission of
a Construction Environmental Management Plan.

Monmouthshire
County Council Land
Drainage

The proposal is noted to be outside the flood plan or surface water flow routes.

National Park
Planning Archaeology

The application will affect an unlisted building of local historic significance. To alter
the building without a basic record of its architectural style and current condition
will result in the permanent loss of historic information. A photographic survey of
the principal external elevations of the building is recommended to provide a basic
visual photographic record of the building in advance of development.

Monmouthshire
Sustainable Drainage
(SAB)

Further to your planning application reference BBNP/19/17509/FUL, side
extension 2 storey with dormers to front roof at Glaslyn Court Nursing Home,
Gilwern, please be advised that we believe your proposed scheme will require a
sustainable drainage system designed in accordance with Welsh Government
Standards.

NP Heritage Officer
Building
Conservation

Glaslyn Court is an unlisted building; however, the building is of local historic
interest. The 1847 Llanelly Tithe Map shows the house, and a group of
outbuildings (barn, coach house and stable) to the north west of the house. This

Page 5 of 28

Page 79

indicates that the buildings date from at least the mid-19th century. The original
house retains a degree of architectural interest particularly to the south west
elevation where the original front elevation of the property is clearly legible. There
have been many alterations, and extensions over the years including a large
extension on the east side. The building group is set within extensive grounds
with open lawns and mature specimen trees creating an appearance of a parkland
setting. The grounds are recorded on the National Monuments Record for Wales
as a country house garden and having an 'orchard, kitchen garden divided by paths
and at least one glasshouse. There is a lodge, fountain, picturesque woodland and a
modest carriage drive.' The property is visible within the wider landscape
particularly along the access to the south.
Comments on the original proposal stated:
The current proposal seeks to expand the nursing home by adding an extension to
the south east side of the building. Existing single storey elements on the south
east side would be removed. The extension would form a 'U' shape with a
courtyard in the middle. The ground floor would provide a kitchen, dining room
and bedroom suites. The first floor would be used bedroom suites, and the attic
floor for office space.
The existing building is 2-storey, while the extension is two-storey with attic
rooms. This results in the extension having a greater ridge height than the original
property. The extension is also substantial in width and depth and does not
respond to the proportions of the original building. The combined scale and mass
of the extension and its siting slightly forward of the original front elevation will
result in a bulky and dominant addition. In addition, its position on the south east
elevation is the most visually prominent elevation on the approach to the property
and has a major impact on the front elevation where the original architectural
design of the building is still evident. An extension should not dominate the host
building and this generally means it should be lower and smaller. The scale, mass
of the proposed extension makes it more prominent than the existing building,
particularly to the front elevation. To the south east elevation, the extension
effectively masks the original building from view.
The principle of an extension in this location could potentially work; however, the
combination of the scale and mass of the current proposal is unacceptable due to
its dominance over the existing building. The harm due to the bulk of the
extension is also accentuated due to its location on a particularly prominent
elevation. The parkland around the building contributes to the wider landscape
setting. In addition to the extension dominating the original building, it would also
dominate and harm this parkland setting.
It may be possible for an extension to have the same ridge height as the existing
building if there is an intervening lower link. This link could house a staircase to
provide access between the two elements at ground and first floor level.
Lowering the height of the extension would mean that a second floor could not be
accommodated, however the office space could potentially be housed elsewhere.
Conclusion
The positioning, scale and height of the proposed extension is unacceptable due to
its visual dominance over the existing building. The harm due to the bulk of the
extension is also accentuated due to its location on a particularly prominent
elevation. Not only would it dominate the original building, it would also
dominate the parkland setting.
It is recommended that the application is refused.

Page 6 of 28

Page 80

The following initial comments were provided to the applicant relating to
the applicant’s proposal to raise the roof of the care home –
An alternative proposal has been forwarded by the applicant which would involve
raising the southern part of the roof on the original building so that it is higher
than the proposed extension. This does have the effect of introducing an element
of subservience, although this approach is not good design practice. The applicant
justifies raising the height of the roof and adjusting the pitch, stating that the roof
is not original and that the amended proposal reinstates it to its original pitch.
The applicant also states that the roof has caused problems by leaking. No
evidence of the former roof pitch has been provided. It is observable from the
plans that the roof on north side of the chimney is slightly higher to that on the
southern side, indicating that an alteration to the pitch could have occurred. Just
considering the alterations to the roof on its own merits, it is of concern that the
raised section will appear unbalanced with the remaining half of the existing roof.
It could be worth the applicant exploring the option of raising the whole of the
existing roof provided that this can work aesthetically with the building. I suggest
that this would give the building a more coherent appearance rather than just
raising the southern half. This could offer the option of using the roof space of the
existing building for the office, rather than the extension. The extension can then
be reduced in height. The acceptability of raising the height of the existing building
would however be dependent on reducing the height of the extension so that it is
no higher than the existing building as it is currently.
The extension still projects out from the frontage of the existing building. It
should be set back behind the frontage of the original building.
The size of the extension windows also make the building visually dominant in
comparison to the host building. I suggest that window proportions of the first
floor windows to the left of entrance door (right of the oriel window) are used to
inform the extension windows. I also suggest the main entrance to the original
building should continue to read as the primary entrance even if the applicant
intends that the new extension should be the main entry point. The extension
entrance can be designed with more subdued detail and if necessary, signage used
to direct people to the designated reception point.
Conclusion
Further work is required for this scheme to be acceptable. The applicant's idea of
raising the roof of the existing building could offer a solution but this will depend
on how successful this will work aesthetically. Just raising one side of the roof is
likely to give the roof an unbalanced appearance and it is suggested that it could be
worth the applicant exploring the option of raising the whole of the existing roof
and creating a usable space. The acceptability of raising the height of existing roof
will also depend on it being able to accommodate usable space so that the
extension then needs to be no higher than the existing building at present.
Comments on the (current) amended proposal stated –
The amended plans show the roof on the original building raised and dormer
windows inserted to provide a usable attic floor. The existing roof on north side
of the chimney is slightly higher to that on the southern side, indicating the roof
has been altered on the south side to lower the height and alter the pitch. The
proposed height of the roof on the original building does not look out of place
with the building's proportions and works reasonably well aesthetically. The
applicant has taken previous advice on board to create a continuous ridge line for

Page 7 of 28

Page 81

the original roof rather than just raising the southern half. The concept of raising
the height of the original roof was supported from a heritage perspective so that
the roof space could be used, thereby reducing the amount of space needed
within the proposed extension and enabling a reduction in height. The heritage
comments dated 9th April 2020 emphasised that the acceptability of raising the
height of the existing building was dependent on reducing the height of the
extension so that it is no higher than the original building, prior to the proposal to
raise the roof. The amended plans show the extension as the same height as the
original building with its roof raised. It is repeated that this approach of making an
existing building larger to try and justify the scale of an extension is not good
design practice.
Conclusion
From a heritage perspective the amendments are not sufficient to make this
scheme acceptable. Raising the roof of the existing building works reasonably well
aesthetically and provides additional usable space; however the extension should
be subservient in height, no higher than the original building prior to the proposal
to raise the roof.
National Park Tree
Consultant - Mike
Higgins

Applicant submitted a tree report during the determination process. No
objections on tree impact subject to conditions. Condition required for a
Arboricultural Impact Assessment, Arboricultural observation and adherence
confirmation and landscaping details.

NP Planning Ecologist

The applicants have submitted revised proposals, an amended ecological report
followed by further information submitted very recently. However, there is still
insufficient information in the ecological report to have confidence that bat roosts
are absent from the existing roof voids that will be affected by the latest
amendments to the proposals (i.e. raising the height of the existing roof and
converting part of it to Administration space). Additional bat activity survey
information is required, particularly to clarify whether there is any potential for
bat emergence from roosts that may be present to the rear (north-east)
elevations and that could not be observed by the surveyors in the positions
indicated in the report. This information is required prior to this application being
approved.
The ecological survey information is sufficient for there to be no ecological
objection to the proposed extension to the south-east.
The BBNPA will need to undertake a Habitats Regulations Assessment of the
proposals if it is minded to approve the application. This is currently under
consultation with NRW.
Planning conditions can be imposed to secure the submission and implementation
of a biodiversity enhancement scheme, a landscaping scheme and details of
external lighting.

Natural Resources
Wales/Cyfoeth
Naturiol Cymru

We have no objection to the proposed development as submitted and provide the
following advice.
European Protected Species
We note that the bat survey report within the Phase 1 Preliminary Ecological
Assessment by Reports4Planning revised June 2020, appears to indicate that

Page 8 of 28

Page 82

inspection/ survey did not result in any evidence of bat roosts being discovered.
However, Appendix 3 of the report, intended to outline the activity surveys,
contains a number of contradictions and potential inaccuracies regarding the
type(s) and date(s) of survey, which result in reduced confidence in the findings.
We advise you liaise with your in-house ecologist in the first instance regarding
clarification of the number, type (emergence/ re-entry), number of surveyors
present, date(s) and year of any activity surveys. Please reconsult us should you
require further advice from us on any amended information submitted.
Foul Drainage
We note the submission of a sewage plan PDR/1011/P with an amendment date of
16 June 2020. However, we are unable to discern any differences between this
plan and the plan previously commented upon. As such our advice in our response
dated 23/01/2020 remains relevant. If there are changes to this sewage plan, please
reconsult us identifying the changes.
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA)
Our advice regarding HRA remains unchanged from our response dated 23/1/20.
Other Matters
Our comments above only relate specifically to matters included on our checklist,
Development Planning Advisory Service: Consultation Topics (September 2018),
which is published on our website. We have not considered potential effects on
other matters and do not rule out the potential for the proposed development to
affect other interests.
We advise the applicant that, in addition to planning permission, it is their
responsibility to ensure they secure all other permits/consents/licences relevant to
their development. Please refer to our website for further details.

Copies of the full consultation responses can be found on our website at: https://planningonline.beaconsnpa.gov.uk/online-applications/?lang=EN

6.

Third Party Representations

6.1

The application was publicised through the placing of site notices at the site,
advertisement in a local newspaper and direct neighbour notification. The application
was also publicised during the pre-application consultation phase undertaken by the
applicant.

6.2

No third party representations were received.

7
7.1

Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act places a duty on public bodies to
carry out sustainable development to improve the way in which we achieve the social,
economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales. The National Park must act
in accordance with the sustainable development principle and seek to ensure that the
needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of future generations to
meet their own needs. As part of this duty public bodies must set and publish objectives
which are designed to maximise its contribution to achieving each of the well-being

Page 9 of 28

Page 83

goals. The 7 goals are:
 A prosperous Wales
 A resilient Wales
 A healthier Wales
 A more equal Wales
 A Wales of cohesive communities
 A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language
 A globally responsible Wales
7.2

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the
planning system contributes towards the delivery of sustainable development and
improves the social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as
required by the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

7.3

Any recommendations made by the Strategy and Policy Team are made in line with the
Strategic and individual policies within the adopted Local Development Plan. It is
considered that the Local Development Plan has been prepared to ensure the
sustainable development of the National Park, particularly in relation to Environmental
protection, sustainable distribution of development, housing, economic well-being,
sustainable tourism, sustainable communities, sustainable infrastructure and various
other considerations.

8.

Planning Obligations

8.1

Policy 53 of LDP and the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) on Planning
Obligations (July 2014) outline the local planning authority's approach to the provision
of contributions to planning obligations. The SPG outlines that the development issues
that the National Park seeks to manage are mostly more local than strategic in nature
by reason of the relative scale of development within the National Park. No
requirement for planning obligations has been identified.

9

Assessment:

9.1

Strategic & Spatial Choices

9.1.1

Strategic Planning/ Development Plan context/ Principle of Development

9.1.1.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires all
development management decisions to be made in accordance with the development
plan unless material considerations dictate otherwise. The LDP is the development plan
for the purposes of 38(6) and specific material considerations must be identified to
reasonably depart from its policies. The proposal would form an extension to an
existing use and would be considered against criterion 2 of CYD LP1 (“Enabling
Appropriate Development in the Countryside”). The proposal would strengthen and
enhance the existing community facilities, in compliance with this policy. While the
proposal would extend the existing community facility it would not extend the site itself
and it would be entirely enclosed within the existing site. It is considered that the
proposal would amount to the redevelopment with some extension to the property. It
is not considered that the proposal would contravene Policy 51 (“Development of New
or Extended Community Facilities”) of the LDP. Overall the proposal would result in

Page 10 of 28

Page 84

extended and improved facilities within an existing nursing home and it would be an
acceptable proposal in principle.
9.1.2

Good Design/ Place making

9.1.2.1 Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December 2018) (PPW) states that “Good design is
fundamental to creating sustainable places where people want to live, work and socialise.
Design is not just about the architecture of a building but the relationship between all elements
of the natural and built environment and between people and places. To achieve sustainable
development, design must go beyond aesthetics and include the social, economic,
environmental, cultural aspects of the development, including how space is used, how buildings
and the public realm support this use, as well as its construction, operation, management, and
its relationship with the surroundings area.”. PPW para 3.16 also states “planning authorities
should through a process of negotiation seek to improve poor or average developments which
are not well designed, do not take account of their context and consider their place, or do not
meet the objectives of good design. Where this cannot be achieved proposals should be
rejected. However, they should not attempt to impose a particular architectural taste or style
arbitrarily and should avoid inhibiting opportunities for innovative design solutions. If a decision
maker considers that a planning application should not be approved because of design
concerns they should ensure that these reasons are clearly articulated in their decision and
justified with sufficient evidence. In the event of an appeal, in these circumstances, the Planning
Inspectorate will need to examine the issues in detail and consider if the proposal meets the
objectives of good design including the relationship between the site and its surroundings”.
Guidance on good design and place making is further expanded on in Technical Advice
Note 12: Design (2016).
9.1.2.2 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement (DAS), which offers the
applicant’s justification in relation to the requirements for good design and place
making. Policy SP1 'National Park Policy' states that developments in the National Park
will be required to comply with the purposes and statutory duty set out in legislation
and will be permitted where it conserves and enhances the natural beauty, wildlife and
cultural heritage of the Park and/or provides for, or supports, the understanding and
enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park in a way that does not harm
those qualities.
9.1.2.3 The impact of the proposal on the landscape character of the countryside can be
considered against the relevant criteria of Policy 1 'Appropriate Development in the
National Park' of the LDP:
i) the scale, form, design, layout, density, intensity of use and use of materials will be
appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality and character
of the Park's Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment;
ii) the proposed development is integrated into the landscape to the satisfaction of the
NPA through planting and appropriate management of native species or through the
construction of appropriate boundary features.
9.1.2.4 Glaslyn Court is non-statutory designated property; and it would be considered a nondesignated heritage asset that contributes to the character of the National Park. The
Tithe Map includes Glasllwyn House and associated barn, coach house and stable. The
main house has had many alterations, adaptations and extensions. The original building

Page 11 of 28

Page 85

retains a degree of architectural interest particularly to the south west elevation where
the original front elevation of the property is clearly legible. There are more alterations
to the south east elevation with single storey extensions and previously a conservatory
(which is now demolished). The north east elevation is heavily extended and links to the
large extension to the east. The property is visible within the wider landscape
particularly along the access to the south.
9.1.2.5 This extension is to the south east elevation of the building which is the elevation seen
on approach to the property. The extension would be two storey with additional
accommodation in the roof space.
9.1.2.6 Options have been discussed to amend the scheme and considerable amendments were
made to the scheme between the pre-application (a three storey extension was
proposed) and final proposal. The National Park Built Heritage Officer sought a number
of amendments to the proposal and objected the scheme. At that point the agent
indicated that to provide the amendments would make the scheme unviable. The agent
has indicated that there is a reduced scope for amending the design due to e.g. the need
to achieve specific room sizes required by legislation, that changes in levels have been
avoided due to the need to avoid internal stairs and ramps. The floor heights are
required to accommodate services such as air conditioning, sprinkler systems and fresh
air circulation. However, an amended scheme which proposed the raising of the existing
care home roof was then submitted during the course of the planning application. The
National Park Built Heritage Conservation Officer maintains an objection and considers
the amendments are not sufficient to make this scheme acceptable. Raising the roof of
the existing building is however noted to work reasonably well aesthetically and
provides additional usable space; however the extension should be subservient in
height, no higher than the original building prior to the proposal to raise the roof.
9.1.2.7 Generally the principle of extending to the south east is considered to be acceptable,
particularly given the existing extensions (of which the conservatories are now
demolished) on this elevation which already impact the original character of this
elevation. It is considered that the scale and mass of an extension should take design
cues and measurements of mass and proportion forms from the existing core of the
house envelope. Architectural features and elements can provide cues for modern or
nostalgic new design proposals. The current design is of a different character and
projects forward of the front façade set by the existing care home. The submitted
drawing now shows the entrance into the extension being the ‘main entrance’ which
again reinforces the Authority’s opinion that this extension is not subservient to the
existing care home. The extension is longer and deeper than the two-storey element of
the existing care home and has the same roof line. The proposal would stand in
discordant contrast to the original property. The positioning, scale and height of it
would also result in a visually dominant addition to the existing property. The location
of the development a particularly prominent elevation and it is considered the proposal
would have a form and bulk that would be much more prominent and dominating of its
parkland setting.
9.1.2.8 Due to the concerns regarding the design of the scheme it is not considered that the
proposal would comply with Policy 1 ‘Appropriate Development in the National Park’
of the LDP.

Page 12 of 28

Page 86

9.1.2.9 The environmental sustainability policy requirement is set in the LDP paragraph 3.16.1.4
which is to meet at least the national standards set out in PPW. This requirement is set
out in Policy SP11 ‘Sustainable Design’ of the plan. The minimum national sustainable
building standards are delivered through the building regulations - a system of control
outside the planning system.
9.1.2.10 The proposal shows reasonable consideration for achieving natural surveillance
through the site and securing community safety.
9.1.2.11 Detailed consideration is given below to movement to and from the site and its
compliance with the transport hierarchy. The proposal links into and can provide
appropriate options for moving through the site and into the wider transport network.
9.1.2.12 Overall, it is considered that the proposal fails to demonstrate that it is a development
of an acceptable design.
9.1.3

Impact on Amenity/ Promoting Healthier Places

9.1.3.1 PPW seeks to promote healthier places through the planning system. It notes that: the
built and natural environment is a key determinant of health and well-being. The
planning system has an important role in shaping the social, economic, environmental
and cultural factors which determine health and which promote or impact on well-being
in line with the Healthier Wales goal. The proposal is to extend an existing established
care home use; the site has a reasonable relationship to Gilwern and the services that
are on offer within this settlement.
9.1.3.2 The care home building is set within the existing grounds of the property and set away
from the boundaries of the site. The extension will remain a considerable distance from
nearby properties. TAN 12 recognises the importance of the scale of development in
relation to surroundings and how the mass and height of developments can impact on
privacy, sunlight and microclimate. PPW at paragraph 3.21 states “The planning system
must consider the impacts of new development on existing communities and maximise health
protection and well-being and safeguard amenity.” Impact on residential occupiers such as:
loss of light, loss of privacy, loss of outlook, loss of view and overbearing development
should be considered by the planning system and are identified in national
policy/guidance.
9.1.3.3 The scale of development is likely to result in construction activities that will last for a
significant period of time. There are some residential properties in reasonable proximity
to the site and residents within the care home. This combination of circumstances is
considered to give rise to a potential detrimental impact on residential amenity from
construction. Appropriate locating of onsite operations such as earth moving, aggregate
mixing, crushing, screening, and onsite storage and transportation of raw material will
help to reduce impacts. Appropriate locating of the storage of heavy plant and
equipment, including vehicles and car parking facilities for construction site operatives
and visitors and appropriate working practices will also reduce amenity impacts. These
measures can all be secured through the imposition of a planning condition requiring a
construction environmental management plan. Construction and demolition operations,
(including deliveries) can also be restricted. It is considered that subject to the
submission of appropriate management and hours of operation the impact on

Page 13 of 28

Page 87

neighbouring properties will be mitigated to an acceptable level.
9.1.4

The Welsh Language

9.1.4.1 It is considered that the proposal will not have an adverse impact on Welsh language
use in accordance with Policy 52 ‘Welsh Language’.
9.2

Active and Social Places

9.2.1

Access, Highways and sustainable transport

9.2.1.1 PPW states that “It is Welsh Government policy to require the use of a sustainable transport
hierarchy in relation to new development, which prioritises walking, cycling and public transport
ahead of the private motor vehicles”.
9.2.1.2 The use of the site as a care home is established and this proposal is an extension to
the existing use. The proposal is accessed directly from the A4077 a busy public
highway, with traffic travelling between Gilwern and Llangattock. The development will
provide an additional 15 parking spaces and the access to the A4077 is to remain
unchanged. The Local Highways Authority (LHA) has observed that “The submission
states that an additional 16 No. full time staff will be required as part of the development
proposal. The additional traffic volume that this increase in staff will generate is will not impact
on the public highway network at this location.” The LHA has not objected to the proposal.
They have observed that the drainage should be specified for the parking area which
will be an extensive area of concrete/tarmac. They note that the applicant should detail
disabled parking spaces within the additional parking to increase the two spaces
currently available. It is considered that additional information to address their
requirements could be secured by a planning condition.
9.2.1.3 Overall there is considered to be reasonable compliance with the sustainable transport
hierarchy and is in compliance with Policy 59 ‘Impacts of Traffic’ of the LDP.
9.3

Productive and Enterprising Places

9.3.1.1 Paragraph 1.1.5 of Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development states that
“Economic land uses also include construction, including house building, but housing once built
is not an economic land use because it does not directly generate wealth, jobs and income. It is
the final use of land which is the important issue.” The economic benefits accruing from
construction can be given some weight in decision making but it is not considered that
these would be of significant weight.
9.3.1.2 The proposal will bring about the provision of 28 additional bed spaces (increasing from
82 to 100 bedrooms) and would be an investment in an established business. The
application indicates that the expansion will secure the continued employment of the
existing 111 staff and allow for expansion to 127 employees. It will also allow for the
expansion in care home bed space to meet need in the locality. There are economic
and community benefits from the scheme that should be given weight in determining
the application.
9.4

Distinctive & Natural Places

Page 14 of 28

Page 88

9.4.1

Landscape/ Visual Impact and Impact on the Historic Environment

9.4.1.1 Policy SP1 'National Park Policy' states that “development in the National Park will be
required to comply with the purposes and statutory duty set out in legislation and will be
permitted where it: a) conserves and enhances the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage
of the Park and/or b) provides for, or supports, the understanding and enjoyment of the special
qualities of the National Park in a way that does not harm those qualities and c) fulfils the two
purposes above and assists the economic and social well-being of local communities”.
9.4.1.2 The impact of the proposal on the landscape character of the area can be considered
against the relevant criteria of Policy 1 'Appropriate Development in the National Park'
of the LDP as follows.
i) the scale, form, design, layout, density, intensity of use and use of materials
will be appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality
and character of the Park's Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built
environment;
ii) the proposed development is integrated into the landscape to the satisfaction
of the NPA through planting and appropriate management of native species or
through the construction of appropriate boundary features.
9.4.1.3 Glaslyn Court is an unlisted building; however, the building is of local historic interest.
The 1847 Llanelly Tithe Map shows the house, and a group of outbuildings (barn, coach
house and stable) to the north west of the house. This indicates that the buildings date
from at least the mid-19th century. The original house retains a degree of architectural
interest particularly to the south west elevation where the original front elevation of
the property is clearly legible. There have been many alterations, and extensions over
the years including a large extension on the east side. The building group is set within
extensive grounds with open lawns and mature specimen trees creating an appearance
of a parkland setting. The grounds are recorded on the National Monuments Record
for Wales as a country house garden and having an 'orchard, kitchen garden divided by
paths and at least one glasshouse. There is a lodge, fountain, picturesque woodland and
a modest carriage drive.' The property is visible within the wider landscape particularly
along the access to the south.
9.4.1.4 The current proposal seeks to expand the nursing home by adding an extension to the
south east side of the building. Existing single storey elements on the south east side
would be removed. The extension would form a 'U' shape with a courtyard in the
middle.
9.4.1.5 The existing building is 2-storey and is now proposed to have raised roof so the roof
ridge is the same as the proposed two-storey extension with attic rooms. The
extension is also substantial in width and depth and does not respond to the
proportions of the original building. The combined scale and mass of the extension and
its siting forward of the original front elevation will result in a bulky and dominant
addition. In addition, its position on the south east elevation is the most visually
prominent elevation on the approach to the property and has a major impact on the
front elevation where the original architectural design of the building is still evident.
The scale, mass of the proposed extension makes it prominent and dominant of the
existing building, particularly to the front elevation. To the south east elevation, the

Page 15 of 28

Page 89

extension effectively masks the original building from view.
9.4.1.6 The positioning, scale and height of the proposed extension is unacceptable due to its
visual dominance over the existing building. The harm due to the bulk of the extension
is also accentuated due to its location on a particularly prominent elevation. Not only
would it dominate the original building, it would also dominate the parkland setting.
9.4.1.7 The application was referred to the National Park Archaeologist who undertook a site
visit to the site. During the site visit it was noted that the location of the extension was
on land that had in the recent past been disturbed and there was not likely to be
archaeological features impacted at the site.
9.4.1.8 Overall the proposal is considered to have an unacceptable impact on the existing
property which is an undesignated heritage asset, contrary to the requirements of LDP
Policy 1 ‘Appropriate Development in the National Park’.
9.4.3

Green Infrastructure

9.4.3.1 The proposal will result in the loss of green infrastructure due to the land take of the
new extension, although much of the site of the extension has been previously
developed. Appropriate mitigation can be secured through the use of a planning
condition to secure a landscaping scheme. Overall it is considered that it will retain and
provide some green infrastructure enhancement.
9.4.4

Biodiversity

9.4.4.1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016 states that 'A public authority must seek
to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of functions in relation to Wales, and in so
doing promote the resilience of ecosystems, so far as consistent with the proper exercise of
those functions.'.
9.4.4.2 Regulation 9 of the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2010 (as amended)
requires LPA's to take account of the presence of European Protected Species at
development sites. If they are present and affected by the development proposals, the
Local Planning Authority must establish whether "the three tests" have been met, prior
to determining the application.
The three tests that must be satisfied are:
i. That the development is "in the interests of public health and public safety, or for
other imperative reasons of overriding public interest, including those of a social or
economic nature and beneficial consequences of primary importance for the
environment".
ii. That there is "no satisfactory alternative"
iii. That the derogation is "not detrimental to the maintenance of the populations of the
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in their natural range"
9.4.4.3 The adopted Local Development Plan also includes policies regarding ecological issues
and safeguarding biodiversity as listed above.

Page 16 of 28

Page 90

9.4.4.4 During the application process the applicant submitted additional bat information (as
this was necessary due to a change now being proposed to the existing roof of the care
home). This information was considered by both Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and
the National Park Planning Ecologist. NRW highlighted a number of contradictions and
potential inaccuracies in the bat information provided and the National Park Planning
Ecologist concludes that there is insufficient information in the ecological report to have
confidence that bat roosts are absent from the existing roof voids that will be affected
by the latest amendments to the proposals (i.e. raising the height of the existing roof
and converting part of it to Administration space). The National Park Planning Ecologist
has required additional bat activity survey information prior to this application being
approved. Further information was very recently submitted in response to comments
made by NRW and the National Park Planning Ecologist however latest comments from
the National Park Planning Ecologist are that it is still considered that the bat activity
survey effort is insufficient and in particular should have covered the rear of the
building.
9.4.4.5 Following clarification on the foul drainage aspect of the scheme, the National Park
Planning Ecologist and Natural Resources Wales (NRW) do not object to the means of
foul drainage associated with the development. The applicant is proposing a package
treatment plant system, which will connect to an existing package treatment plant pipe
and discharge into the River Usk which is designated as a Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) and Special Area of Conservation (SAC). NRW do however note that a
Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA) will be required to be undertaken to consider
whether the proposed development is likely to have a significant effect on the European
site (River Usk). The HRA is currently being consulted with NRW, should members
wish to approve this development then a verbal update will be provided at the planning
committee meeting should a response be received from NRW in time for this.
9.4.4.6 Planning conditions can be imposed to secure an external lighting plan; landscaping and
biodiversity enhancement as recommended by the National Park Planning Ecologist.
9.4.4.7 To conclude, in relation to ecological impact, there is insufficient bat information on the
current proposal which means this constitutes a reason for refusal at this point in time.
A verbal update can be given at planning committee should further details be submitted
between the drafting of this report and the planning committee meeting. There is no
objection to the principle of the proposed foul drainage solution at this point however
we are awaiting a consultation response from NRW in relation to the Habitats
Regulations Assessment, should members wish to approve this development. A verbal
update will be provided at the planning committee meeting should a response be
received from NRW in time for this. Other ecological matters are considered to be
adequately controlled via planning condition.
9.4.5

Flooding, Water (including foul drainage / SuDS), Air, Soundscape, Light and
de-risking

9.4.5.1 The application was referred to Monmouthshire County Council as Lead Local Flood
Authority (LLFA)/Sustainable Drainage Approval Body (SAB)/Land Drainage Authority
(LDA). The application pre-dates the requirement for the approval by the SAB.
9.4.5.2 The proposed development will require approval by the SAB. A detailed SuDS report

Page 17 of 28

Page 91

has been submitted with the application to indicate how the flows from the site will be
catered for. The SAB approval process will secure the provision of appropriate SuDS
and it is has been reasonably demonstrated that a system can be provided within the
site.
9.4.5.3 The submitted information in relation to surface, foul and land drainage is reasonably
detailed and comprehensive and there is no objection to the principle of this solution
(subject to the completion of a Habitats Regulations Assessment should members wish
to approve this application).
9.4.5.4 No contamination or stability issues have been identified at this site and the proposal is
for an extension to an existing building.
10

Conclusion

10.1

An extension to the care home on the elevation proposed is in principle acceptable to
the Authority. The scheme will also give rise to economic and community benefits that
should be accorded weight in decision making. Most other impacts can be mitigated and
the mitigation can be secured by planning conditions. There do however remain two
significant objections to the proposal:

10.2

Firstly, the design of the proposal is overly dominant and large and sited on a prominent
elevation of the property. The extension would dominate the original building and would
also dominate its parkland setting. It would not be an appropriate design and is contrary
to the requirement in PPW, TAN12 and Policy 1(i) that the scale, form and design of a
proposal will be appropriate to the surroundings and will maintain or enhance the quality
and character of the Park’s Natural Beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and built
environment.

10.3

Secondly, there is currently insufficient ecological information submitted to-date to have
confidence that bat roosts are absent from the existing roof voids that will be affected
by the latest amendments to the proposals (i.e. raising the height of the existing roof
and converting part of it to Administration space). The National Park Planning Ecologist
requires additional bat activity survey information.

10.4

It is recommended on balance that the application should be refused for the reasons
below and it is not considered that the benefits of the scheme outweigh the detrimental
impacts arising from the scheme.

11.

Recommendation: Refuse
1.

The design of the proposal is overly dominant and large and sited on a
prominent elevation of the property. The extension would dominate the
original building and would also dominate its parkland setting. It would not be
an appropriate design and is contrary to the requirement in Planning Policy
Wales (Edition 10, December 2018), Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016)
and Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 1(i) that the
scale, form and design of a proposal will be appropriate to the surroundings and
will maintain or enhance the quality and character of the Park’s Natural Beauty,
wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment.

Page 18 of 28

Page 92

2.

There is insufficient ecological information submitted to-date to understand
whether there is any associated impact on bats as a result of the proposal. This
is contrary to the requirement in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10, December
2018), Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) and
Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 1(i) that the
scale, form and design of a proposal will be appropriate to the surroundings and
will maintain or enhance the quality and character of the Park’s Natural Beauty,
wildlife, cultural heritage and built environment. It is also contrary to Brecon
Beacons National Park Local Development Plan Policy 6 and 7.

Page 19 of 28

Page 93

NB Extracts below are not shown to scale and are shown for illustrative purposes only

Brecon

Gilwern

Existing Site Plan

Page 20 of 28

Page 94

Brecon

Gilwern

Proposed site plan

Page 21 of 28

Page 95

Page 96
Existing front and side elevations

Page 22 of 28

Page 97
Proposed front, side and rear elevations

Page 23 of 28

Page 98
Existing Ground Floor Plan

Page 24 of 28

Page 99
Proposed Ground floor

Page 25 of 28

Page 100
Existing First Floor Plan

Page 26 of 28

Page 101
Proposed First floor

Page 27 of 28

Page 102
Proposed loft floor

Page 28 of 28

ENC6Item 1
APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS
App No.

Grid Ref.

Applicant, proposal, type, address

Decision

Date Issued

Decision Type

18/16074/FUL

N: 221278
E: 318565

Mr Mick/Jodie Wright for Conversion of
the first floor area of an existing
outbuilding to residential
accommodation at "Ty Llys", Farm,
Tretower. (Full Application) at Ty Llys ,
Tretower, Crickhowell Powys NP8 1RF

Permit
subject to
Section
106
Agreement

12 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

19/17502/CON

N: 220710
E: 332688

Mr & Mrs James for Variation of
conditions 2 and 6 of Application
Reference Number: 14/11082/REM
Reduction in number of
dwellings to be erected by one
(Condition 2: Approved drawing
numbers to be amended to suit revised
layout), (Condition 6: Approved bat
mitigation drawings to be amended to
suit revised layout.) (Variation/Renewal
of Conditions) at Twr Mihangel ,
Llanvihangel Crucorney, NP7 8DH

Permit
subject to
Section
106
Agreement

3 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

19/17682/FUL

N: 226092
E: 299633

Mr Thomas Burgoyne for Conversion of
former school into 2 dwellings
(retention of adjacent residential
accommodation) (3 dwellings in
total). Provision of parking spaces,
biomass heating system and change of
use of part of adjacent field into
residential garden use (resubmission of
previously submitted application)
(partially retrospective application). (Full
Application) at The Old School House,
Libanus, Brecon Powys LD3 8EL

Permit
subject to
Section
106
Agreement

2 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

19/17788/FUL

N: 228583
E: 304506

Ms Marie McAvoy for Replacement of
existing CCTV cameras, brackets and
wireless repeaters at 7 locations in
Brecon:
Natwest, 27 High Street Superior;
Lloyds Bank, 38 High Street Inferior;
Brecon Town Hall, High Street; Bobbins,
6 Bulwark; Co-op Car Park, Lion Yard;
Brecon Chicken and Pizza Land, 14 Ship
Street; St Mary's Church, St Mary's St.
(Full Application) at Brecon Town
Centre, 7 Locations, Powys

Permit

22 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

19/17789/LBC

N: 228583
E: 304514

Ms Marie McAvoy for Replacement of
existing CCTV cameras, brackets and
wireless repeaters at 5 locations in

Permit

22 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 103

Brecon:
Natwest, 27 High Street Superior;
Lloyds Bank, 38 High Street Inferior;
Brecon Town Hall, High Street; Bobbins,
6 Bulwark; St Mary's Church, St Mary's
St. (Listed Building Consent) at Brecon
Town Centre, 5 Locations, Powys
20/18174/FUL

N: 217209
E: 323258

Mr Robert Monkley for Introduction of
a new footpath link from the existing car
park to the main training centre building
(Full Application) at Cwrt-Y-Gollen
Training Camp , Cwrt-Y-Gollen,
Crickhowell NP81TH

Permit

9 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18189/FUL

N: 227712
E: 313325

Colin Preece for Installation of
temporary building to accommodate a
new community shop (use class A1) and
café (use class A3) with outdoor seating,
cycle parking and associated works (Full
Application) at Youth And Community
Centre , Llangorse, Nr Brecon LD3
7TR

Permit

27 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18219/LBC

N: 228628
E: 304506

Mr D Renshaw for Conversion of No.
11A Lion Street, Brecon to 3 no.
apartments including demolition of toilet
block (Listed Building Consent) at 11A
Lion Street, Brecon, LD3 7HY

Permit

24 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18300/FUL

N: 221356
E: 310280

Mr A. Hugh Colvin for Renovation of
partly restored Dual Row Quarrymen's
cottages (originally 4 No.) to create 2
No. "guest wing" cottages to main
house.
To include reinstatement of 2 No.
intermediate floors; restoration of spiral
stone staircases; windows and doors.
The addition of one larger; 4 smaller
windows; kitchenettes and bathroom
accommodation to bring cottages into
appropriate and sustainable 21 Century
use. (Full Application) at Glanclydach,
Aber Village, Talybont-On-Usk Brecon
Powys LD3 7YS

Permit

9 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18301/LBC

N: 221356
E: 310280

Mr A. Hugh Colvin for Renovation of
partly restored Dual Row Quarrymen's
cottages (originally 4 No.) to create 2
No. "guest wing" cottages to main
house.
To include reinstatement of 2 No.

Permit

9 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 104

intermediate floors; restoration of spiral
stone staircases; windows and doors.
The addition of one larger; 4 smaller
windows; kitchenettes and bathroom
accommodation to bring cottages into
appropriate and sustainable 21Century
use. (Listed Building Consent) at
Glanclydach (Cottages), Tal-y-bont Ar
Wysg, Brecon Powys LD3 7YS
20/18310/DISC
ON

N: 225142
E: 310676

Mr And Mrs Iley for Discharge of
Conditions 3, 5, 6 and 11 pursuant to
planning permission 19/17525/LBC.
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Scethrog House,
Scethrog, Brecon Powys LD3 7EQ

Permit

22 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18315/FUL

N: 219037
E: 321466

Mr and Miss Paul and Kirsty Holloway
and Havard for Householder planning
application for addition of 2 storey
extension to side and rear of main
house. (Full Application) at 10 Victoria
Terrace, Brecon Road, Crickhowell
Powys NP8 1DN

Permit

27 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18329/FUL

N: 218980
E: 321524

Justine Wheatley for Replacement rear
extension, internal alterations, and
landscaping works to The Old School,
Crickhowell. (Full Application) at The
Old School, Brecon Road, Crickhowell
Powys NP8 1DG

Permit

28 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18353/FUL

N: 221202
E: 318580

Mr Stephen Jones for Removal of
existing Temporary Visitor Facilities
(from within the Courtyard) and their
relocation into the existing Barn;
Alterations to Barn Structure, including
Reinstatement of Historic Pentice and
formation of bat access. (Full
Application) at Tretower Court And
Castle , Tretower, Crickhowell NP8 1RF

Permit

16 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18384/FUL

N: 211937
E: 322424

Mr & Mrs Leeder for Extension/
creation of additional head space in
existing bedrooms and bathroom with 3
pitched roof dormers to front elevation
and dormer to the rear elevation. (Full
Application) at Hillcrest , Waenllapria,
Llanelly Hill NP7 0PP

Permit

15 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18408/FUL

N: 228024
E: 303234

Mr Darran Harris for Change of use
from self-storage units (Use Class B8) to
a rehabilitation and wellness centre (D2

Permit

29 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 105

use class) and associated parking area
(Full Application) at Units 8, 9 And 10,
Penyfan Business Park, Ffrwdgrech
Industrial Estate, Brecon Powys, LD3
8LA, ,
20/18413/FUL

N: 215542
E: 323391

Ms Helen Marks for Rebuilding works to
existing Grade II dwelling house
following fire damage (Full Application)
at Dan Y Graig , Crickhowell Road,
Gilwern NP7 0EH

Permit

4 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18414/LBC

N: 215542
E: 323391

Ms Helen Marks for Rebuilding works to
existing Grade II dwelling house
following fire damage (Listed Building
Consent) at Dan Y Graig , Crickhowell
Road, Gilwern NP7 0EH

Permit

9 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18429/FUL

N: 218394
E: 312249

Mr & Mrs Thewes for Proposed link
providing annexe and art/drawing studio
(Full Application) at Nant-y-Wenynen,
Duffryn Crawnon, Llangynidr
Crickhowell Powys NP8 1NU

Permit

12 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18438/FUL

N: 227850
E: 302975

Mr Lesbriel for Alterations to the front
entrance to enable Disability
Discrimination Act (DDA) compliance
and provide appropriate welfare facilities
by construction of office. (Full
Application) at Unit 18 And 19 ,
Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate, Brecon
LD3 8LA

Permit

28 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18447/SO

N: 213899
E: 315450

Mott Macdonald Bentley for screening
opinion as to whether the proposed
works to Upper Carno Reservoir
constitutes Environmental Impact
Assessment (EIA) development under
the provisions of the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2017
(the EIA Regulations). (EIA Screening
Opinion) at Upper Carno (Llangynidr)
Reservoir

Environme
ntal
Statement
Not
Required

18 May 2020

Screening
Opinion

20/18459/FUL

N: 217254
E: 320784

Mr & Mrs Miles for Two story extension
to provide re-ordered hall and w.c. area
to ground floor and ensuite and dressing
room to first floor. (Full Application) at
Y Bwthyn , Hillside Road, Llangattock
Crickhowell NP8 1LD

Permit

2 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18460/FUL

N: 213649

Mr & Mrs Charrington for Demolition

Permit

20 May 2020

Delegated

Page 106

E: 326828

of garage and construction of a two
storey rear extension, single storey side
extension, single storey rear extension
and installation of solar panels. (Full
Application) at 32 Stephens Crescent,
Govilon, NP7 9RL

20/18466/FUL

N: 217541
E: 321079

Mr Erick Williams for Take down single
skin porch extension and rebuild in a
traditional cavity wall format with full
radon protection (Full Application) at 7
Beechwood Road, Llangattock,
Crickhowell Powys NP8 1PL

Permit

12 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18468/FUL

N: 228885
E: 304521

Mr Paul Martin for Change of use of
property from cafe on ground floor and
commercial use on other floors to form
one residential unit.
(Full Application) at Huntingdon House,
20 The Struet, Brecon Powys LD3 7LL

Withdraw

3 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18475/FUL

N: 218657
E: 265120

Mr & Mrs Hayden & Donna Williams for
Proposed Garage with home office in
the loft served by an external staircase.
To be ancillary to dwelling currently
under construction. (Full Application) at
Glyncoch , Trapp, Llandeilo SA19 6TR

Permit

30 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18492/FUL

N: 220192
E: 334094

Mr & Mrs Michael Adams for Installation
of two greenhouses and a potting shed
(Full Application) at Cefn Farmhouse ,
Llanvihangel Crucorney, NP7 8EN

Permit

22 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18501/FUL

N: 216510
E: 331092

Mr Gavin Harris for Erect Log Cabin to
act as storage and office space (Full
Application) at The Mill House ,
Hereford Road, Llantilio Pertholey NP7
6NU

Withdraw

11 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18504/FUL

N: 220710
E: 332688

Mr B James for Removal of 2 small
garages and replacement with a single
larger garage. (Full Application) at Twr
Mihangel , Llanvihangel Crucorney, NP7
8DH

Permit

20 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18505/LBC

N: 220710
E: 332688

Mr B James for Removal of 2 small
garages and replacement with a single
larger garage. (Listed Building Consent)
at Twr Mihangel , Llanvihangel
Crucorney, NP7 8DH

Permit

10 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 107

Decision

20/18510/FUL

N: 228891
E: 304805

Mrs Liz Rijnenberg for Construction of a
rear single-storey extension (Full
Application) at 6 Cerrigcochion Lane,
Brecon, LD3 7NW

Permit

22 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18512/FUL

N: 225532
E: 294585

Mr A Burnell for Replace existing
dilapidated garage and stables with new
outbuilding for garage, stables,
machinery store and private workshop
ancillary to the dwelling house at Glwyd
Fawr (Full Application) at Glwyd Fawr ,
Sennybridge, Brecon LD3 8TG

Permit

10 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18513/FUL

N: 218422
E: 324131

Mr Lee for To relocate an existing oil
tank to a new position with provide a
new larger 9000 litre oil storage tank
(Full Application) at Pendarren House
Outdoor Education Centre , Llangenny,
Crickhowell NP8 1HE

Permit

12 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18516/CPE

N: 232969
E: 317895

Ms Sandy Thwaites for Certificate of
Lawfulness for the ancillary domestic use
of structures within the curtilage of the
dwellinghouse (Certificate Existing
Lawful Use/Dev) at Berth Fedw Farm ,
Talgarth, Powys LD3 0ED

Permit

20 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18521/FUL

N: 228888
E: 304269

Mr Oliver Denton for Replacement of
rear external UVPC window with a new
disabled access doorway, including
minor ramp. Specific to flat 28, in Powys
County Council Flats. (Full Application)
at 28 St Johns Road, Brecon, LD3 9DT

Permit

27 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18529/CON

N: 224186
E: 313624

Mr & Mrs R & E Watson for Variation of
Condition 10 to extend number of days
in 2021 when permissible for weddings
to take place in view of postponement
of such in 2020 due to Coronavirus
Covid 19, pursuant to Planning
Permission 16/14319/FUL
(Variation/Renewal of Conditions) at
Barn At Trebinshwn House, Llangasty
Talyllyn, Brecon Powys LD3 7PX

Refuse

12 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

Reason/s for refusal:The proposed increase from 28 to 38 days a year for wedding functions at the Barn at Trebinshiwn, Llanagasty, would have
a detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring residential properties and highway safety, due to unacceptable noise
levels and traffic generation impacting on highway safety. The proposal would impact on the peace and tranquility of the
National Park and would not comply with policies SP1, 1 and 59 of the Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development
Plan. The proposal is also considered contrary to the principle of placemaking in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10,
November 2018) and as such would be contrary to wider objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act
2015.
20/18530/CPE

N: 218121
E: 320416

Mr & Mrs Sharp for Year round
occupation of Merryfields Barn for

Page 108

Permit

21 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

human habitation as a holiday let not
ancillary to the use of the dwelling
known as Merryfields without complying
with condition 6 of P21449, and the use
of the land as garden to the dwelling.
(Certificate Existing Lawful Use/Dev) at
Merryfields Barn , Crickhowell, NP8 1PY
20/18540/FUL

N: 228510
E: 304934

Mr Ted Jacob for Removal of leaking
chimney and replacement with stainless
steel fluepipe. (Full Application) at 15
Camden Road, Brecon, LD3 7RS

Withdraw

27 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18549/FUL

N: 218084
E: 322202

Kevin Jones for The fitting of bespoke
hardwood wooden doors to existing
double car port to provide a secure
lockable garage. (Full Application) at 7
The Green, Crickhowell, NP8 1EX

Permit

18 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18550/FUL

N: 228967
E: 300512

Mr & Mrs D Thomas for Extension to
agricultural shed to cover bale store
(Full Application) at Penwern ,
Llanspyddid, Brecon LD3 8PB

Permit

2 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18551/FUL

N: 228933
E: 300507

Mr & Mrs D Thomas for Extension to
agricultural shed to cover cattle yard
(Full Application) at Penwern ,
Llanspyddid, Brecon LD3 8PB

Permit

2 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18552/TRCA

N: 218351
E: 321729

Mr Timothy Raikes for The tree is a
silver birch, cut it down to just below
the top of the existing hedge. (Work to
trees in con area) at 24 High Street,
Crickhowell, Powys NP8 1BE

Works
approved

28 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18555/LBC

N: 213637
E: 326572

Laura Draper for Re-paint external walls
of the property. (Listed Building
Consent) at Derwen Deg , Station
Road, Govilon NP7 9RG

Permit

3 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18557/FUL

N: 216562
E: 323676

Mr DEAN WELTON-WALL for
Construction of single storey extension,
to include internal alterations and
external rendering. (Full Application) at
37 Martell Way, Cwrt Y Gollen,
Crickhowell NP8 1TJ

Permit

9 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18568/FUL

N: 234089
E: 315530

Sophie Finn for A single storey lean to
extension to the front of the existing
property. (Full Application) at 4 Council
House , Depot Lane, Talgarth LD3 0AN

Permit

18 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18569/FUL

N: 234089

Brian Lewis for A single storey lean to

Permit

18 June 2020

Delegated

Page 109

E: 315536

extension to the front of the existing
property. (Full Application) at 3 Council
House , Depot Lane, Talgarth LD3 0AN

20/18572/FUL

N: 226568
E: 308796

Peterstone Court Limited for Retention
of timber outbuilding, concrete base and
electric car charging hub. (Full
Application) at Peterstone Court ,
Llanhamlach, Brecon LD3 7YB

Permit

18 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18573/LBC

N: 226568
E: 308796

Peterstone Court Limited for Retention
of timber outbuilding, concrete base and
electric car charging hub. (Listed Building
Consent) at Peterstone Court ,
Llanhamlach, Brecon LD3 7YB

Permit

25 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18575/DISC
ON

N: 208358
E: 302274

Mrs Sian Egan for Discharge condition 4
(Ecologist Report on biodiversity
enhancement) in relation to application
19/17338/FUL (Approval of details
reserved bycondition) at Ffrwd Uchaf
Farm , Ffrwd Uchaf And Isaf Farmhouses
Access Road, Cefn Coed Merthyr Tydfil
CF48 2SN

Permit

26 May 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18578/HED
GE

N: 222137
E: 311831

Mr Jonathan Watson for The hedgerow
required removal due to a minor
landslip along the lower side of the road.
This has resulted in the carriageway
dropping with voids under the wheel
track and large scars in the road where
its not supported. The hedgerow has
already been displaced in sections by
approx. 1m but required removal to
install a retaining structure. These works
need to be completed ASAP due to the
road being single track, providing the
only access route in and out of the valley
for the residents. Unfortunately, due to
the nature of the works it is not possible
to reinstate or replant the hedgerow
once works are complete. (Hedgerows)
at Unclassifield Road UO556 , Between
Dan-y Coed House And Graiglas House,
Talybont-On-Usk Brecon Powys LD3
7YU

Permit

2 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18581/FUL

N: 228699
E: 304836

Mr & Mrs Keith Noble for Removal of 2
No x leaking chimneys and re-slating of
roof where chimneys removed with
reclaimed natural Welsh slate to match
the pattern and size of the existing
slates. (Full Application) at 25 Belle Vue
Gardens, Brecon, LD3 7NY

Permit

22 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 110

Decision

20/18582/DISC
ON

N: 229514
E: 303802

Miss Simone Hodges for Discharge
condition 28 (Landscape and Ecological
Enhancement Management Plan) and
condition 32 (materials) in relation to
planning application 18/16981/FUL
("Construction of 32 no. residential
dwellings and associated works")
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Land North Of Heol Y
Ffynnon , Brecon,

Split
Decision
Discharge
Conditions

30 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18584/DISC
ON

N: 228322
E: 304772

Mr Clubb for Discharge Condition 5
(Works Specification and Method
Statement, Steico Protect datasheet,
Steico Window Reveal Details) in
relation to listed building 17/14614/LBC
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Ty Gwynllyw , 49
Watton, Brecon LD3 7EG

Permit

3 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18585/MINO
R

N: 225284
E: 268677

Mr & Mrs Peter Franklin for Minor
amendment to application number
19/17392/CON. ROTATION OF
APPROVED SHED THROUGH 90
DEGREES AND MINOR
ENLARGEMENT OF FOOTPRINT,
PREVIOUSLY 4.8x2.8m - PROPOSED
AT 6x3m. (Non-Material Changes
(Minor Amendments)) at 4 Llys Garn,
Llandeilo, SA19 6YH

Permit

25 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18597/DISC
ON

N: 225557
E: 318197

Mr I Greenow for To discharge
conditions 4, 7 and 8 pursuant to
planning permission 20/18335/FUL submitted documents include
specification for the repair, ref. 4401
Repair Spec, slate and ridge tile
photographs, photographic survey
report. (Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Barn At Neuaddfach
Farm, Cwm-du, Crickhowell Powys NP8
1RT

Permit

3 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18599/FUL

N: 214588
E: 324266

Dr Alanna Watkins for Building of a 1
meter high stone wall with 1 meter
wooden fencing on top at bottom of
garden (at garden boundary) to secure
garden and premises for child and
animal. This would tie in with an existing
stone wall around the garden. (Full
Application) at Pinecrest , Church Road,
Gilwern NP7 0EL

Permit

9 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 111

20/18600/MINO
R

N: 229707
E: 304376

Mr R Weller for Alter pitched roof to
flat roof (Non-Material Changes (Minor
Amendments)) at 89 Pontwilym,
Brecon, LD3 9BS

Permit

2 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18603/DISC
ON

N: 242341
E: 323033

Mr Mark Nicholls for Discharge of
condition 6 in pursuant to planning
application 19/17050/FUL. Detailed
drawings of each window type at a scale
of 1:10 (inclusive of cross sections,
frame details and window furniture).
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at The Bear , 2 Bear
Street, Hay-On-Wye Hereford HR3
5AN

Permit

8 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18605/MINO
R

N: 242341
E: 323033

Mr Mark Nicholls for Minor amendment
to application number 19/17050/FUL.
The consent has been granted to replace
3 windows at the rear, and we would
like to add an additional window to be
replaced bringing total to 4. (NonMaterial Changes (Minor Amendments))
at The Bear , 2 Bear Street, Hay-OnWye Hereford HR3 5AN

Permit

3 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18607/MINO
R

N: 229515
E: 303804

Powys County Council for Minor
amendment to conditions to enable
minor adjustment to the siting of Plots 2
and 3, minor adjustment to position of
garden sheds and paths and reduction in
size of the Plot 2 porch canopy in
relation to application 18/16981/FUL
(Non-Material Changes (Minor
Amendments)) at Land North Of Heoly-Ffynnon, , Brecon,

Permit

10 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18608/TRCA

N: 228420
E: 304847

Mr Allun Jones for Pine 1 - Removal of
dead and hanging branch, plus removal
of deadwood, Pine 2 - Remove and cut
back lower branch to reduce weight,
plus removal of deadwood, OakRemoval of deadwood throughout tree.
(Work to trees in con area) at Heol
Gouesnou Car Park, The Watton,
Brecon Powys

Works
approved

24 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18612/FUL

N: 221300
E: 328074

Mr Rob Yorke for Partly glazed lean-to
single storey with slate roof and larch
lap cladding (Full Application) at
Gelliwelltog, Forest Coal Pit,
Abergavenny Monmouthshire NP7 7LR

Permit

9 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 112

20/18617/MINO
R

N: 213972
E: 326678

MHA/Ashgrove Partnerships for Minor
amendment sought to planning
permission 19/17142/CON - Reposition
of boundary fence to plots 10 to 13
(Non-Material Changes (Minor
Amendments)) at Former Govilon
Primary School, The Avenue, Govilon
Monmouthshire NP7 9PR

Permit

16 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18618/FUL

N: 225786
E: 307312

Mr Ian Matthews for New storage sheds
(Full Application) at Tyfry Farm ,
Llanfrynach, Brecon LD3 7AX

Withdraw

9 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18630/DISC
ON

N: 219497
E: 320747

Mr John Goreing for Discharge of
condition 5 in pursuant to planning
application 18/15993/FUL. External
lighting plan which includes the
proposed lighting for the annex
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Llanfair Farm ,
Tretower, Crickhowell NP8 1RB

Permit

2 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18631/DISC
ON

N: 219497
E: 320747

Mr John Goreing for Discharge of
condition 6 and 7 in pursuant to
planning application 18/15994/LBC.
External lighting plan which includes the
proposed lighting for the annex
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Llanfair Farm ,
Tretower, Crickhowell NP8 1RB

Permit

8 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18633/DISC
ON

N: 215354
E: 321478

Mr And Mrs Stepto for Discharge of
Conditions 3 and 4 relating to
biodiversity enhancement scheme
pursuant to Planning Permission
20/18440/FUL for removal of
conservatory and replacement with
extension (Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Wern Watkin, Hillside,
Llangattock Powys NP8 1LG

Split
Decision
Discharge
Conditions

29 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18636/FUL

N: 229771
E: 299534

Luke Palmer for Material change of use
of land from agricultural land to
residential garden. (Full Application) at
Trederwen , Aberbran, Brecon LD3
9NW

Withdraw

26 May 2020

20/18637/DISC
ON

N: 228722
E: 304503

Miss Tracey Slade for Discharge of
Condition 3 relating to sacrificial
limewash coat pursuant to Planning
Application 20/18252/LBC (Approval of
details reserved bycondition) at 2
George Street, Brecon, LD3 7LD

Permit

29 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18638/TRCA

N: 228730

Mrs Catherine Morrell for Works to 5

Works

2 July 2020

Delegated

Page 113

E: 304651

trees in front garden of property (Work
to trees in con area) at 1 Alexandra
Road, Brecon, Powys LD3 7PD

approved

20/18646/CPL

N: 228809
E: 291853

Mr Keith Morgan for Construction of
garage (Certificate Proposed Lawful
Use/Dev) at Penygaer , Sennybridge,
Brecon LD3 8PL

Permit

30 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18658/DISC
ON

N: 228200
E: 301254

Mr C Woodward for To discharge
condition 3 pursuant to planning
permission 20/18436/FUL - Specification
for an Archaeological Watching Brief
(Approval of details reserved
bycondition) at Ty Usk, Llanspyddid,
Penpont Brecon Powys LD3 8PB

Split
Decision
Discharge
Conditions

12 June 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18705/DISC
ON

N: 227997
E: 303231

Mr Darran Harris for To discharge
conditions 6, 7, 8, 9 and 10 pursuant to
planning permission 20/18408/FUL preliminary investigation, site
investigation, remediation scheme,
remediation agreement and monitoring
and maintenance scheme (Approval of
details reserved by condition) at Units
8, 9 And 10 , Penyfan Business Park,
Ffrwdgrech Industrial Estate Brecon LD3
8LA

Permit

6 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18739/DISC
ON

N: 228372
E: 304438

Mr Chris Blake for Discharge of
condition 4 in pursuant to planning
application 18/16788/CON. (Approval of
details reserved by condition) at River
House, Captains Walk, Brecon Powys
LD3 7DS

Permit

6 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

20/18800/FUL

N: 222028
E: 314866

Mr John Benjamin for Erection of solar
panels on west facing roof elevations and
construction of concrete block shed to
house storage battery and control
equipment, also, construction of
enclosed front porch due to noise
pollution experienced inside the house.
The existing planning consent for the
house has approved drawings which
show a porch covering the main
entrance. This application would enclose
the porch and was considered to be a
minor alteration during a prior
consultation at the authority offices
earlier this year. (Full Application) at
Eirinn, Bwlch, Brecon LD3 7HX

Withdraw

10 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 114

Decision

ENC6Item 2

APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No.

20/18541/AGR

Grid Ref.

N: 213074
E: 305090

20/18559/AGR

N: 231515
E: 278333

20/18601/AGR

N: 217690
E: 307998

20/18634/AGR

N: 219408
E: 324398

20/18653/AGR

N: 224816
E: 329157

Applicant, proposal, type,
address

Decision

Date
Issued

Decision Type

Mr Iwan Mullin for Roads coloured
red in the map are required for the
extraction of timber (Agricultural
Notification) at Cwm Car Forest,
West Of The Southern Part Of
Pontsticill Reservoir

AGR
Permitted
Develop
ment

12 May 2020

AGR Permitted
Development

Mr Arwel Ward for General
purpose building to house sheep
during the winter months 2
(Agricultural Notification) at Cwm
Ydw, Cwmydw Farm, Myddfai
Llandovery Carmarthenshire SA20
0QB

AGR
Permitted
Develop
ment

15 May 2020

AGR Permitted
Development

Mr Ieuan Williams for Welsh
Government Woodland Estate. A
notification for maintenance of the
forest road network within the
Talybont forest block which is
required to extract timber.
(Agricultural Notification) at
Talybont Forest, Talybont On Usk

AGR
Permitted
Develop
ment

28 May 2020

AGR Permitted
Development

Mr N Bellis for Steel framed
agricultural storage building
(Agricultural Notification) at
Tycanol Farm, Llangenny,
Crickhowell Powys NP8 1HF

AGR
Permitted
Develop
ment

2 July 2020

AGR Permitted
Development

Mr J P & Mrs J Cookson for Erection
of Polytunnel (Agricultural
Notification) at Land South West Of
Noyadd Llwyd , Cwmyoy,
Monmouthshire NP7 7NB

AGR
Permitted
Develop
ment

22 June 2020

AGR Permitted
Development

Page 115

20/18706/AGR

N: 216622
E: 303244

20/18692/AGR

N: 217127
E: 330688

Mr Ieuan Williams for An
enlargement of an exisiting borrow
pit is required to obtain material for
the maintenance of the forest road
network within Taf Fechan Forest.
Why designed for agriculture: Yes
for Forestry. The proposed works
are designed for extraction of the
mineral for use on the forest road
and track network. (Agricultural
Notification) at Taf Fechan Forest ,
Nr. Pontsticill

AGR
Permitted
Developme
nt

1 July 2020

AGR Permitted
Development

Mark Fraser for New hay storage
and fodder building 13.8m x 12.2m
(Agricultural Notification) at The
Granary, Great House Farm, Great
House Lane Triley Llantilio Pertholey
Monmouthshire

AGR
Planning
Permission
Required

6 July 2020

Delegated
Decision

Page 116

ENC6Item 3
FRINGE APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS
App No.

Grid Ref.

Applicant, proposal, type, address

Decision

Date Issued

Decision Type

20/18647/FRI

N: 211224
E: 282656

Powys County Council - Hugh Towns
for Construction of complementary
restoration earthworks to create 2
looped landform platforms (part in
cutting and part on embankment) with
associated drainage infrastructure and
areas of landscaping and habitat creation
to create a flexible and adaptable area of
land that could be used for a variety of
uses including agriculture, nature
conservation, leisure, tourism and
industrial, research and
development/business uses (potentially
including a proposed rail testing,
research and development and storage
facility). (Cross-boundary application,
see Neath Port Talbot CC Application
ref. P2020/0362) (Fringe Consultation)
at Land At And Surrounding , Nant
Helen Open Cast Coal Site Powys And,
Onllwyn Distribution Centre, Neath
Port Talbot

Fringe
Comments

22 June 2020

Fringe Comments

Neath Port
Talbot CC
Application ref.
P2020/0362)

We understand Celtic Energy Limited has submitted a full (cross-boundary) planning application to Powys
County Council and Neath Port Talbot Council for proposed earthworks at the site of the Nant Helen
Open case Coal site. It is understood from the submitted Planning Statement that this planning application
relates to the entire extent of land subject to coaling operations over the history of the mine and that the
proposed earthworks are intended to complement the revised restoration strategy associated with the
western extent of the site to be delivered under a separate Section 73 planning application, which received
resolution to grant permission at Committee in March 2020, and will amend the extant planning permission
granted under planning application P/2011/0217 and Section 73 application 18/1070/REM.
It is understood that the red outline of the site subject to the above planning application measures 416
hectares and is circa 100m from the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) boundary at its closest
point. It is noted that the vast majority of the site is located in Powys, with a smaller area in the southern
area of the site located in Neath Port Talbot.
We set out below background on the NPA’s policy and legal context. The letter ends with our comments on
the planning application submission made available on your website.

Background
Policy and legal context
Section 63 of the Environment Act (1995) sets out the statutory purposes of the National Park as follows: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park; and
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the
National Park
In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard to National
Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park.

Page 117

Relevant Authorities include public bodies, government departments, local authorities and statutory
undertakers.
The Special Qualities of the National Park may be significantly impacted by development proposals on the
fringes of the National Park. The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2015-2020 defines the
Special Qualities of the Brecon Beacons National Park as follows:














A National Park offering peace and tranquillity with opportunities for quiet enjoyment, inspiration,
relaxation and spiritual renewal.
A feeling of vitality and healthfulness that comes from enjoying the Park’s fresh air, clean water, rural
setting, open land and locally produced foods.
A sense of place and cultural identity - “Welshness” - characterised by the use of the indigenous
Welsh language, religious and spiritual connections, unique customs and events, traditional foods and
crafts, relatively unspoilt historic towns, villages and family farms. The continued practices of traditional
skills developed by local inhabitants to live and earn a living here, such as common land practices and
grazing.
A sense of discovery where people are able to explore the Park’s hidden secrets and stories such as
genealogical histories, prehistoric ritual sites, medieval rural settlements, early industrial sites, local
myths, legends and geological treasures.
The Park’s sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed across a variety of
harmoniously connected landscapes, including marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic karst geology
with caves and sink holes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys carved from old
red sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all directions.
A working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures comprising of
well-maintained farmed landscapes, open uplands, lakes and meandering rivers punctuated by small-scale
woodlands, country lanes, hedgerows, stone walls and scattered settlements.
Extensive and widespread access to the Park’s diversity of wildlife and richness of seminatural habitats, such as native woodlands, heathland and grassland, natural lakes and riparian habitats,
ancient hedgerows, limestone pavement and blanket bogs including those of international and national
importance.
In the context of the UK, geographically rugged, remote and challenging landscapes.
Enjoyable and accessible countryside with extensive, widespread and varied opportunities to
pursue walking, cycling, fishing, water-based activities and other forms of sustainable recreation or
relaxation.
An intimate sense of community where small, pastoral towns and villages are comparatively safe,
friendly, welcoming and retain a spirit of cooperation.

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition 10) acknowledges the statutory purposes of National Parks and
references the “Sandford Principle”, whereby if there is a conflict between the statutory purposes, greater
weight shall be given to the first purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural
heritage.
PPW states that “planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to National Parks and AONB purposes.
This duty applies in relation to all activities affecting National Parks and AONBs, whether those activities lie within, or
in the setting of, the designated areas. The designated landscapes should be drivers of the sustainable use and
management of natural resources in their areas, and planning authorities should have regard to their identified special
qualities in the exercise of their functions and any relevant management plans.” (see para 6.3.5) (underlining is my
emphasis).

Consideration
The Planning Application

Page 118

It is understood that the proposed development relates to a combination of proposed cuttings (mostly to
the west, east and south) and embankments (mostly to the north) creating a loop form. The materials for
the earthworks would all originate on site and represent a volume of approximately 3,255,000m3.
Together with the required site preparation works a works programme of approximately 18 Months, with
approximately 300-600 vehicle movements a day, is proposed. With the exception of the Northern
Embankment, works would be carried out over 16 hours a day, 7 days a week (which we understand is the
existing site operation times for the opencast mine). Due to the closer proximity of the northern
embankment to residential receptors, works on this area would be based on a shorter 60-hour working
week (6 days a week).
The submitted Environmental Statement (ES) includes a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) which
utilises a 8km Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) and has assessed 18 viewpoints, some of which were
requested by the NPA in previous comments. The ES concludes that there will be significant adverse visual
impacts during construction on 14 viewpoints (out of 18), 5 of which are noted to be recreational receptors
within the National Park. On completion of the works (year 1), significant adverse visual effects are noted on
8 viewpoints (out of 18), 3 of which are noted to be recreational receptors within the National Park.
Photomontages do not form part of the LVIA to illustrate these findings – wire frame pictures of some
viewpoints have been submitted instead.
The ES appears to not assess in detail the landscape and visual effects of the development for a longer period
than year 1 completion as ES para 9.5.6 states: “…the future use of the earthworks is at this stage undefined.
Therefore, assessment of the significance of effects based on the future establishment/maturity of planting (typically
presented as assessment of effects at year 15 and year 30) has been excluded. However, mitigation planting
proposals that would reduce the significance of effects have been described at the end of this chapter”.
Although it appears from para 9.5.6 a LVIA beyond 1 year completion has not been undertaken, a section of
native broadleaf woodland is proposed as landscape mitigation around the proposed new embankment to
the north of the site (within Powys). This is intended to replace established coniferous tree area which
includes a small part of a Plantation on Ancient Woodland (PAW) site and some hedgerows and field
pattern, which will be lost due to the creation of the new embankment. It is noted that NRW has previously
raised concern with the adequacy of this mitigation, stating this was likely to take a long time to establish and
that the effects of the planting would only be noticeable after year 15. NRW stated that further
consideration be given to the design of the scheme to establish whether a revised design can avoid or
mitigate adverse impacts on the National Park. The ES responds to these previous comments stating:
“consideration of the slackening of embankment slopes has been given. To the north of the scheme this would result
in the encroachment of engineered landform closer to residential properties and the removal of further
woodland/vegetation, neither of which would be deemed advantageous. Planting of broadleaved woodland along the
northern embankment would, over time help to integrate the earthworks with the surrounding wooded valley
character of the landscape. In order to reduce the timeframe for the integration of the Project, it is proposed that a
proportion of the planting should be larger stock and that a perceptible reduction in adverse effects would be
experienced within the first 5 years. As the future use of the earthworks is yet to be established, full details of planting
proposals and a landscape strategy would be developed prior to implementation” (see ES Table 9.1).
Landscape and visual impact
Having reviewed the submission, the NPA comments focus mostly on the landscape and visual impact of the
proposal as these are the aspects of the proposal which are considered to impact on the National Park’s
purposes and ‘sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty’ and ‘working, living “patchwork” of contrasting
patterns, colours, and textures’ special qualities. We make the following comments:
1. It is noted that the Zone of Theoretical Visibility (ZTV) has been extended to 8km following previously
issued comments on this aspect. This change from a 2km ZTV is supported.
2. Previous comments from the NPA also outlined the need for additional viewpoints to be included in the
LVIA some of which have now been included. It is unclear why some of the suggested viewpoints were
not deemed appropriate.

Page 119

3. Significant adverse visual effects on the National Park are outlined in the ES from the north (areas within
Powys County) and therefore the NPA has significant concerns with the impact the proposal will have
on the special qualities of the National Park from this direction – namely the National Park’s ‘sweeping
grandeur and outstanding natural beauty’ and ‘working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and
textures’ special qualities. It would seem these impacts around the northern areas may be significant for a
considerable length of time, in advance of any landscape mitigation establishing. Whilst it is up to the
decision-maker regarding how the requirement on planning authorities to give regard to the purposes of
the National Park and the National Park’s identified special qualities are taken into account in
determining this cross-boundary planning application, it would seem that given the impacts a more
effective landscape mitigation strategy is required (in the apparent absence of the applicant being able to
revisit the scheme’s design).
4. Wireframe details have been produced as part of the LVIA showing the proposed outline of the proposal
but no photomontages – photomontage information is recommended in order to understand the
expected change and how effective the landscape mitigation proposed will be to the north. This
information is also recommended to provide a basis for the statement on residual effects set out in para
9.11.1 which states “once mitigation planting has established in 10-15 years it is anticipated there will be no
residual significant landscape and visual effects”.
5. We share NRW’s previously raised concern over the length of time which it will take for the proposed
landscape mitigation to the north (in Powys) to fully establish and the resultant impact on the length of
significant adverse visual effect on the National Park. We have concerns as to whether planting larger
specimens will address this issue given the specific characteristics of the site which may mean such
planting may be more susceptible to failure.
6. We do not consider it is appropriate for full details relating to landscape mitigation to be left until the
future use of the earthworks has been established (as suggested in table 9.1). Planning authorities have a
statutory duty to have regard to the National Park purposes (as set out in PPW). Information on
landscape mitigation including its associated maintenance and management are considered important in
understanding the impact on the National Park Special Qualities. It is recommended the decision-maker
requires this information in order to inform the determination of this planning application.

Conclusion
Based on the comments above, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority currently has significant
concern that the proposal will have adverse impacts on one of the National Park’s statutory purposes –
namely “to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park”. The NPA
also have significant concern that the proposal will adversely impact on two of the Special Qualities of the
Park – its “sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty” and the “working, living “patchwork” of contrasting
patterns, colours, and textures”. It is recommended that the decision-maker requests further information from
the applicant to understand the visual impacts upon the National Park (from the north which is most
relevant for Powys County Council’s decision) and that a detailed and an effective landscape mitigation
strategy is provided as part of this planning application.
Please note that this response has been prepared by Officers, and will not receive formal ratification from
Members until 28th July 2020 after which point in time I may provide supplementary response as necessary.

Page 120

SUBMITTED SITE LOCATION PLAN

Page 121

Page 122
MAP SHOWING THE BOUNDARY OF THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

20/18729/FRI
Herefordshire
County Council
planning
application
reference no.
P201614/0

N: 242988
E: 323245

Herefordshire Planning Department for
Consultation from HCC requested by 9
July 2020 regarding outline application
for the erection of ten dwelling houses
and access with all other matters
reserved (Herefordshire County
Council planning application reference
no. P201614/0) (Fringe Consultation) at
Land Adj To Cherry Trees, Newport
Street, Cusop Herefordshire

Fringe
Comments

2 July 2020

Fringe Comments

We understand Mr A Lloyd has submitted an outline planning application with details of access only to
Herefordshire Council for ten open market dwelling houses and access on land adjacent to Cherry Trees,
Newport Street, Cusop (England).
It is understood that the red outline of the site subject to the above planning application measures 0.6
hectares and is circa 230m from the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority (NPA) boundary at its closest
point. The National Park boundary in this area also follows the Wales/England border and the northern
boundary of the Hay-on-Wye Conservation Area. The Wye Valley Walk public right of way is located to
the east of the site (approximately 350m away).
We set out below background on the NPA’s policy and legal context. The letter ends with our comments on
the planning application submission made available on your website.

Background
Policy and legal context
Section 63 of the Environment Act (1995) sets out the statutory purposes of the National Park as follows: To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park; and
 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the
National Park
In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have regard to National
Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in a National Park.
Relevant Authorities include public bodies, government departments, local authorities and statutory
undertakers. It goes on to state that if it appears that there is a conflict between those purposes, greater
weight shall be attached to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural
heritage of the area comprised in the National Park.
The Special Qualities of the National Park may be significantly impacted by development proposals on the
fringes of the National Park. The Brecon Beacons National Park Management Plan 2015-2020 defines the
Special Qualities of the Brecon Beacons National Park as follows:




A National Park offering peace and tranquility with opportunities for quiet enjoyment, inspiration,
relaxation and spiritual renewal.
A feeling of vitality and healthfulness that comes from enjoying the Park’s fresh air, clean water, rural
setting, open land and locally produced foods.
A sense of place and cultural identity - “Welshness” - characterised by the use of the indigenous
Welsh language, religious and spiritual connections, unique customs and events, traditional foods and
crafts, relatively unspoilt historic towns, villages and family farms. The continued practices of traditional
skills developed by local inhabitants to live and earn a living here, such as common land practices and
grazing.

Page 123











A sense of discovery where people are able to explore the Park’s hidden secrets and stories such as
genealogical histories, prehistoric ritual sites, medieval rural settlements, early industrial sites, local
myths, legends and geological treasures.
The Park’s sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed across a variety of
harmoniously connected landscapes, including marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic karst geology
with caves and sink holes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys carved from old
red sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all directions.
A working, living “patchwork” of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures comprising of
well-maintained farmed landscapes, open uplands, lakes and meandering rivers punctuated by small-scale
woodlands, country lanes, hedgerows, stone walls and scattered settlements.
Extensive and widespread access to the Park’s diversity of wildlife and richness of seminatural habitats, such as native woodlands, heathland and grassland, natural lakes and riparian habitats,
ancient hedgerows, limestone pavement and blanket bogs including those of international and national
importance.
In the context of the UK, geographically rugged, remote and challenging landscapes.
Enjoyable and accessible countryside with extensive, widespread and varied opportunities to
pursue walking, cycling, fishing, water-based activities and other forms of sustainable recreation or
relaxation.
An intimate sense of community where small, pastoral towns and villages are comparatively safe,
friendly, welcoming and retain a spirit of cooperation.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states “great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing
landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the
highest status of protection in relation to these issues” (see para. 172).
Similarly, the National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) provides guidance on the interpretation of NPPF.
Para. 039 Reference ID: 8-039-20190721 provides guidance on the statutory duties of local planning authorities
to have regard to the National Park’s purposes. It makes this clear that this duty is relevant in considering
development proposals that are situated outside National Park boundaries, but which might have an impact
on their setting or protection. Para. 042 Reference ID: 8-042-20190721 provides guidance on how
development within the setting of National Park’s be dealt with. It states that “land within the setting of these
areas often makes an important contribution to maintaining their natural beauty, and where poorly located or designed
development can do significant harm. This is especially the case where long views from or to the designated landscape
are identified as important, or where the landscape character of land within and adjoining the designated area is
complementary. Development within the settings of these areas will therefore need sensitive handling that takes these
potential impacts into account”. Underlining is the Brecon Beacons National Park’s emphasis.

Consideration
The application site is currently an agricultural field and the indicative layout plan shows a plan for 10
detached open market dwellings accessed off the adjacent road. It is noted that if this planning application
were submitted within Wales the planning application would have been subject to a statutory requirement
for Pre-Application Consultation but it is understood that as it is located in England consultation with the
public in advance of a planning application being submitted is encouraged but not required.
The Design and Access Statement which has been submitted includes a section on landscape impact and
ascertains that the proposal will not have adverse effects on the views identified within the Neighborhood
Development Plan. The Statement makes no mention of the Brecon Beacons National Park. It would be
useful for the submission to include viewpoints/photographs to evidence the assessment made in the report.
Also, it would be useful to see photographs of how the site is viewed from other viewpoints within the
National Park boundary and from areas which are gateway points entering the National Park such as from
the near-by Wye Valley Walk public right of way, the adjacent access road and any views from the near-by
Hay-on-Wye Conservation Area. The Design and Access Statement also includes a section on Heritage
Assets which includes references to the site being suitably screened from a near-by listed building (which

Page 124

presumably is located outside the National Park boundary) but no mention/assessment is made of the Hayon-Wye Conservation Area or other listed buildings within the National Park Authority.
Planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard to the National Park purposes (as set out in
Environment Act and referenced in NPPG). Information on landscape impact and heritage impact are
considered important in understanding the impact on the National Park purposes and Special Qualities. It is
recommended the decision-maker requires further information on these matters in order to inform the
determination of this planning application.

Conclusion
Based on the comments above, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority currently has concern that the
submission has not satisfactorily substantiated the statements in the Design and Access Statement regarding
visual impact and heritage impact in relation to the National Park. It is recommended that the decisionmaker requests further information from the applicant to understand these potential impacts upon the
National Park.
Please note that this response has been prepared by Officers, and will not receive formal ratification from
Members until 28th July 2020 after which point in time I may provide supplementary response as necessary.

Page 125

SUBMITTED SITE LOCATION PLAN

Page 126

MAP SHOWING THE BOUNDARY OF THE BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Planning Obligations
7th July 2020
Key:
AH – Affordable Housing BIO – Biodiversity COF – Community Facility EDU – Education HER – Heritage HIW – Highways/Transport
AF – Affordable Housing Contributions OTH – Other
REC – Recreation/Open Space/Footpath RED – Rural Enterprise Dwelling/Land Tie


Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

18/15681/OUT

Mr R Jenkins

18/15820/CON

Mrs Judith Tuthill

With other party/parties



With the Authority / Authority’s external solicitors

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Oakview, Pencelli

Erection of 5 detached dwellings

Coed Farm, Fforest Coalpit

Deed of Variation

Planning
Obligations

Committee
Date
Date
Completed

Current
Status

Page 129

AH

N/A (Delegated)



Deed of
Variation

N/A (Delegated)



18/16074/FUL

Mr Mick and Jodie Wright

Ty Llys, Tretower, Crickhowell, Powys
NP8 1RF

Conversion of the first floor area of an existing
outbuilding to residential accommodation at “Ty Llys”
Farm Tretower

AF

N/A (Delegated)

17/14686/OUT

Mr & Mrs W and C Davis

Land Adjoining Brecon
Pharmaceuticals Gypsy Castle Lane
Hay-on-wye

Erection of five dwellings (outline)

AH

N/A (Delegated)



Application yet to be
submitted

Hanson Quarry Products
Europe Ltd

Penderyn Quarry

Details yet to be submitted

OTH

N/A



Tircue Beasthouse, Cantref, Powys,
Brecon LD3 8LL

Change of use from holiday let to farming family
residential dwelling

Land North of Brecon Road,
Crickhowell, Powys NP8 1DG

Proposed development of 5 new build residential
dwellings and change of use of existing Presbytery and
Church to residential use, including new access
arrangements off Brecon Road, along with a garage and
parking space for existing St Joseph's Cottage;
demolition and re-alignment of boundary wall to Pen Y
Dre; and associated works including highway, drainage
and landscaping.

18/16072/FUL

C:6464838v1

Miss J Phillips

BS Estates

AF/OTHER

OTH



3 September
2019



ENC6Item 4

19/17247/FUL

10 June
2020

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location
.Twr Mihangel, Llanvihangel
Crucorney NP7 8DH

Mr and Mrs James

19/17839/CON

Mr David Sutton

Land At Pengellifach Farm, Vaynor ,
Nr Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2TU

19/18050/CON

Mr Matthew Hall

Land Adjacent To Cerrigcochion
Road, Brecon, Powys

19/17602/FUL

Ms Sara Tommerup

Red Pig Farm, Llangadog SA19 9DR

19/17950/FUL

Mr Alun Morgan

Bailea Farm, Sennybridge, Brecon
Powys LD3 8TB

19/17682/FUL

Mr Thomas Burgoyne

The Old School House, Libanus,
Brecon Powys LD3 8EL

20/18264/FUL

Mr Leyton Mileson

23 & 24 High Street Superior, Brecon

20/18303/CON

Dr Nicholas Humes

Former Darenfelin School,
Darenfelin, Llanelly Hill Abergavenny
Monmouthshire

18/16268/OUT
APP/P9502/A/20/3251
711

Mr and Mrs Fellowes

Land North of Camden Crescent,
Brecon

Page 130

19/17502/CON

Development/
Proposal
Variation of conditions 2 and 6 of Application Reference
Number: 14/11082/REM Reduction in number of
dwellings to be erected by one (Condition 2: Approved
drawing numbers to be amended to suit revised layout),
(Condition 6: Approved bat mitigation drawings to be
amended to suit revised layout
Modification of Section 106 associated with application
MT18635
Written request for a deed of variation to a planning
obligation agreed under Section 106 of the town and
country planning act 1990 for planning permission
16/13596/FUL
One Planet Development – one household, barn
extensions, various new small sheds and a green house
Conversion of barn to residential use and associated
works
Conversion of former school into 2 dwellings (retention
of adjacent residential accommodation) (3 dwellings in
total). Provision of parking spaces, biomass heating
system and change of use of part of adjacent field into
residential garden use (resubmission of previously
submitted application) (partially retrospective
application).
Alterations to first, second and third floor of building in
order to create 2 additional residential flats
With regard to affordable housing contributions or
construction of affordable housing units, the removal of
clauses 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15 of the
Second Schedule of the Planning Obligations agreement
dated the 22nd August 2012 reference planning
permission 07/00755/COU. The removal of the all
requirements stated in the deed of variation dated 25th
February 2014.
Outline: Residential development and associated works

N.B- Columns highlighted yellow are updates of new planning obligations since last PAROW
N.B. Columns highlighted blue indicate that the matter has been withdrawn /aborted
C:6464838v1

Planning
Obligations
Deed of
Variation

Committee
Date
Date
Completed

Current
Status

27 May
2020

Deed of
Variation



Deed of
Variation



Management
plan and land
tie



AF/OTHER



AF

2 June 2020

AH



Deed of
Variation



AH



COMMUTED SUMS REPORT

14/11607/FUL

Date
Permission
granted
Permitted
07.10.2014
Permitted
27.10.2015
Permitted
30.09.2014
Permitted
25.10.2016
Permitted
12.10.2016
Permitted
17.05.2019
Permitted
12.06.2016

17/15571/FUL

Permitted
07.04.2015

Application
number
13/10295/FUL
13/09841/FUL
13/10285/FUL
13/10289/OUT
14/11036/FUL
18/16692/FUL

Page 131

18/16788/CON

15/12528/FUL
15/12509/FUL
16/13164/FUL

16/13266/FUL
14/11593/CON
16/13533/OUT
16/13213/FUL
14/10864/FUL

Construction of 92 dwellings, Cae
Meldon
Construction of one dwelling at Ael Y
Bryn
Erection of 1 dwelling - Roayl
Oak, Pencelli
Multiple Housing Development Ty Clyd Close

SM area

Settlement

Amount
Date
detailed in
S106 Received

A,C&H

Mon

Gilwern

£175,200.60

B&R

Powys

Bwlch

£15,056.80

B&R

Powys

Pencelli

£16,251.60

A,C&H

Mon

Govilon

£5,045.84

The studio, Upper House Farm

A,C&H

Powys

Crickhowell

Variation to Canal Bank Garden

B&R

Powys

Brecon

£2,000.00

Single Dwelling, 19 Fairhome, Gilwern

A,C&H

Mon

Gilwern

£24,377.40

Dan Y Castell, Crickhowell

A,C&H

Powys

Crickhowell

Captain's Walk, Brecon

B&R

Powys

Brecon

2 Dwellings to the rear Bronant

B&R

Powys

Talgarth

1 dwelling, Green Meadows

B&R

Powys

Brecon

£19,105.20

Change of use of chapel to dwelling

B&R

Powys

Maescar

£20,450.80

1 dwelling, Peppercorn Lane

B&R

Powys

Brecon

£2,465.53

Conversion Triley Court Nursing Home

A,C&H

Mon

Abergavenny

£25,000

18.05.2017

Variation of Planning obligation
to 11/06647/FUL

A,C&H

Powys

Llangynidr

£89,262

01.04.2016

Outline application detached dwelling

B&R

Powys

Libanus

£22,190.80

Conversion to 3 flats 29 High Street

B&R

Powys

Brecon

£15,000

Erection of a 2 bedroom bungalow

B&R

Powys

Pennorth

£5,000

£2,000

28.02.2017

Date
Allocated
09.02.2018

Date
Paid

Allocated to
Melin Homes - Ty Clyd
Close

04.01.2017

03.07.2018

£21,065.60
£15,000

£16,959.20

ENC6Item 5

15/13000/FUL

Permitted
24.04.2017
Permitted
16.12.2016
Permitted
18.03.2016
Permitted
27.02.2018
Permitted
26.05.2016
Permitted
24.05.2016
Permitted
11.03.2015
Permitted
28.02.2017
Permitted
12.07.2017
Permitted
24.09.15

Proposal

16/13832/FUL
12/08575/OUT
17/14713/FUL
17/15038/FUL

17/14369/DEEM
17/14749/FUL
17/15496/FUL

Page 132

17/14686/OUT

17/15356/FUL
18/16733/OUT

18/16045/FUL
18/15843/FUL
17/14646/OUT

Permitted
13.03.2017
Permitted
13.01.17
Permitted
14.08.2017
Permitted
14.02.2018
Appeal
allowe
d
25.08.2017
Permitted
01.05.19
Permitted
19.12.2019
Minded to
permit
27.08.2018
Permitted
21.06.2018
Permitted
19.06.2019
Permitted
11.09.2019
Permitted
08.01.2019
Permitted
03.09.2019

New Dwelling Ty'r Berllan

A,C&H

Powys

Crickhowell

£5,000.00

Mixed use development Cwrt Y Gollen

A,C&H

Powys

Crickhowell

£517,528.20

1 Dwelling at St Johns Church Libanus

B&R

Powys

Libanus

£22,190.00

Land Adjacent To Trem Y Bannau

B&R

Powys

Llangorse

£18,745.60

A,C&H

Mon

O/C

£97,440.00

A,C&H

Mon

Govilon

£28,118.40

B&R

Powys

Bwlch

£16,692.40

A,C&H

Powys

Hay

£17,208.60

A,C&H

Mon

Gilwern

£28,657.00

A,C&H

Mon

Gilwern

£12,644.80

B&R

Powys

Brecon

£59,000.00

RS

Carms

Glanaman

£83,172.00

B&R

Powys

Brecon

£30,763.00

Pen Y Mynydd Barn
Derwen Deg Barn
Coed Y Bryn, Bwlch
Erection of 5 dwellings, land adj Brecon
Pharm
Norcott Common Road
Outline application for a single dwelling,
Tremfa
12 Residential units
Pentwyncanol, Glanaman (renovation of
former Dwelling)
outline permission single dwelling
(indicative maximum )

10.09.2019

received in
full

8.01.19

Total

£1,428,591.37

£499,265

£175,200.60

Total Abergavenny, Crickhowell and Hay Sub Market area

£1,032,482.84

£393,903

£175,200.60

Total Brecon and Rural Hinterland and Sub Market area

£312,936.53

£22,190

Total Heads of the Valleys and Rural South area

£83,172

£83,172

Total Powys

£118,452

Total Carms

£948,935.33
£118,452
£83,172

Total Mons

£396,484.04

£297,641

£83,172
175,200.60

Deferred Payments

Page 133

Application Ref
17/14459/FUL

Date Decision issued
Permitted 16.03.2018

Site Address
Old Castle Farm, Old Castle
Road, Crucorney

Reason for Deferral of payment
In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of
Supplementary Planning
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1
(Enabling Appropriate
Development in the Countryside).

Deferred Contribution
58% of Acceptable Cost
Guidance

19/17295/FUL

Permitted 22.10.2019

Ty Cooke Farm, Llanover

In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of
Supplementary Planning
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1
(Enabling Appropriate
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost
Guidance

19/17318/FUL

Permitted 22.01.2020

Gilfach, Llanddeusant

In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of
Supplementary Planning
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1
(Enabling Appropriate
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost
Guidance

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

ENC6Item 6
PLANNING ENFORCEMENT FIGURES
Welsh Government Performance Indicators and Authority Enforcement figures
The Welsh Government Performance Indicators were changed in June 2017. The software used by the
Authority was not set up to operate in the way the Indicators required the information to be captured. This
has now been resolved and Officers are now working to the new indicators. However, due to the overlap
between the two ways of working the ‘Investigated in 84 days or Fewer’ figure will be low for the next few
months. Please refer to relevant definition information at the end of this report.

May
2019

Number of
new cases
received

InvestigatedA
in 84 days or
fewer

Investigated
in more
than 84
days

Resolved in
180 days or
fewer

Resolved in
more than
180 days

10

12

3

6

5

Number of
new cases
received

WG Performance Indicators
Investigated1 Investigated
Average
in 84 days or
in more
time taken
fewer
than 84
(days) from
days
investigation
complete to
positive
action2
taken
6
4
0

Closed

November
2019

11

10

December
2019

7

8

2

152

4

January
2020

12

6

7

13

12

February
2020

8

2

5

0

8

March
2020

9

9

0

132

9

April
2020

13

5

5

0

6

May 2020

8

2

2

0

3

June 2020

13

6

4

55.75

11

Current Cases
Current Cases
(under 180 days)
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Backlog Cases (over
180 days)

Total Cases

Page 135
Page 1 of 3

May
2019

31

79

110

Current Cases (over 84
days)
74

Total Cases

November 2019

Current Cases
(under 84 days)
15

December 2019

20

74

94

January
2020
February
2020
March
2020
April
2020
May 2020

21

75

96

19

76

96

20

77

98

21

84

105

23

86

109

June 2020

32

86

118

89

Relevant Definitions
1Investigated

means that the Authority has considered the alleged breach of planning control and advised the
complainant of the investigation findings which will be one of the following:
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
v)

No breach has occurred or breach has been removed;
Breach has occurred but Authority has formally determined that enforcement action is not expedient;
Enforcement action is expedient and delegated report authorising such has been signed off;
Receipt of valid planning application;
Breach has occurred and enforcement action would be expedient but informal negotiations have
agreed that changes can make the development acceptable or that it will be removed.

2Positive

Action means the complainant has been advised that one of the following has occurred following
the conclusion that it would be expedient to enforce against the established breach.
i) There has been a formal determination that a breach is expedient but informal negotiation
subsequently removes the breach;
ii) An Enforcement Notice is issued. An Enforcement Notice includes a Stop Notice, Breach of Condition
Notice, Enforcement Warning Notice, Untidy Land Notice (section 215 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990), any type of Listed Building Enforcement Notice, Tree Replacement Notice,
Hedgerow Replacement Notice or Completion Notice, but does not include a Planning Contravention
Notice, Section 330 Notice (of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990), Temporary Stop Notice or
Requisition for Information;
iii) Planning permission is subsequently granted through an application or enforcement appeal;
iv) A prosecution is brought (with the date that the case is first heard deemed as being the ‘positive
action’ date); or
v) Direct action by the Authority removes the breach.

NB. This figure has yet to be benchmarked and a target set by Welsh Government

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 136
Page 2 of 3

Closed means the case has been closed either because the outcome of the investigation was i) or ii) above or
the breach has ceased following positive action.

The previous definition of ‘investigated’ meant that the Authority had visited, drawn a conclusion on what
action was to be taken and had informed the complainant.

A

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 137
Page 3 of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

ENC6Item 7
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Internal Reporting: Planning Performance Figures
From: 01 June 2020 to 30 June 2020
APPROVALS
GRANTED
REFUSED
%APPROVED
26
1
96
8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks
Over8Weeks
8Wks%
24
3
89
HOUSEHOLDER 8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks
Over8Weeks
8Wks%
8
2
80
AGREED EXTENSIONS PERFORMANCE
AEunder
AEover
AE%
7
0
100
AGE OF APPLICATIONS
>8Wks
>13Wks
>16Wks
22
19
17

>2Yrs
3

Analysis of applications on hand
July
2019
August
2019
September
2019
October
2019
November
2019
December
2019
January
2020
February
2020
March
2020
April
2020
May
2020
June
2020

RECEIVED
62
RECEIVED
45
RECEIVED
65
RECEIVED
55
RECEIVED
49
RECEIVED
35
RECEIVED
57
RECEIVED
67
RECEIVED
47
RECEIVED
32
RECEIVED
35
RECEIVED
58

ONLINE
51
ONLINE
31
ONLINE
51
ONLINE
39
ONLINE
38
ONLINE
29
ONLINE
41
ONLINE
47
ONLINE
31
ONLINE
29
ONLINE
33
ONLINE
52

ONLINE%
82.3
ONLINE%
68.9
ONLINE%
78.5
ONLINE%
70.9
ONLINE%
77.6
ONLINE%
82.9
ONLINE%
71.9
ONLINE%
70.1
ONLINE%
66
ONLINE%
90.6
ONLINE%
94.3
ONLINE%
89.7

Page 139

DECIDED
42
DECIDED
40
DECIDED
59
DECIDED
55
DECIDED
48
DECIDED
56
DECIDED
42
DECIDED
30
DECIDED
30
DECIDED
52
DECIDED
27
DECIDED
27

ON HAND
151
ON HAND
150
ON HAND
148
ON HAND
136
ON HAND
131
ON HAND
109
ON HAND
111
ON HAND
144
ON HAND
151
ON HAND
121
ON HAND
115
ON HAND
142

This page is intentionally left blank

ENC6Item 8

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Development Control Related Matter for Noting
Minor amendment to proposed One Planet Development
at Coed Talylan, Llangadog 19/17602/FUL

Officer: Helen Lucocq
Principal Planning Officer

Page 141

Background
An application for the development of a One Planet Development (OPD) was presented to the
meeting of the Planning and Rights of Way Committee under reference 19/17602/FUL on the 10th
December 2019. Members determined to permit the proposal subject to S106 agreement.
To date the S106 agreement remains unresolved and planning permission has not been granted for
the above scheme. The site is served by an access track that is currently in the ownership of the
National Park. The landowners of the application site and the applicants of the planning application
are in negotiation with the Authority to purchase said track thus enabling the completion of the S106
agreement. Transfer of ownership has been delayed due to the restrictions on working practice
resulting from the coronavirus pandemic.
As part of the development of the S106 agreement applicants have determined that they can utilise a
smaller area of land for the running of their proposed One Planet Development, thus reducing the
area of land to be purchased in order to facilitate the proposed development. They have therefore
approached the Authority to reduce the area of land that is tied through the S106 agreement. The
following report provides an outline of the proposed changes and the implications for any future
planning permission.
Officer Report
The site in question, Coed Talylan, is not in the ownership of the applicant. In accordance with a
statement 2.1.4 of the management plan, it is the intention of the applicants to establish a management
company for the site which would purchase the land from the current owner once planning permission
has been granted. Therefore in developing the S106 agreement Officers have been in negotiation with
both the applicants and the land owner. During the course of these negotiations at has been
determined that the extent of the land area to be tied through the s106 is excessive. The applicants
have determined that the area of land necessary could be reduced without compromising the integrity
of the proposed OPD. This would have the dual benefit of reducing costs to the applicants in land
purchase and reduce the area of land in active management.
As such the applicants have submitted revised plans and supporting documentation to the Authority
thus:

Page 142

Amendment to area of OPD to be tied through S106
As presented to PAROW Dec 2019

Revisions May 2020

Amendment to land management plan
In addition to the amendments to the submitted plans, Applicants have also provided a revised
Management Plan for the OPD1. The extent of the changes are detailed as:






1

Figure 3: OPD outline change
3.1.4. The figure 180m2 bed area is removed but 90m2 to meet OPD requirements remains
(corrected to 89m2 which is the actual figure from SD-O).
SD B site map shows the new garden layout.
3.13. the following paragraph has been added: SD-O shows in detail the bed-area (m2) that
we need to meet our vegetable subsistence requirements. Some of the growing areas have
larger capacities than area given.
3.1.5 Cloche area (length) has been halved. ~50% of cloche area was however extra space
and the yield subsistence figures (SD-O) have therefore not been necessary to change.
3.1.8 No change. The calculations here were not using the full capacity of the garden. OPD
requirements are 151m2 here to meet operators subsistence, and the amended s106 area
still allows us a 630m2 garden plot which is sufficient to service the needs of the OPD.

Available to view in full here

Page 143






SD L and section 3.3.2 Woodwork business area has been changed from 1.8 acres to 0.46
acres and inclusion of ash wood from the firewood coppice rotation. There is excess
coppice from the firewood coppice rotations. Evidence from the other OPD’s are that the
level of insulation are reducing firewood use to 1t! from 5-6 t per household there is
sufficient to meet needs of OPD.
3.1.9 Forest garden area reduced. Not significant for OPD subsistence needs.
SD-C LMM A shows the new s106 extent, with the same management areas although some
areas are smaller as laid out above or in the LMP. The WMS A, B and C remains as they are
part of the overall woodland management and doesn’t affect OPD requirements.

Officers have reviewed the proposed revisions and are satisfied that the changes are minor in nature
and the proposed OPD remains compliant with the requirements of LDP policy CYD LP1, Planning
Policy Wales (4.2.38-39), Technical Advice Note 6 (4.15) subject to the following revised conditions2.
CONDITIONS
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five years
from the date of this permission
Reason To ensure compliance with Section 92(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the
following approved plans: SD B SITE PLAN LMME b AMENDED (18 May 2020)
 SD C LMM A AMENDED (18 May 2020);
 SD F DWELLING A3 (3 July 2019);
 SD G BARN A3 (3 July 2019);
 SD H WC AND GREENHOUSE A4 (3 July 2019);
 UPDATED A1 LOCATION PLAN (28 Aug 2019);
 AMENDED S016 EXTENT MAY 2020 (18 May 2020)
Reason: To ensure compliance with approved plans
3. Prior to the commencement of works to or construction of the buildings with green roofs,
details of the seed mix and roof construction to be used on the green roofs shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The green roofs shall
be completed in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and
Policies SP3, 1, 6 and 7 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP and to comply with
the Environment (Wales) Act 2016
4. Prior to the commencement of the clearance of vegetation outside existing cultivated areas
or of any demolition, conversion or construction works associated with the development, a
detailed Ecological Method Statement (EMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the
approved EMS.
Reason To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and
Policies SP3, 1, 6 and 7 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP and to comply with
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016
2 Please note the conditions are shown with tracked changes to highlight necessary amendments, additions are
shown in red, deletions with strikethrough

Page 144

5. Within three months of the implementation of the development hereby approved, an
Ecological Enhancement and Management Plan (EEMP) shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority (LPA). The EEMP shall include full details of all the
ecological projects outlined in the Ecology Projects Report (draft) reference Aderyn/181119
and shall include provision for:
a. A timetable for implementation;
b. Long term management prescriptions;
c. Monitoring and reporting; and
d. Appropriate mechanisms for remediation as necessary.
The EEMP shall be reviewed five years after the date of implementation and any revisions
agreed in writing with the LPA. The EEMP shall be implemented as approved and following
this, a report confirming adequate implementation shall be submitted to the LPA.
Reason To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and
Policies SP3, 1, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP and •
To
comply with the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016
6. Prior to commencement of clearance of vegetation, woodland management or any land
management works associated with restoration of heath habitat and the Site of Importance
for Nature Conservation (SINC), a Dormouse Method Statement (DMS) shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The works shall be implemented
strictly in accordance with the approved DMS.
Reason To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and
Policies SP3, 1, 5, 6 and 7 of the adopted Local Development Plan for the BBNP and To comply with
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended) and the Environment (Wales) Act 2016
7. No external lighting shall be installed in association with the development hereby approved
until an external lighting plan is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The lighting plan shall avoid conflict with bat mitigation/enhancement measures
and wildlife corridors and shall be implemented as approved.
Reason To comply with Section 6 of Planning Policy Wales (2018), Technical Advice Note 5 and
Policies SP3and 12 of the Local Development Plan for the BBNP
8. The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in accordance with the submitted
Management Plan entitled LAND MANAGEMENT PLAY MAY 2020 AMENDED
Reason: To ensure compliance with Planning Policy Wales (4.2.38-39), Technical Advice Note 6
(4.15)
9. Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed Monitoring Framework will be
submitted to the National Park Authority for approval. The Monitoring Framework will be
based upon the sample Monitoring Framework submitted in support of the planning
application (SD P MONITORING FORM) and will further identify a traffic light assessment
process which identifies the thresholds for measurement of weakness and success, using a
red and yellow card system, as is identified in section 5 of the Welsh Governments One
Planet Development: Technical Advice Note 6: Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities
(October 2012)
Reason: To ensure compliance with Planning Policy Wales (4.2.38-39), Technical Advice Note 6
(4.15) and Welsh Government Practice Guidance in relation to One Planet Development and to
ensure appropriate mechanisms are in place to assess the performance of the permitted OPD.

Page 145

10. An Annual Monitoring Report will be produced by the operators of the OPD and submitted
to the LPA by the 1st April following commencement of development and each 1st April
thereafter for the subsequent 5 years for approval. The Annual Monitoring Report will be
produced in accordance with the updated Monitoring Framework as required by condition 8
of this permission.
Reason To ensure compliance with Planning Policy Wales (4.2.38-39), Technical Advice Note 6
(4.15) and Welsh Government Practice Guidance in relation to One Planet Development and to
ensure appropriate mechanisms are in place to assess the performance of the permitted OPD
11. The submitted Management Plan (LAND MANAGEMENT PLAN MAY 2020 AMENDED)
shall be reviewed and updated every five years by the operators of the OPD. The updated
Management Plan should be submitted for approval to the LPA in conjunction with the year
5 Annual Monitoring Report, and further reviews submitted to the Local Planning Authority
on the 1st April every five years hence.
Reason To ensure compliance with Planning Policy Wales (4.2.38-39), Technical Advice Note 6
(4.15) and Welsh Government Practice Guidance in relation to One Planet Development
12. If it is determined by the Local Planning Authority that the development ceases to meet the
OPD criteria set out in Planning Policy Wales 4.2.38-39 and Technical Advice Note 6 (4.15)
or the smallholding ceases, the exit strategy set out in section 8.2.2 of the LAND
MANAGEMENT PLAN MAY 2020 AMENDED shall be commenced within 3 months from
the date the LPA notifies the operator of Coed Talylan One Planet Development
Reason To ensure compliance with Planning Policy Wales (4.2.38-39), Technical Advice Note 6
(4.15) and Welsh Government Practice Guidance in relation to One Planet Development and to
ensure appropriate mechanisms are in place to enforce the implementation of the Exist Strategy
should the One Planet Development scheme fail to meet essential criteria as defined through the
monitoring framework.
Recommendation
That Members note the report.

Page 146

ENC7Item 1
SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS
REPORTS:

Delegated Decision Enforcement Reports
Enforcement Action Report

AUTHORS:

Clare Brooks – Enforcement Officer

MEETING AND DATE OF
MEETING:

Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee
28 July 2020

I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the reports referred to
above and make the following recommendation to the Proper Officer:Exemptions applying to the report:



Information which is likely to reveal the identity of a particular person
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the
prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime.

Factors in favour of disclosure:


Facilitate the accountability and transparency of our decisions;



Facilitate accountability and transparency in the spending of public money;



Allow individuals to understand decisions made by the authority

Prejudice which would result if the information were disclosed:




Disclose the identity of individuals prior to a decision being taken whether or not to
take action – causing unnecessary concern to the individual and public opprobrium if
proceedings are not pursued.
Prejudice potential judicial proceedings

Page 147

My view on the public interest test is as follows:
I have considered the enforcement case contained within the aforementioned report to be
presented to PAROW on the 28 July 2020 and have measured the case against the public
interest test. For the reasons outlined above, I consider that the factors in favour of disclosure
are outweighed by those against.
Recommended decision on exemption from disclosure:
For the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the information contained within this
enforcement report is exempt from disclosure.

Date: 13th July 2020

Signed:
Post: Principal Planning Officer
I accept the recommendation made above.

______________________________
Proper Officer
Date: 13th July 2020

Page 148

By virtue of paragraph(s) 13, 14, 17, 18 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 149

ENC7Item 2

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 13, 17, 18 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 171

ENC7Item 3

This page is intentionally left blank

